
Democratic Services 
 
 

 

 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 26 February 2026 at 7.30 pm 
 

Place: Council Chamber - Epsom Town Hall, 
https://www.youtube.com/@epsomandewellBC/playlists 

 
Online access to this meeting is available on YouTube: Link to online broadcast 

 
The members listed below are summoned to attend the Planning Committee meeting, on the 
day and at the time and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda. 
 

Councillor Steven McCormick (Chair) 
Councillor Clive Woodbridge (Vice-
Chair) 
Councillor Kate Chinn 
Councillor Neil Dallen 
Councillor Alison Kelly 
 

Councillor Jan Mason 
Councillor Phil Neale 
Councillor Kieran Persand 
Councillor Humphrey Reynolds 
Councillor Chris Watson 
 

 
Yours sincerely 

 
Chief Executive 
 
For further information, please contact democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk or tel:  
01372 732000 
 

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

No emergency drill is planned to take place during the meeting. If the fire alarm sounds 
continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the building by the 
nearest available exit. You will be directed to the nearest exit by council staff. It is vital 
that you follow their instructions.   

 You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts; 

 Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

 Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but 
move to the assembly point at Dullshot Green and await further instructions; and 

 Do not re-enter the building until told that it is safe to do so. 

 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLU1GWtI_OsxUcyTb2u4WGNNV7n-MGYVaZ


 
 

 

Please note that this meeting will be held at the Town Hall, Epsom and will be available to observe 
live using free YouTube software. 

A link to the online address for this meeting is provided on the first page of this agenda. A limited number 
of seats will be available on a first-come first-served basis in the public gallery at the Town Hall. If you wish 
to observe the meeting from the public gallery, please arrive at the Town Hall reception before the start of 
the meeting. A member of staff will show you to the seating area. For further information please contact 
Democratic Services, email: democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk, telephone: 01372 732000. 

Information about the terms of reference and membership of this Committee are available on the Council’s 
website. The website also provides copies of agendas, reports and minutes. 

Agendas, reports and minutes for this Committee are also available on the free Modern.Gov app for iPad, 
Android and Windows devices. For further information on how to access information regarding this 
Committee, please email us at Democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk. 

A glossary of Planning terms and acronyms is available to view on the Council’s website. 

 

Public speaking 

Public speaking in support or against planning applications is permitted at meetings of the Planning 
Committee. Two speakers can register to speak in support (including the applicant/agent) and two can 
register to speak against any single application. Speakers will be registered in the order that submissions 
to register are received. An individual can waive their right to speak in favour of an individual who 
attempted to register at a later time, or alternatively, several members of the public may appoint one 
person to speak on their behalf, provided agreement to this arrangement can be reached amongst 
themselves. 

Speakers shall have a maximum of 3 minutes to address the Committee and remarks must be confined to 
the application upon which the speaker registered. 

For more information on public speaking protocol at Planning Committee meetings, please see Annex 4.8 
of the Epsom & Ewell Borough Council Operating Framework. 

If you wish to register to speak on an application at a meeting of the Planning Committee, please contact 
Democratic Services by email at democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk, or by telephone on 01372 
732000 in advance of the deadline for registration. Please state the application(s) on which you wish to 
speak, and whether you wish to speak in support or against the application. 

The deadline for registration to speak on an application at a meeting of the Planning Committee is 
Noon on the day of the meeting. 

 

Exclusion of the Press and the Public 

There are no matters scheduled to be discussed at this meeting that would appear to disclose confidential 
or exempt information under the provisions Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended). Should any such matters arise during the course of discussion of the below items or should the 
Chair agree to discuss any other such matters on the grounds of urgency, the Committee may wish to 
resolve to exclude the press and public by virtue of the private nature of the business to be transacted. 

 

Filming and recording of meetings 

The Council allows filming, recording and photography at its public meetings. By entering the Council 
Chamber and using the public gallery, you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those 
images and sound recordings. 

Members of the Press who wish to film, record or photograph a public meeting should contact the 
Council’s Communications team prior to the meeting by email at: communications@epsom-ewell.gov.uk 

Filming or recording must be overt and persons filming should not move around the room whilst filming nor 
should they obstruct proceedings or the public from viewing the meeting. The use of flash photography, 
additional lighting or any non-handheld devices, including tripods, will not be allowed. 

mailto:democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk
https://democracy.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:Democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk
https://democracy.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13540&path=0
https://www.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/council/about-council/governance/Annex%204-8%20-%20Model%20Code%20of%20Practice%20for%20Planning%20Matters.pdf
mailto:democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk
mailto:communications@epsom-ewell.gov.uk


 
 

 

Guidance on Predetermination /Predisposition 

The Council often has to make controversial decisions that affect people adversely and this 
can place individual members in a difficult position. They are expected to represent the 
interests of their constituents and political party and have strong views but it is also a well 
established legal principle that members who make these decisions must not be biased nor 
must they have pre-determined the outcome of the decision. This is especially in planning 
and licensing committees. This Note seeks to provide guidance on what is legally permissible 
and when members may participate in decisions. It should be read alongside the Code of 
Conduct. 

 

Predisposition 

Predisposition is lawful. Members may have strong views on a proposed decision, and may 
have expressed those views in public, and still participate in a decision. This will include 
political views and manifesto commitments. The key issue is that the member ensures that 
their predisposition does not prevent them from consideration of all the other factors that are 
relevant to a decision, such as committee reports, supporting documents and the views of 
objectors. In other words, the member retains an “open mind”. 

 

Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 confirms this position by providing that a decision will not 
be unlawful because of an allegation of bias or pre-determination “just because” a member 
has done anything that would indicate what view they may take in relation to a matter 
relevant to a decision. However, if a member has done something more than indicate a view 
on a decision, this may be unlawful bias or predetermination so it is important that advice is 
sought where this may be the case. 

 

Pre-determination / Bias 

Pre-determination and bias are unlawful and can make a decision unlawful. Predetermination 
means having a “closed mind”. In other words, a member has made his/her mind up on a 
decision before considering or hearing all the relevant evidence. Bias can also arise from a 
member’s relationships or interests, as well as their state of mind. The Code of Conduct’s 
requirement to declare interests and withdraw from meetings prevents most obvious forms of 
bias, e.g. not deciding your own planning application. However, members may also consider 
that a “non-pecuniary interest” under the Code also gives rise to a risk of what is called 
apparent bias. The legal test is: “whether the fair-minded and informed observer, having 
considered the facts, would conclude that there was a real possibility that the Committee was 
biased’. A fair minded observer takes an objective and balanced view of the situation but 
Members who think that they have a relationship or interest that may raise a possibility of 
bias, should seek advice. 

 

This is a complex area and this note should be read as general guidance only.  Members 
who need advice on individual decisions, should contact the Monitoring Officer. 



 
 

 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To receive declarations of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or other 

registrable or non-registrable interests from Members in respect of any item to 
be considered at the meeting. 
 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 5 - 16) 
 
 The Committee is asked to confirm as a true record the Minutes of the Meeting 

of the Committee held on the 29 January 2026 (attached) and to authorise the 
Chair to sign them. 
 

3. BOURNE HALL, SPRING STREET, EWELL, SURREY, KT17 1UF  (Pages 17 
- 26) 

 
 Installation of a poly-roof liquid membrane and roofing system to the high-level 

area of Bourne Hall to create a waterproofing layer and thermal upgrade. 
 

4. BOURNE HALL, SPRING STREET, EWELL, SURREY, KT17 1UF  (Pages 27 
- 36) 

 
 Installation of a poly-roof liquid membrane and roofing system to the high-level 

area of Bourne Hall to create a waterproofing layer and thermal upgrade. 
 

5. 25/00995/FUL THE LOOE, REIGATE ROAD, EWELL, SURREY  (Pages 37 - 
76) 

 
 Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment of the site to provide a part 

single, part 2 storey building providing 9 no. industrial and business units 
comprising 1no. Class E (Commercial, Business and Services), 4no. Class B2 
(General Industrial) and 4no. Class B2 (Storage and Distribution) uses with a 
total floorspace of 1,000.2sq.m, together with ancillary offices, associated car 
parking and landscaping. 
 

6. UPCOMING APPLICATIONS  (Pages 77 - 78) 
 
 Summary of Applications Likely to be Heard at Planning Committee. 

 
7. FARM VIEW, LANGLEY VALE ROAD, EPSOM, SURREY, KT18 6AP  (Pages 

79 - 202) 
 
 Outline application for up to 110 dwellings including affordable homes (all 

matters reserved except access from Langley Vale Road). 
 

 



 
 

1 

 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

 
Minutes of the Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE held at the Council 

Chamber, Epsom Town Hall on 29 January 2026 
 
 

   
  

PRESENT - 
 

 
Councillor Steven McCormick (Chair); Councillor Clive Woodbridge (Vice-Chair); 
Councillors Kate Chinn, Neil Dallen, Alison Kelly, Phil Neale, Humphrey Reynolds and 
Chris Watson 
 
In Attendance: Councillor Shanice Goldman and Councillor Christine Howells   
 
Absent: Councillor Jan Mason and Councillor Kieran Persand  
 
Officers present: Simon Taylor (Head of Development Management and Planning 
Enforcement), Virginia Palmer (Principal Planning Officer), James Tong (Solicitor), 
Nima Tavasoli Roudsari (Planning Officer) and Phoebe Batchelor (Democratic Services 
Officer) 

 
 

   
 
 

12 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

25/01364/FUL Horton Arts Centre, Haven Way, Epsom KT19 8NP 

Councillor Phil Neale, Other Interest: Councillor Neale declared that he had 
helped out with the Horton Arts Centre just before they opened as a member of 
the Repair Café. He stated that he remained unbiased and maintained an open 
mind.  
 

13 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

The Committee confirmed as a true record the Minutes of the Meeting of the 
Committee held on the 4 September 2025 and authorised the Chair to sign them.  
 

14 139 HOLMWOOD ROAD, CHEAM, SURREY, SM2 7JS  

Description: 

Change of use from Residential Dwelling (C3) to a Children's Home (C2). 

Officer Recommendation: 

Approval, subject to conditions and informatives. 

Officer Presentation: 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 

Meeting of the Planning Committee, 29 January 2026 2 

 

 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

The Committee received a presentation on the application from the Principal 
Planning Officer. 

Public Speaking: 

A Ward Councillor spoke on the application. 

The Ward Councillor who called in the application spoke. 

An Objector spoke on the application. 

The Applicant spoke on the application. 

Decision: 

Following consideration, Councillor Dallen proposed a motion that the Officer 
recommendation be agreed. 

The proposal was seconded by Councillor Kelly. 

The Committee resolved (7 FOR and the Chair not voting) to: 

GRANT Planning Permission subject to the following conditions and 
informatives: 

Conditions 

1) Timescale 

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by Section 51 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

2) Approved Plans 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

- Location Plan – received 06 Oct 2025  

- 139HR-DRA-03 Rev B – Block Plan – received 06 Oct 2025   

- 139HR-DRA-01 - Existing Layout Plans – received 06 Oct 2025   

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is 
carried out in accordance with the approved plans to comply with Policy CS5 of 
the Core Strategy 2007.   

3) Compliance with Noise Management Policy 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



 
 

Meeting of the Planning Committee, 29 January 2026 3 

 

 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

The proposed use shall accord with the Noise Management Policy, received 5 
January 2026 for the lifetime of the development, unless otherwise agreed by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To protect the occupants of nearby residential properties from noise 
disturbance in accordance with Policy DM10 of the Development Management 
Policies Document 2015. 

4) Compliance with Management Plan 

The proposal shall accord strictly with the Management Plan – Holm’s House 
Children’s Home, received 19 January 2026, for the lifetime of the development, 
unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: To protect the occupants of nearby residential properties from noise 
and anti-social disturbance in accordance with Policy DM10 of the Development 
Management Policies Document 2015. 

5) Bicycle parking and charging 

The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and until 
facilities for secure, at-grade and covered parking of bicycles and the provision of 
a charging point have been provided within the development site and thereafter 
the said approved facilities shall be retained and maintained for the life of the 
development. 

Reason: To encourage travel by means other than private motor vehicles to 
meet the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework 2024 and 
Policies DM35, DM36 and DM37 of the Development Management Policies 
Document 2015. 

Informatives 

1) Positive and Proactive Discussion 

In dealing with the application the Council has implemented the requirement in 
the National Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive 
and proactive way. We have made available detailed advice in the form or our 
statutory policies in the Core Strategy, Supplementary Planning Documents, 
Planning Briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as offering a full pre-
application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant has been given 
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered 
favourably. 

2) Control of Noise 

You are advised that the Council does have formal powers to control noise and 
nuisance under The Control of Pollution Act 1974, the Clean Air Acts and other 
relevant legislation. For further information and advice, please contact - 
Environmental Health Department Pollution Section. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 
 

Meeting of the Planning Committee, 29 January 2026 4 

 

 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

15 LIBRARY, BOURNE HALL, SPRING STREET, EWELL, SURREY, KT17 1UF  

Description: 

Installation of additional vertical balustrades to interior staircase. 

Officer Recommendation: 

Approval, subject to conditions and informatives. 

Officer Presentation: 

The Committee received a presentation on the application from the Principal 
Planning Officer. 

Decision: 

Following consideration, Councillor Chinn proposed a motion that the Officer 
recommendation be agreed. 

The proposal was seconded by Councillor Dallen. 

The Committee resolved (7 FOR and the Chair not voting) to: 

GRANT Listed Building Consent subject to the following Conditions and 
Informatives: 

Conditions 

1) Timescale 

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from 
the date of this decision. 

Reason: To comply with Section 18 (1) (a) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by Section 52 (4) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

2) Approved Plans 

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, the 
development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 
numbered: 

Location Plan – dated 01.12.2024 

Additional Staircase Balustrade Location Plan – dated 15.01.2026 

Block Plan – dated 18.11.2025 

Proposed Balustrade BIM Model – received 18.11.2025 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



 
 

Meeting of the Planning Committee, 29 January 2026 5 

 

 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

S-05-01 – New Staircase Railings – dated 03.11.2025  

S-05-02 – Proposed Look new Staircase Balustrades – dated 03.11.2025  

S-05-02 – Balustrade Fixing Detail – dated 03.11.2025  

Reason: For avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried 
out in accordance with the approved plans and to ensure a satisfactory external 
appearance in accordance with Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy 2007 and 
Policies DM8, DM9 and DM10 of the Development Management Policies 
Document 2015. 

3) Aluminium materials 

The aluminium used shall match the original aluminium balustrades exactly in 
terms of the aluminium metal, its finish, appearance, and dimensions. 

Reason: To safeguard the special architectural and historic interest of the Listed 
Building in accordance with Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies 
DM8, DM9 and DM10 of the Development Management Policies 2015. 

Informatives 

1) Positive and Proactive Discussion 

In dealing with the application the Council has implemented the requirement in 
the National Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive 
and proactive way. We have made available detailed advice in the form or our 
statutory policies in the Core Strategy, Supplementary Planning Documents, 
Planning Briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as offering a full pre-
application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant has been given 
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered 
favourably. 

2) Fixings 

To safeguard the special architectural and historic interest of the Listed Building, 
the minimum number of fixings necessary to secure the new balustrades shall be 
used and no more. 

3) Protection of Stair 

The existing original stair shall be protected during the works and care must be 
taken not to damage any parts of the stair. 
 

16 25/01364/FUL THE HORTONS ARTS CENTRE, HAVEN WAY, EPSOM  

Description: 

Single storey detached rear outbuilding to accommodate an office. 

Officer Recommendation: 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



 
 

Meeting of the Planning Committee, 29 January 2026 6 

 

 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

Approval, subject to conditions and informatives. 

Officer Presentation: 

The Committee received a presentation on the application from the Planning 
Officer. 

Decision: 

Following consideration, Councillor Chinn proposed a motion that the Officer 
recommendation be agreed. 

The proposal was seconded by Councillor Neale. 

The Committee resolved (7 FOR and the Chair not voting) to: 

GRANT Planning Permission subject to the following conditions and 
informatives: 

Conditions  

1) Time Limit 

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by Section 51 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

2) Approved Plans 

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, the 
development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 
numbered 2466-EX-1, 2466-SK-10a and 2466-SK-11a, received by the local 
planning authority on 18 November 2025. 

Reason: For avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried 
out in accordance with the approved plans to comply with Policy CS5 of the Core 
Strategy 2007. 

3) Materials 

Prior to the commencement of the works hereby permitted, details of materials 
and finishes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Details shall include samples of the colour and finish of the timber 
cladding (avoiding grey timber), doors and windows (timber-framed or timber-
coloured) and the green roof system (including its structural loading and a 
specific planting schedule). No trickle vents shall be used on the external 
elevations of the doors and windows. The works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



 
 

Meeting of the Planning Committee, 29 January 2026 7 

 

 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

Reason: To safeguard the special architectural and historic interest of the listed 
building in accordance with Sections 16 and 17 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 16 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2024, Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy 2007 and Policies DM8, DM9 
and DM10 of the Development Management Policies Document 2015. 

4) Soft landscaping 

No development shall take place until details of hard and soft landscaping have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
approved landscape scheme shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the 
development hereby approved and thereafter retained. 

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of an 
appropriate landscape scheme in the interests of the visual amenities of the 
locality in accordance with Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy 2007 and Policies 
DM5 and DM9 of the Development Management Policies Document 2015. 

5) Removal of Building 

The building hereby permitted shall not be used for any purposes other than 
those associated with the approved office use. If the building hereby permitted 
ceases being used for this purpose or is no longer required in connection with 
the Horton Arts Centre, then the approved building shall be removed from the 
land, and the land shall be restored to its condition before the development took 
place within 3 months of the date that the use or requirement ceased. 

Reason: To safeguard the long-term historic interest of the listed building in 
accordance with Sections 16 and 17 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 16 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2024, Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy 2007 and Policies DM8, DM9 
and DM10 of the Development Management Policies Document 2015. 

6) External Storage 

No materials or equipment shall be stored on the site outside the building hereby 
approved. 

Reason: To safeguard the special architectural and historic interest of the listed 
building in accordance with Sections 16 and 17 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 16 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2024, Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy 2007 and Policies DM8, DM9 
and DM10 of the Development Management Policies Document 2015. 

Informatives 

1) Positive and Proactive Discussion 

In dealing with the application the Council has implemented the requirement in 
the National Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive 
and proactive way. We have made available detailed advice in the form or our 

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



 
 

Meeting of the Planning Committee, 29 January 2026 8 

 

 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

statutory policies in the Core Strategy, Supplementary Planning Documents, 
Planning Briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as offering a full pre-
application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant has been given 
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered 
favourably. 

2) Building Control 

Your attention is drawn to the need to comply with the relevant provisions of the 
Building Regulations, the Building Acts and other related legislation. These cover 
such works as the demolition of existing buildings, the erection of a new building 
or structure, the extension or alteration to a building, change of use of buildings, 
installation of services, underpinning works, and fire safety/means of escape 
works. Notice of intention to demolish existing buildings must be given to the 
Council’s Building Control Service at https://ebcsltd.co.uk/ at least 6 weeks 
before work starts. A completed application form together with detailed plans 
must be submitted for approval before any building work is commenced. 

3) Working Hours 

When undertaking building work, please be considerate to your neighbours and 
do not undertake work before 8am or after 6pm Monday to Friday, before 8am or 
after 1pm on a Saturday or at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
Furthermore, please ensure that all vehicles associated with the construction of 
the development hereby approved are properly washed and cleaned to prevent 
the passage of mud and dirt onto the adjoining highway.  

You are advised that the Council does have formal powers to control noise and 
nuisance under The Control of Pollution Act 1974, the Clean Air Acts and other 
relevant legislation. For further information and advice, please contact - 
Environmental Health Department Pollution Section. 

4) Pre Commencement Conditions 

The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions 
which must be complied with prior to the development starting on site. 
Commencement of the development without complying with the pre-
commencement requirements may be outside the terms of this permission and 
liable to enforcement action.  The information required should be formally 
submitted to the Council for consideration with the relevant fee. Once the details 
have been approved in writing the development should be carried out only in 
accordance with those details.  If this is not clear please contact the case officer 
to discuss. 

5) Protected Species 

The applicant is reminded that it is an offence to disturb protected species under 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Should a protected species be found 
during the works, the applicant should stop work and contact Natural England for 
further advice on 0845 600 3078. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 2

https://ebcsltd.co.uk/


 
 

Meeting of the Planning Committee, 29 January 2026 9 

 

 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

This includes bats and Great Crested Newts, which are a protected species 
under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended).  Should any bats or evidence of bats be found prior to or during the 
development, all works must stop immediately, and an ecological consultant 
contacted for further advice before works can proceed.  All contractors working 
on site should be made aware of the advice and provided with the contact details 
of a relevant ecological consultant. 

6) Changes to the Approved Plans 

Should there be any change from the approved drawings during the build of the 
development, this may require a fresh planning application if the changes differ 
materially from the approved details. Non-material changes may be formalised 
by way of an application under s.96A Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
 

17 UPCOMING APPLICATIONS  

The Committee received and noted a report providing a summary of likely 
applications to be heard at Planning Committee. 

The following matters were considered: 

a) Planning Committee Meetings. The Chair raised that the gap from the 
February Committee Meeting to the May Committee Meeting is due to the 
commencement of the pre-election period, likely to begin on the 23rd of 
March. 

b) North Langley Vale Bottom Farm. The Chair informed the Committee 
that they would be excusing themselves from the North Langley Vale 
Bottom Farm application and this item would be chaired by the Vice Chair. 

c) February Planning Committee. A Member of the Committee asked for 
confirmation that the North Langley Vale Bottom Farm application was 
definitely coming to the February Committee meeting. The Chair 
confirmed that officers are confident it will come forward to the February 
Committee meeting.  

d) Swail House. A Member of the Committee asked if there was a reason 
the Swail House report has not come forward sooner.  The Chair informed 
the Committee that officers are doing due diligence to get the report in 
front of the Committee as soon as possible and they obtain extensions of 
time where necessary. 

e) Woodcote Stud application. A Member of the Committee asked if there 
was any declaration of interest needed from the Chair for the Woodcote 
Stud, Wilmerhatch Lane application. The Chair confirmed they would seek 
advice  from the Monitoring Officer if they felt they are predisposed and 
predetermined. The Chair informed the Committee that at this particular 
point they have a clear and open mind.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 2



 
 

Meeting of the Planning Committee, 29 January 2026 10 

 

 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

f) Site Visit. A Member of the Committee requested a site visit for 
Committee Members to visit Swail House.  The Chair raised that this 
would be arranged. 

 
18 PLANNING PERFORMANCE  

The Committee received and noted a report providing a summary of Planning 
Performance by quarter. 

The following matters were considered: 

a) Planning Performance 2021. A Member of the Committee noted that 
planning performance was low in 2021 and queried whether it was to do 
with staff resources. The Head of Development Management and 
Planning Enforcement confirmed it was during the pandemic and multiple 
lockdown periods. He also noted it was the same period the Council was 
threatened with designation by Central Government. The Chair confirmed 
it was a combination of factors, from COVID, to resourcing issues, and the 
threat of designation from Central Government. The Chair highlighted that 
officers have turned it around to get to the positive position the Council is 
in now. The Chair expressed their thanks to officers for all their hard work. 

 
19 ENFORCEMENT PERFORMANCE  

The Committee received and noted a report providing a summary of incoming 
and closed enforcement cases by month. 

The following matters were considered: 

a) Opened cases. A Member of the Committee asked if any of the opened 
enforcement cases are cases which have been around a long time and 
have still not been resolved. The Head of Development Management and 
Planning Enforcement informed the Committee that the opened cases are 
made up of new and historic cases. He confirmed that there has been a 
backlog of cases to be dealt with and there is additional resourcing going 
into solving that. The Chair confirmed that there has been one full time 
enforcement officer until recently when a new member of staff has joined 
who will work both on development and enforcement.  

b) Enforcement action. A Member of the Committee raised that there are 
Members of the Public who are concerned that if enforcement is left too 
late, it becomes much more difficult. The Head of Development 
Management and Planning Enforcement acknowledged that this might be 
the situation for a small number of cases, however, the table in the report 
shows that a majority of cases are either leading to a planning application 
being submitted or they are permitted development, meaning there is no 
breach at all.  

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 2



 
 

Meeting of the Planning Committee, 29 January 2026 11 

 

 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

20 APPEALS PERFORMANCE  

The Committee received and noted a report providing a summary of all planning 
appeal decisions and current appeals. 

The following matters were considered: 

a) 185 Kingston Road. A Member of the Committee raised the pending 
appeal of 185 Kingston Road, set out in the table on the last page of the 
report. He highlighted that this had been outstanding with the Planning 
Inspectorate since February 202. He asked if there was any action that 
could be taken to speed up the process, such as a complaint. The Head 
of Development Management and Planning Enforcement explained that 
185 Kingston Road is one of five enforcement cases that have been with 
PINS for over a year. He informed the Committee that PINS sent a letter 
stating that they were redirecting resources to certificate applications to 
determine them quicker, with the consequence being that there are longer 
periods for enforcement appeals. He explained that the Council could 
make representations but so far that had not achieved anything. He 
agreed to make a representation on behalf of the Councillor. Another 
Member of the Committee suggested the Councillor write to the Member 
of Parliament for their assistance.  

b) Appeal performance. The Vice-Chair noted and welcomed that in the 
appeals report, many of the appeals were dismissed. He commended 
officers for their work and sound decision making that has contributed to 
this. These comments were echoed by another Member of the 
Committee. 

 

 
 
The meeting began at 7.30 pm and ended at 8.42 pm 
 

 
COUNCILLOR STEVEN MCCORMICK (CHAIR) 

Page 15

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01400/LBA  

 
29 January 2026  

 
25/01400/LBA Bourne Hall, Spring Street, Ewell KT17 1UF 
 

Application Number 25/01400/LBA 

Application Type Listed Building Consent 

Address Bourne Hall, Spring Street, Ewell KT17 1UF 

Ward Ewell Village 

Proposal Installation of a poly-roof liquid membrane and 
roofing system to the high-level area of Bourne Hall 
to create a waterproofing layer and thermal upgrade 

Expiry Date 27 February 2026 

Recommendation Approval, subject to conditions and informatives 

Number of Submissions None 

Reason for Committee Council is the Applicant 

Case Officer Virginia Palmer, Principal Planning Officer 

Contact Officer Simon Taylor, Head of Development Management 
and Planning Enforcement 

Plans, Documents and 
Submissions 

Found here 

Glossary of Terms Found here 

 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 3

https://eplanning.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=T6DW3AGYIJV00
https://democracy.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13540&path=0


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01400/LBA  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 

SUMMARY 

 
1. Summary and Recommendation 
 

1.1. This Application is presented to Planning Committee as Epsom and Ewell 
Borough Council is the Applicant.  

 
1.2. The Site comprises Bourne Hall. This is a Grade II Listed Building 

constructed between 1967-1970 by A.G. Sheppard Fidler and Associates. 
The building sits adjacent to its car park, both within a landscaped setting. 
Internally, the building provides a range of community spaces and 
facilities, including a library, café, exhibition area and a museum at first 
floor. Additionally, there are rooms available for public and private hire, 
hosting events such as weddings, meetings and community activities.  

 
1.3. The proposal seeks to install a 130mm of polyroof insultation, along with a 

“Protec” liquid membrane system, to match the existing colour of the roof.  
 

1.4. There is no objection from the Conservation Officer, and the application is 
recommended for approval by Officers, subject to Conditions.  

 

PROPOSAL 

 
2. Description of Proposal 
 

2.1. The proposal seeks to install a 130mm of polyroof insultation, along with a 
“Protec” liquid membrane system, to match the existing colour of the roof.  
 

2.2. The proposed new roof would match the existing colour of the roof; 
however, it would sit approximately 150mm higher than the existing roof. 
There would be no visual change to the roof from ground level.  

 
2.3. The proposal would ensure that heat efficiency is greatly improved for the 

building.  
 

SITE 

 
3. Description 
 

3.1. The Site comprises Bourne Hall. This is a Grade II Listed Building 
constructed between 1967-1970 by A.G. Sheppard Fidler and Associates. 
The building sits adjacent to its car park, both within a landscaped setting. 
 

3.2. The Site is listed at Grade II for the following principal reasons: 

 Architectural interest: a striking design, notable for its space-age flair 
and the generous, top-lit principal interior space; 

Page 18

Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01400/LBA  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 Plan form: the circular layout is well-organised, legible and flexible; 
and  

 Historic interest: as an ambitious example of the expansion of the 
library service and the integration of community facilities and 
disabled access. 

 
3.3. The Site is accessed off Spring Street and is surrounded by a mix of uses, 

including residential houses, a nursery school and a health centre. Ewell 
High Street is within walking distance to the Site, comprising shops and 
cafes/restaurants.  

 
4. Constraints 
 

 Built Up Area 

 Grade II Listed Building 

 Locally Listed Building 

 Ewell Village Conservation Area  

 Archaeological Site  

 Bat Survey Area 

 Great Crested Newt Impact Risk Zone 

 SSSI Impact Risk Zone 

 Gatwick Consultation Area 

 Heathrow Consultation Area 

 Council Managed Trees 

 Flood Zone 1 

 Classified Road 
 
5. History 
 

5.1. The below table sets out the planning history relating to the wider Site, 
within the last five years.  

 

App No. Description Status 

25/01512/FUL Single storey timber outbuilding to 
accommodate the storage of items for the 
Library of Things 

Pending 
consideration  

25/01399/FUL Installation of a poly-roof liquid membrane 
and roofing system to the high-level area of 
Bourne Hall to create a waterproofing layer 
and thermal upgrade. The finished roof will 
replicate the appearance of the existing green 
oxidized copper and will be raised by 
approximately 150mm. 

Pending 
consideration 

25/01359/LBA Installation of additional vertical balustrades 
to interior staircase. 

Granted 29 
January 2026 

25/00257/COND Confirmation of Compliance with Condition(s): 
3 (Materials), 4 (Pivot Plates) of 
24/01091/LBA 

Granted 24 
April 2025 

Page 19

Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01400/LBA  

 
29 January 2026  

 

App No. Description Status 

24/01091/LBA Alterations to fenestration Granted 4 
October 2024 

24/01015/LBA Installation of Solar PV to flat roofs and Tesla 
Powerwall batteries for power storage 

Granted 4 
October 2024 

24/01013/FUL Installation of Solar PV to flat roofs and Tesla 
Powerwall batteries for power storage 

Granted 4 
October 2024 

24/00618/LBA Install a new layer of roof felt to the existing 
felt roof. (Retrospective) 

Granted 4 
October 2024 

24/00419/FUL Installation of Solar PV to the south facing 
section of the perimeter flat roof 

Granted 13 
June 2024 

24/00066/LBA Replacement of 13 internal fire doors to meet 
BS guidelines 

Granted 13 
June 2024 

24/00064/LBA Installation of Solar PV to the south facing 
section of the perimeter flat roof 

Grated 13 
June 2024 

19/00323/COND Discharge of Condition 3 (Details) of 
18/01247/LBA 

Granted 16 
May 2019 

18/01247/LBA Replacement of 6 internal doors Granted 15 
February 2019 

17/00445/LBA Replacement of existing light fittings with LED 
light fittings in Museum and Library areas of 
Grade II listed building 

Granted 14 
September 
2017 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

 

Consultee Comments 

Historic England No comments 

EEBC Conservation 
Officer  

No objection  

Public Consultation 

Neighbours The application was advertised by means of a site notice 
and press notice. The Site Notice was displayed on 
10.12.2025. No submissions were received.  

 

PLANNING LEGISLATION, POLICY, AND GUIDANCE 

 
6. Legislation and Regulations 
 

6.1. Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
6.2. Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 

7. Planning Policy 
 

7.1. National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) 

 Section 2: Achieving Sustainable Development 

 Section 12: Achieving Well-Designed and Beautiful Places 

Page 20

Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01400/LBA  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 Section 16: Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment 
 

7.2. Epsom and Ewell Core Strategy 2007 (CS) 

 Policy CS1: Sustainable Development 

 Policy CS5: The Built Environment 
 

7.3. Epsom and Ewell Development Management Policies Document 
2015 (DMPD) 

 Policy DM8: Heritage Assets 

 Policy DM9: Townscape Character and Local Distinctiveness 

 Policy DM10: Design Requirements for New Developments 
 
8. Supporting Guidance 
 

8.1. National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

 Historic Environment 
 

8.2. Other Documentation 

 Ewell Village Character Appraisal. 
 

PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 
9. Principle of Development 
 

9.1. The Site is located within the Built-Up Area of Ewell, and the principle of 
development is acceptable, subject to consideration of the principles, 
objectives, and policies in the CS, the DMPD and supporting guidance 
and documents. 

 
10. Design, Heritage and Conservation 

 
10.1. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 states that development must ensure the preservation of any nearby 
listed building, including its setting,  

 
10.2. Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 requires special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of that area. 

 
10.3. Paragraphs 203-208 of the NPPF 2023 requires consideration of the harm 

to the significance of a designated heritage asset. Paragraph 206 requires 
clear and convincing justification where there is harm to or the loss of a 
designated heritage asset. Paragraph 202 states that where there is less 
than substantial harm, the harm must be weighed against the public 
benefits. 

 
10.4. Paragraphs 129, 135 and 139 of the NPPF 2023 refer to the need for 

functional and visually attractive development that is sympathetic to local 
character and history.  

Page 21

Agenda Item 3

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01400/LBA  

 
29 January 2026  

 
 

10.5. Policy CS5 of the CS and Policy DM8 of the DMPD seek to protect and 
enhance heritage assets and their setting.  

 
10.6. DM9 of the DMPD requires a positive contribution to and compatibility with 

the local character and the historic and natural environment and Policy 
DM10 requires good design that respects, maintains or enhances the 
prevailing house types and sizes, density, scale, layout, height, form and 
massing, plot width and building separation, building lines and key 
features.  

 
10.7. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF 2024 states that in weighing applications that 

affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be 
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset. 

 
10.8. Bourne Hall Library and Social Centre is Grade II Listed and locally listed. 

It was first listed on 30 April 2025 and its list entry number is: 1425772. 
The reasons for its designation are below: 

 Architectural interest: a striking design, notable for its space-age flair 
and the generous, top-lit principal interior space; 

 Plan form: the circular layout is well-organised, legible and flexible; 
and 

 Historic interest: as an ambitious example of the expansion of the 
library service and the integration of community facilities and disabled 
access. 

 
10.9. The site is within Ewell Village Conservation Area.  
 
10.10. The proposal seeks to remove existing defective twin wall polycarbonate 

roofing sheets and glazing bars and replace with a like-for-like quad 
polycarbonate system. The proposal seeks to install a 130mm of polyroof 
insultation, along with a “Protec” liquid membrane system, to match the 
existing colour of the roof. The proposed new roof would sit approximately 
150mm higher than the existing roof. There would be no visual change to 
the roof from ground level.  

 
10.11. The proposal would ensure that heat efficiency is greatly improved for the 

building.  
 
10.12. Accompanying this application is a Design and Access Statement, which 

contains a Heritage Statement. It contains an Impact Assessment, which 
sets out that the works constitute a like-for-like addition. The visual impact 
would be minimal, as the proposed new roof would replicate the existing 
finish in full. The proposal would not detract from the building’s Listing, nor 
does it introduce any intrusive or incompatible features. As such, the 
proposal would have no negative impact on the building’s heritage value.   

 
10.13. The Design and Access Statement, which contains a Heritage Statement 

sets out the justification and benefits of the proposal. The primary purpose 

Page 22

Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01400/LBA  

 
29 January 2026  

 
of the proposal is to further improve the thermal efficiency of the building, 
along with a reduction in maintenance. Benefits of the proposal include 
enhanced thermal efficiency, reduction of maintenance to the high-level 
roof, the long-term preservation of the building and support for continued 
public use of Bourne Hall as a safe and accessible community facility. 
Overall, the proposal provides a clear thermally efficiency benefit, whilst 
fully respecting the building’s design integrity.  

 
10.14. The Conservation Officer requested clarifications, which were provided by 

the Applicant, along with additional detailed drawings and a further 
Heritage Statement. The Conservation Officer’s final comments 
suggested that real copper sheets would have been ideal as they would 
represent a traditional material and would be a better match for the 
original textured copper foil. The added height from the new insultation 
would not be discernible from the ground, and so there is no objection to 
this element. The benefits of the maintenance works proposed, in the 
Conservation Officer’s view, would outweigh the harm of the smooth resin 
finish, particularly knowing that the exact copper bonded felt is no longer 
manufactured.  

 
10.15. There is no objection from the Conservation Officer, subject to Conditions 

being attached to Listed Building Consent, if granted. 
 

10.16. As the proposal seeks to match the colour of the existing roof, that it 
would sit only marginally higher than the existing roof and that as a result 
there would be no visual change to the roof at ground floor level, the 
proposal would not adversely impact the Listed Building, or the character 
of the Conservation Area.  

 
10.17. The proposal complies with Policy CS5 of the CS and Policy DM8 of the 

DMPD. 
 

CONCLUSION 

 
11. Conclusion 

 
11.1. The primary purpose of replacing the roofing material is to improve the 

thermal efficiency of the building, along with a reduction in maintenance. 
There is no objection from the Conservation Officer and Officers 
recommend approval, subject to Conditions.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
To grant Listed Building Consent, subject to the following Conditions and 
Informatives: 
 
Conditions 
 
1) Timescale 

Page 23

Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01400/LBA  

 
29 January 2026  

 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the 
date of this decision. 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 18 (1) (a) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by Section 52 (4) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2) Approved Plans 
 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, the development 
hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans numbered: 
 
Location Plan – dated 21.11.2025 
Block Plan – dated 18.11.2025 
A-04-02 – Existing High Level Re-Roofing Detail – dated 05.02.2026 
A-04-03 – Proposed High Level Re-Roofing Detail – dated 05.02.2026 
Section Drawing – received 05.02.2026 
A-04-04 Proposed Replacement area’ – dated 05.02.2026 
 
Reason: For avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans and to ensure a satisfactory external 
appearance in accordance with Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy 2007 and Policies 
DM8, DM9 and DM10 of the Development Management Policies Document 2015. 
 
3) Samples 
 
Prior to the commencement of the relevant part of the works, the following samples 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
 
a) A 1m x 1m sample of the finish, colour and texture of the final coating 
b) A sample of the polycarbonate material and all coatings, film, or any other 

addition intended to be used in the finished work, both internally and externally 
 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with those details following their 
approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the special architectural and historic interest of the listed 
building in accordance with Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM8, 
DM9 and DM10 of the Development Management Policies 2015, Chapter 16 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2024, and Sections 16 and 17 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
4) Existing Roofing 

 
One section of original copper roof covering shall be retained beneath the new roof 
covering and insulation as part of the proposed works so that a record is preserved 
in situ of the original finish. Prior to the completion of the works, a sample of the felt 
and copper shall be given to Bourne Hall Museum to be retained as part of an 
archive of original building features used in Bourne Hall. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01400/LBA  

 
29 January 2026  

 
 
Reason: To safeguard the special architectural and historic interest of the listed 
building in accordance with Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM8, 
DM9 and DM10 of the Development Management Policies 2015, Chapter 16 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2024, and Sections 16 and 17 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
Informatives 

 
1) Positive and Proactive Discussion 
 
In dealing with the application the Council has implemented the requirement in the 
National Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive way. We have made available detailed advice in the form or our statutory 
policies in the Core Strategy, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs 
and other informal written guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice 
service, to ensure that the applicant has been given every opportunity to submit an 
application which is likely to be considered favourably. 
 
2) Preservation of Listed Building 
 
You are reminded that all works to a listed building must be carried out with the 
utmost care and to the highest standards of quality and workmanship. Any damage 
to the listed building shall be immediately made good using materials to match the 
originals. Unauthorised works that harm the listed building constitute a criminal 
offence and will be liable to fines of up to £20,000 per offence. 
 
Work within the roof is subject to the following:  
 

 All works shall be carried out to a very high standard to conserve the special 
interest of the Listed building 

 All historic fabric and features shall be protected from damage, theft or removal 
at all times, and all making good shall be carried out in matching materials 

 Care shall be taken to protect and retain the existing/original aluminium fascia 
in its unpainted and uncoated appearance at all times 

 Care shall be taken to protect, retain and reuse the existing/original leaf guards 
to cover the downpipes following the works 

Page 25

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01399/FUL  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 

25/01399/FUL Bourne Hall, Spring Street, Ewell KT17 1UF 
 

Application Number 25/01399/FUL 

Application Type Full Planning Permission (Major) 

Address Bourne Hall, Spring Street, Ewell KT17 1UF 

Ward Ewell Village 

Proposal Installation of a poly-roof liquid membrane and roofing 
system to the high-level area of Bourne Hall to create a 
waterproofing layer and thermal upgrade 

Expiry Date 27 February 2026 

Recommendation Approval, subject to conditions and informatives 

Number of 
Submissions 

None 

Reason for 
Committee 

Council is the Applicant/Major application (site area) 

Case Officer Virginia Palmer, Principal Planning Officer 

Contact Officer Simon Taylor, Head of Development Management and 
Planning Enforcement 

Plans, Documents 
and Submissions 

Found here 

Glossary of Terms Found here 

 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4

https://eplanning.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=T6DW37GYIJU00
https://democracy.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13540&path=0


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01399/FUL  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 

 

SUMMARY 

 
1. Summary and Recommendation 
 

1.1. This Application is presented to Planning Committee as Epsom and Ewell 
Borough Council is the Applicant. It is also a major application by virtue of 
the site area being more than 1 hectare in size.  

 
1.2. The Site comprises Bourne Hall. This is a Grade II Listed Building 

constructed between 1967-1970 by A.G. Sheppard Fidler and Associates. 
The building sits adjacent to its car park, both within a landscaped setting. 
Internally, the building provides a range of community spaces and 
facilities, including a library, café, exhibition area and a museum at first 
floor. Additionally, there are rooms available for public and private hire, 
hosting events such as weddings, meetings and community activities.  

 
1.3. The proposal seeks to install a 130mm of polyroof insultation, along with a 

“Protec” liquid membrane system, to match the existing colour of the roof.  
 

1.4. There is no objection from the Conservation Officer, and the application is 
recommended for approval by Officers, subject to Conditions.  

 

PROPOSAL 

 
2. Description of Proposal 
 

2.1. The proposal seeks to install a 130mm of polyroof insultation, along with a 
“Protec” liquid membrane system, to match the existing colour of the roof.  
 

2.2. The proposed new roof would match the exitsing colour of the roof; 
however, it would sit approximately 150mm higher than the existing roof. 
There would be no visual change to the roof from ground level.  

 
2.3. The proposal would ensure that heat efficiency is greatly improved for the 

building.  
 

SITE 

 
3. Description 
 

3.1. The Site comprises Bourne Hall. This is a Grade II Listed Building 
constructed between 1967-1970 by A.G. Sheppard Fidler and Associates. 
The building sits adjacent to its car park, both within a landscaped setting. 
 

3.2. The Site is listed at Grade II for the following principal reasons: 

 Architectural interest: a striking design, notable for its space-age flair 
and the generous, top-lit principal interior space; 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01399/FUL  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 

 Plan form: the circular layout is well-organised, legible and flexible; 
and  

 Historic interest: as an ambitious example of the expansion of the 
library service and the integration of community facilities and 
disabled access. 

 
3.3. The Site is accessed off Spring Street and is surrounded by a mix of uses, 

including residential houses, a nursery school and a health centre. Ewell 
High Street is within walking distance to the Site, comprising shops and 
cafes/restaurants.  

 
4. Constraints 
 

 Grade II Listed Building 

 Locally Listed Building 

 Ewell Village Conservation Area  

 Built Up Area 

 Bat Survey Area 

 Great Crested Newt Impact Risk Zone 

 Archaeology Site  

 SSSI Impact Risk Zone 

 Gatwick Consultation Area 

 Heathrow Consultation Area 

 Council Managed Trees.  

 Flood Zone 1 

 Classified Road 
 
5. History 
 

5.1. The below table sets out the planning history relating to the wider Site, 
within the last five years.  

 

App No. Description Status 

25/01512/FUL Single storey timber outbuilding to 
accommodate the storage of items for the 
Library of Things 

Pending 
consideration 

25/01400/LBA Installation of a poly-roof liquid membrane 
and roofing system to the high-level area of 
Bourne Hall to create a waterproofing layer 
and thermal upgrade. The finished roof will 
replicate the appearance of the existing green 
oxidized copper and will be raised by 
approximately 150mm. 

Pending 
consideration 

25/01359/LBA Installation of additional vertical balustrades 
to interior staircase. 

Granted 29 
January 2026 

25/00257/COND Confirmation of Compliance with Condition(s): 
3 (Materials), 4 (Pivot Plates) of 
24/01091/LBA 

Granted 24 
April 2025 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01399/FUL  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 

App No. Description Status 

24/01091/LBA Alterations to fenestration Granted 4 
October 2024 

24/01015/LBA Installation of Solar PV to flat roofs and Tesla 
Powerwall batteries for power storage 

Granted 4 
October 2024 

24/01013/FUL Installation of Solar PV to flat roofs and Tesla 
Powerwall batteries for power storage 

Granted 4 
October 2024 

24/00618/LBA Install a new layer of roof felt to the existing 
felt roof. (Retrospective) 

Granted 4 
October 2024 

24/00419/FUL Installation of Solar PV to the south facing 
section of the perimeter flat roof 

Granted 13 
June 2024 

24/00066/LBA Replacement of 13 internal fire doors to meet 
BS guidelines 

Granted 13 
June 2024 

24/00064/LBA Installation of Solar PV to the south facing 
section of the perimeter flat roof 

Grated 13 
June 2024 

19/00323/COND Discharge of Condition 3 (Details) of 
18/01247/LBA 

Granted 16 
May 2019 

18/01247/LBA Replacement of 6 internal doors Granted 15 
February 2019 

17/00445/LBA Replacement of existing light fittings with LED 
light fittings in Museum and Library areas of 
Grade II listed building 

Granted 14 
September 
2017 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

 

Consultee Comments 

EEBC Ecology No objection  

Public Consultation 

Neighbours The application was advertised by means of a site notice and 
press notice. The Site Notice was displayed on 10.12.2025. 
Letters were sent to 65 neighbours too. No submissions were 
received.  

 

PLANNING LEGISLATION, POLICY, AND GUIDANCE 

 
6. Legislation and Regulations 
 

6.1. Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
6.2. Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 

7. Planning Policy 
 

7.1. National Planning Policy Framework 2024 (NPPF) 

 Section 2: Achieving Sustainable Development 

 Section 12: Achieving Well-Designed and Beautiful Places 

 Section 16: Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment 

Page 30

Agenda Item 4



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01399/FUL  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 

 
7.2. Epsom and Ewell Core Strategy 2007 (CS) 

 Policy CS1: Sustainable Development 

 Policy CS5: The Built Environment 
 

7.3. Epsom and Ewell Development Management Policies Document 
2015 (DMPD) 

 Policy DM4: Biodiversity and New Development 

 Policy DM8: Heritage Assets 

 Policy DM9: Townscape Character and Local Distinctiveness 

 Policy DM10: Design Requirements for New Developments 
 
8. Supporting Guidance 
 

8.1. National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

 Historic Environment 
 

8.2. Other Documentation 

 Ewell Village Character Appraisal. 
 

PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 
9. Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 
9.1. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF 2023 stipulates that development proposals 

which accord with an up-to-date development plan should be approved 
and where a proposal conflicts with an up-to-date development plan, 
permission should not usually be granted.  

 
10. Principle of Development 
 

10.1. The Site is located within the Built-Up Area of Ewell, and the principle of 
development is acceptable, subject to consideration of the principles, 
objectives, and policies in the CS, the DMPD and supporting guidance 
and documents. 

 
11. Design, Heritage and Conservation 

 
11.1. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 states that development must ensure the preservation of any nearby 
listed building, including its setting,  

 
11.2. Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 requires special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of that area. 

 
11.3. Paragraphs 203-208 of the NPPF 2023 requires consideration of the harm 

to the significance of a designated heritage asset. Paragraph 206 requires 
clear and convincing justification where there is harm to or the loss of a 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01399/FUL  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 

designated heritage asset. Paragraph 202 states that where there is less 
than substantial harm, the harm must be weighed against the public 
benefits. 

 
11.4. Paragraphs 129, 135 and 139 of the NPPF 2023 refer to the need for 

functional and visually attractive development that is sympathetic to local 
character and history.  

 
11.5. Policy CS5 of the CS and Policy DM8 of the DMPD seek to protect and 

enhance heritage assets and their setting.  
 

11.6. DM9 of the DMPD requires a positive contribution to and compatibility with 
the local character and the historic and natural environment and Policy 
DM10 requires good design that respects, maintains or enhances the 
prevailing house types and sizes, density, scale, layout, height, form and 
massing, plot width and building separation, building lines and key 
features.  

 
11.7. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF 2024 states that in weighing applications that 

affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be 
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset. 

 
11.8. Bourne Hall Library and Social Centre is Grade II Listed and locally listed. 

It was first listed on 30 April 2025, and its list entry number is: 1425772. 
The reasons for its designation are below: 

 Architectural interest: a striking design, notable for its space-age flair 
and the generous, top-lit principal interior space; 

 Plan form: the circular layout is well-organised, legible and flexible; 
and 

 Historic interest: as an ambitious example of the expansion of the 
library service and the integration of community facilities and disabled 
access. 

 
11.9. The site is within Ewell Village Conservation Area.  
 
11.10. The proposal seeks to remove existing defective twin wall polycarbonate 

roofing sheets and glazing bars and replace with a like-for-like quad 
polycarbonate system. The proposal seeks to install a 130mm of polyroof 
insultation, along with a “Protec” liquid membrane system, to match the 
existing colour of the roof. The proposed new roof would sit approximately 
150mm higher than the existing roof. There would be no visual change to 
the roof from ground level.  

 
11.11. The proposal would ensure that heat efficiency is greatly improved for the 

building.  
 
11.12. Accompanying this application is a Design and Access Statement, which 

contains a Heritage Statement. It contains an Impact Assessment, which 
sets out that the works constitute a like-for-like addition. The visual impact 

Page 32

Agenda Item 4



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01399/FUL  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 

would be minimal, as the proposed new roof would replicate the existing 
finish in full. The proposal would not detract from the building’s Listing, nor 
does it introduce any intrusive or incompatible features. As such, the 
proposal would have no negative impact on the building’s heritage value.   

 
11.13. The Design and Access Statement, which contains a Heritage Statement 

sets out the justification and benefits of the proposal. The primary purpose 
of the proposal is to further improve the thermal efficiency of the building, 
along with a reduction in maintenance. Benefits of the proposal include 
enhanced thermal efficiency, reduction of maintenance to the high-level 
roof, the long-term preservation of the building and support for continued 
public use of Bourne Hall as a safe and accessible community facility. 
Overall, the proposal provides a clear thermally efficiency benefit, whilst 
fully respecting the building’s design integrity.  

 
11.14. The Conservation Officer requested clarifications, which were provided by 

the Applicant, along with additional detailed drawings and a further 
Heritage Statement. The Conservation Officer’s final comments 
suggested that real copper sheets would have been ideal as they would 
represent a traditional material and would be a better match for the 
original textured copper foil. The added height from the new insultation 
would not be discernible from the ground, and so there is no objection to 
this element. The benefits of the maintenance works proposed, in the 
Conservation Officer’s view, would outweigh the harm of the smooth resin 
finish, particularly knowing that the exact copper bonded felt is no longer 
manufactured.  

 
11.15. There is no objection from the Conservation Officer, subject to Conditions 

being attached to Listed Building Consent, if granted. 
 

11.16. As the proposal seeks to match the colour of the existing roof, that it 
would sit only marginally higher than the existing roof and that as a result 
there would be no visual change to the roof at ground floor level, the 
proposal would not adversely impact the Listed Building, or the character 
of the Conservation Area.  

 
11.17. The proposal complies with Policy CS5 of the CS and Policy DM8 of the 

DMPD. 
 
12. Community Facilities  
 

12.1. Policy DM34 of the DMPD allows new or extended social infrastructure to 
address identified need, where it is practical and flexible, accessibly 
located, of high-quality design with inclusive access, absent of neighbour 
amenity impacts and satisfies highways requirements.  

 
12.2. Benefits of the proposal include enhanced thermal efficiency, to ensure a 

warmer building, the long-term preservation of the building because of the 
roof works, and support for continued public use of Bourne Hall, as a safe 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01399/FUL  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 

and accessible community facility. This complies with Policies CS13 of the 
CS and Policy DM34 of the DMPD. 

 
13. Neighbour Amenity 
 

13.1. Policy CS5 of the CS and Policy DM10 of the DMPD seeks to protect 
occupant and neighbour amenity, including in terms of privacy, outlook, 
sunlight/daylight, and noise whilst Paragraph 198 of the NPPF 2024 and 
Policy CS6 of the CS seek to mitigate and reduce noise impacts.  

 
13.2. The proposed works relate to the roof of the building and would cause no 

harm to neighbouring amenity. This complies with Policies CS5 of the CS 
and Policy DM10 of the DMPD. 

 
14. Ecology and Biodiversity 
 

14.1. Paragraphs 187 and 193 of the NPPF 2024, Policy CS3 of the CS and 
Policy DM4 of the DMPD require the conservation and enhancement of 
on-site biodiversity, with minimisation of impacts and the provision of 
mitigation measures. The duty of care extends to Regulation 9(3) of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 to protect 
species identified under Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 and Schedule 2 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017. 

 
14.2. The Council’s Ecologist formally commented on this application, setting 

out that there would be no impact on biodiversity and no further survey is 
required. 

 
14.3. The proposal would be exempt from Biodiversity Net Gain as it would not 

impact a priority habitat and impacts less than 25 square metres (5m by 
5m) of on-site habitat. 

 
15. Accessibility and Equality 
 

15.1. The Council is required to have regard to its obligations under the Equality 
Act 2010, including protected characteristics of age, disability, gender, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion, or belief. There would be no adverse impacts 
because of the development.  

 

CONCLUSION 

 
16. Planning Balance 
 

16.1. Section 2 of the NPPF has an underlying presumption in favour of 
sustainable development which is carried through to the Development 
Plan. Policy CS1 of the CS expects development to contribute positively 
to the social, economic, and environmental improvements in achieving 

Page 34

Agenda Item 4



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01399/FUL  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 

sustainable development whilst protecting and enhancing the natural and 
built environment. 

 
16.2. Economic Considerations 

 
16.3. The proposal ensures the long-term preservation of the roof of the 

building, ensuring that the building is thermally efficient.     
 
16.4. Social Considerations 
 
16.5. The proposal would ensure a more thermally efficient roof, which would 

help to keep the building warm, which is a social benefit, given that the 
building is used by the general public.  

 
16.6. Environmental Considerations 
 
16.7. The proposal ensures the long-term preservation of the roof of the 

building, ensuring enhanced thermal efficiency.   
 
16.8. Conclusion 

 
16.9. In the absence of identified harm, Officers recommend approval of the 

planning application, subject to Conditions.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
To grant Planning Permission subject to the following Conditions and 
Informatives: 

 
Conditions 
 
1) Timescale 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the 
date of this decision. 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 
 
2) Approved Plans 
 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, the development 
hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans numbered: 
 
Location Plan – dated 21.11.2025 
Block Plan – dated 18.11.2025 
A-04-02 – Existing High Level Re-Roofing Detail – dated 05.02.2026 
A-04-03 – Proposed High Level Re-Roofing Detail – dated 05.02.2026 
Section Drawing – received 05.02.2026 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/01399/FUL  

 
29 January 2026  

 

 

A-04-04 Proposed Replacement area’ – dated 05.02.2026 
 
Reason: For avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans and to ensure a satisfactory external 
appearance in accordance with Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy 2007 and Policies 
DM8, DM9 and DM10 of the Development Management Policies Document 2015. 
 
Informatives 

 
1) Positive and Proactive Discussion 
 
In dealing with the application the Council has implemented the requirement in the 
National Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive way. We have made available detailed advice in the form or our statutory 
policies in the Core Strategy, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs 
and other informal written guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice 
service, to ensure that the applicant has been given every opportunity to submit an 
application which is likely to be considered favourably. 
 
2) Building Control 
 
Your attention is drawn to the need to comply with the relevant provisions of the 
Building Regulations, the Building Acts and other related legislation. These cover 
such works as the demolition of existing buildings, the erection of a new building or 
structure, the extension or alteration to a building, change of use of buildings, 
installation of services, underpinning works, and fire safety/means of escape works. 
Notice of intention to demolish existing buildings must be given to the Council’s 
Building Control Service at https://ebcsltd.co.uk/ at least 6 weeks before work starts. 
A completed application form together with detailed plans must be submitted for 
approval before any building work is commenced. 
 
3) Working Hours 
 
When undertaking building work, please be considerate to your neighbours and do 
not undertake work before 8am or after 6pm Monday to Friday, before 8am or after 
1pm on a Saturday or at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays. Furthermore, 
please ensure that all vehicles associated with the construction of the development 
hereby approved are properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of mud 
and dirt onto the adjoining highway.  
 
You are advised that the Council does have formal powers to control noise and 
nuisance under The Control of Pollution Act 1974, the Clean Air Acts and other 
relevant legislation. For further information and advice, please contact - 
Environmental Health Department Pollution Section. 
 
4) Listed Building Consent 
 
This permission does not grant listed building consent for the works, for which 
separate consent is required under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas Act) 1990.  

Page 36

Agenda Item 4

https://ebcsltd.co.uk/


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 

25/00995/FUL The Looe, Reigate Road, Ewell, Surrey 
 

Application Number 25/00995/FUL 

Application Type Full Planning Permission (Major) 

Address The Looe, Reigate Road, Ewell KT17 3BZ 

Ward Nonsuch 

Proposal Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment of 
the site to provide a part single, part 2 storey building 
providing 9 no. industrial and business units comprising 
1no. Class E (Commercial, Business and Services), 
4no. Class B2 (General Industrial) and 4no. Class B2 
(Storage and Distribution) uses with a total floorspace of 
1,000.2sq.m, together with ancillary offices, associated 
car parking and landscaping 

Expiry Date 02 March 2026 

Recommendation  Approval, subject to conditions and legal agreement 

Number of 
Submissions 

3  

Reason for Committee Major development 

Case Officer Gemma Paterson, Development Management Team 
Leader  

Contact Officer Simon Taylor, Head of Development Management and 
Planning Enforcement 

Plans, Documents and 
Submissions 

Available at The Looe  

Glossary of Terms Found at the following link: Glossary of Terms 

 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5

https://eplanning.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=T1JFNEGYHTG00
https://democracy.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13540&path=0


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 

SUMMARY 

 
1. Summary and Recommendation 
 

1.1. The application is classified as a Major planning application and is 
referred to Planning Committee in accordance with Epsom and Ewell 
Borough Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 

 
1.2. The application seeks planning permission for the demolition of the 

existing two single storey buildings that contain 17 commercial units and 
the erection of a part single storey, part two storey building to 
accommodate 9 commercial units with associated car and cycle parking, 
landscaping and ancillary development. 

 
1.3. The proposed development would result in an overall increase in 

commercial floorspace, from 732m² to 1214m² (+418m²), whilst resulting 
in a loss of 109m² Class E(c)(iii) (Office) floorspace and a 302m² increase 
in Class B2 (General Industrial) floor space and a 457m² increase in Class 
B2 (Storage and Distribution). 

 
1.4. The site lies within an undesignated employment area and presently 

contains 17 single storey commercial units comprising a mix of Class 
E(c)(iii) (Office), Class B2 (General Industrial) and Class B2 (Storage and 
Distribution) uses. It is accessed via an 80m long access road which 
connects the site to the A240 Reigate Road, which in turn connects to the 
A24 to the north and the A217 to the south. 

 
1.5. The site is located within the Green Belt which is identified as a protected 

area/asset of particular importance. The proposed development complies 
with the relevant requirements of paragraph 155 of the NPPF by virtue of 
it being defined as Grey Belt and therefore is not inappropriate 
development.  

 
1.6. Although the proposal would result in the loss of Class E(c)(iii) (Office) 

floorspace from the site, there is sufficient opportunity within the existing 
office clusters to accommodate the loss and the existing/future Class 
E(c)(iii) (Office) floorspace demands over the plan period. 

 
1.7. The increase in Class B2 (General Industrial) and Class B2 (Storage and 

Distribution) floorspace created by the proposed development would meet 
a demonstrable unmet need for industrial floorspace in the Borough.  

 
1.8. The proposed development would deliver pedestrian improvements to 

Reigate Road to optimise the sustainability of the location, including new 
footpath provision and a pedestrian refuge to connect to the existing 
pedestrian network to the south of Reigate Road.  

 
1.9. The proposed development would increase the biodiversity value of the 

site, retaining existing ecological features and creating new biodiversity 

Page 38

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
rich habitats, resulting in a biodiversity net gain of 12% for habitat units, 
which represents an excess gain above the mandatory requirement of 
10%.  
 

1.10. Whilst the proposal would generate slightly more pedestrian and vehicle 
movements onto the surrounding highway network than the existing 
commercial use of the site, the County Highway Authority are satisfied 
that there would not be a severe impact on the local highway network. 

 
1.11. Subject to appropriate conditions in the event planning permission is 

granted, the proposed development would accord with national and local 
policies in relation to design, neighbouring amenity, ecology, flood risk, 
land contamination and environmental sustainability. 

 
1.12. Whilst the Council does not have up-to-date Local Plan, Officers are 

satisfied that the policies within that are relevant to this application remain 
consistent with the NPPF and can be given weight accordingly.  
 

1.13. Officers conclude that in applying the planning balance, there would be no 
harm associated with the development that would outweigh the limited 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole. 

 

PROPOSAL 

 
2. Description of Proposal 
 

2.1. The proposal involves the following works: 
 

 The demolition of two single storey buildings containing 17 
commercial units 

 The erection of a part single/part two storey building containing nine 
commercial units with solar panels on the roof 

 Car parking for 16 vehicles, with access and turning space 

 Cycle parking for 18 bikes 

 Ancillary works including hard and soft landscaping and boundary 
treatments 

 Siting of a single storey security and plant hut 
 
3. Key Information 
 

 Existing Proposed 

Site Area 0.251ha 

Total Floorspace 
- Class E Class 

E(c)(iii) (Office) 
- Class B2 (General 

Industrial)  

732m² 
386m² 

 
43m² 

 

1214m² (+418m²) 
109m² (-277m²) 

 
345m² (+302m²) 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 

 Existing Proposed 

- Class B2 (Storage 
and Distribution)   

303m² 760m² (+457m²) 

Number of Storeys 1 storey 1 -2 storeys 

Car Parking Spaces No dedicated spaces  16 spaces 

Cycle Parking Spaces None  18 spaces 

 

SITE 

 
4. Description 
 

4.1. The site lies within a mixed-use area and contains 17 single storey 
commercial units comprising a mix of Class E(c)(iii) (Office), Class B2 
(General Industrial) and Class B2 (Storage and Distribution) uses. It is 
accessed via an 80m long access road which connects the site to the 
A240 Reigate Road, which in turn connects to the A24 to the north and 
the A217 to the south.  
 

4.2. Reigate Road is predominantly residential in character and appearance, 
comprising detached houses; the rear gardens of Priestmere Cottage and 
1-2 North Looe Cottages, Reigate Road, form the south west boundary of 
the site. To the north west lies Priest Hill Close, a residential street also 
comprising detached houses. 

 
4.3. To the north-north east lies a detached bungalow called ‘The Bungalow’. 

This property appears to be in residential use however the site is 
advertised for car sales.  

 
4.4. To the north east lies the Paddock, consisting of industrial and 

commercial units occupied by a variety of operators. To the south east lies 
April Cottage, a single storey bungalow in residential use, and beyond is 
Beechcroft Nursery Garden Centre. 
 

5. Constraints 
 

 Green Belt 

 Site of Special Scientific Interest Risk Area 

 Great Crested Newt Impact Zone (low habitat suitability) 

 Bat Survey Area 

 Surrey Waste and Mineral Site 

 Potentially contaminated Land 

 Flood Zone 1 

 Critical Drainage Area (part of site) 

 Classified A Road 
 
 

Page 40

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
6. History 
 

App No. Description Status 

95/00339/FUL Relaxation of EPS 12892/2632 to allow unrestricted 
use within Use Class B2 (Storage and Distribution) 

Granted 
23.11.95 

95/00338/FUL Relaxation of EPS 12892/2632 to allow unrestricted 
use within Use Class B2 (Storage and Distribution)  

Granted 
23.11.95 

93/00593/CLE Use of units 1 & 2 as offices & units 3 & 4 for 
storage ancillary to the main use of the site 

Granted 
10.01.94 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

 

Consultee Comments 

External Consultees 

Surrey Minerals and Waste No objection subject to condition 

County Highway Authority No objection subject to condition 

Lead Local Flood Authority No objection subject to condition  

Surrey Archaeology   Does not meet the criteria for archology assessment. 
No archaeological concerns. 

Internal Consultees 

Council’s Land 
Contamination Officer 

No objection subject to condition  

Council’s Tree Officer  No objection subject to condition 

Council’s Ecologist  No objection subject to condition 

Council’s Waste and 
Transport Manager 

No objection  

 

Public Consultation 

Neighbours The application was advertised by means of a site notice, press 
notice and notification to 55 neighbouring properties, concluding on 
25 September 2025. Three submissions were received, which raised 
the following issues: 
 

 Access to the site already struggles to cope with the sizes of 
lorries, some with trailers that use the paddock. 

 Vehicles accessing the site can block the oncoming traffic in 
Reigate Road whilst waiting for other lorries to exit access to the 
site.  The entrance to this right of way is not deep enough for a 
lorry to wait without overhanging into Reigate Road, making 
dangerous manoeuvres to get past.  

 

 Existing foul sewer would be overwhelmed with additional 
bathrooms  

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 

 

 Concerns regarding the position of the proposed security/plant 
building impeding maintenance and repair of boundary wall 
shared with Priestmere Cottage 

 Concerns regarding the demolition of the building on boundary 
with asbestos  

 Concerns regarding maintaining boundary treatments. 
 
Officer Comment: Traffic and access concerns are discussed in 
Sections 12 and 13 of this Agenda Report.  
 
With respect to foul sewage capacity, the proposal would introduce 
three new bathroom facilities above the level currently existing on 
site. The details submitted in support of this application advise that 
these new facilities would be connected to the existing mains sewer.  
Officers are satisfied that three additional bathroom facilities 
connected to the existing main sewer would not cause significant 
harm to the capacity of the existing main sewer system in the area.  
 
Matters relating to the retention of boundary treatments in third party 
ownership are a civil matter and not a material planning 
consideration. Removal of asbestos is covered under separate 
legislation.  
 
One submission of support was received: 
 

 The existing buildings in The Looe are somewhat dilapidated.  
This proposal would enhance the area and would look more 
presentable. 

 

PLANNING LEGISLATION, POLICY, AND GUIDANCE 

 
7. Planning Policy 
 

7.1. National Planning Policy Framework 2024 (NPPF) 
 

 Section 2: Achieving Sustainable Development 

 Section 4: Decision-Making 

 Section 6: Building a Strong, Competitive Economy 

 Section 9: Promoting Sustainable Transport 

 Section 12: Achieving Well-Designed and Beautiful Places 

 Section 13: Protecting Green Belt Land 

 Section 14: Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and 
Coastal Change 

 Section 15: Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment 
 

7.2. National Planning Policy for Waste 2014 
 

 Section 5: Determining Planning Applications  

Page 42

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
 

7.3. Epsom and Ewell Core Strategy 2007 (CS) 
 

 Policy CS1: Sustainable Development 

 Policy CS2: Green Belt 

 Policy CS3: Biodiversity and Designated Nature Conservation Areas 

 Policy CS5: The Built Environment 

 Policy CS6: Sustainability in New Development 

 Policy CS11: Employment Provision 

 Policy CS16: Managing Transport and Travel 
 

7.4. Epsom and Ewell Development Management Policies Document 
2015 (DMPD) 
 

 Policy DM1: Extent of the Green Belt 

 Policy DM4: Biodiversity and New Development 

 Policy DM5: Trees and Landscape 

 Policy DM9: Townscape Character and Local Distinctiveness 

 Policy DM10: Design Requirements for New Developments 

 Policy DM19: Development and Flood Risk 

 Policy DM24: Employment Uses Outside of Existing Employment 
Policy Areas 

 Policy DM25: Development of Employment Premises 

 Policy DM35: Transport and New Development 

 Policy DM36: Sustainable Transport for New Development 

 Policy DM37: Parking Standards 
 

7.5. Surrey Waste Local Plan 2020  
 

 Policy 4: Sustainable Construction and Waste Management in New 
Development 

 
7.6. Emerging Local Plan 

 
7.7. It is acknowledged that there are a range of draft policies within the 

emerging Local Plan. Whilst they may be relevant to this application, they 
presently have limited weight given that the Plan is currently at 
examination stage and not yet adopted.  

 
7.8. Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance 

 

 Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Document 2016 
 

7.9. Other Documentation 
 

 Council’s Green Belt Update 2024 

 Epsom & Ewell Borough Council Housing and Economic 
Development Needs Assessment 2023 (HEDNA) 

 Surrey Transport Plan 2022–2032 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5

http://www.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/residents/planning/planning-policy/Revised%20Sustainable%20Design%20Guide%20Final%20Version%20February%202016.pdf


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 

 Surrey County Council Vehicular, Electric Vehicle and Cycle Parking  
Guidance for New Developments 2023 

 

PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 
8. Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 
8.1. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF stipulates that development proposals which 

accord with an up-to-date development plan should be approved and 
where a proposal conflicts with an up-to-date development plan, 
permission should not usually be granted.   
 

8.2. Although the Council does not have an up-to-date development plan due 
to expiration, whether the policies contained within are out of date is a 
matter of planning judgment. Officers are satisfied that the Council’s 
policies which are most important for determining this application, which 
are set out in Core Strategy 2007 and the Development Management 
Policy Document 2015 are consistent with those set out in the NPPF.  

 
9. Principle of Development 

 
9.1. Green Belt  
 
9.2. The site lies within Green Belt. The Government attaches great 

importance to Green Belts, with the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy 
being to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the 
essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence. 

 
9.3. Paragraph 143 of the NPPF states that Green Belt serves five purposes:  

 
a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;  
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;  
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;  
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and  
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of 

derelict and other urban land. 
 

9.4. Paragraph 153 of the NPPF, reinforced in Policy CS2 of the CS, states 
that substantial weight must be given to any harm to the Green Belt, 
including harm to its openness and that that inappropriate development is, 
by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved 
except in very special circumstances.  

 
9.5. Footnote 55 to the NPPF sets out that if development is not inappropriate 

development on previously developed land or grey belt, then this is 
excluded from the policy requirement to give substantial weight to any 
harm to the Green Belt, including to its openness. 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 5

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/13-protecting-green-belt-land#footnote55


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
 

9.6. Paragraph 153 of the NPPF further states that Inappropriate development 
is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved 
except in very special circumstances. It adds that very special 
circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the 
proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

 
9.7. Paragraph 154 of the NPPF sets out a limited number of exceptions to 

inappropriate development in the Green Belt.   
 

9.8. Paragraph 155 of the NPPF sets out that the development of homes, 
commercial and other development in the Green Belt should also not be 
regarded as inappropriate where all the following apply: 

 
a. The development would utilise grey belt land and would not 

fundamentally 
undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt 
across the area of the plan; 

b. There is a demonstrable unmet need for the type of development 
proposed; 

c. The development would be in a sustainable location, with particular 
reference to paragraphs 110 and 115 of this Framework; and  

d. Where applicable the development proposed meets the ‘Golden 
Rules’ 
requirements set out in paragraphs 156-157. 

 
9.9. Policy CS2 of the CS protects the Green Belt’s key functions, seeks to 

maintain its existing general extent and, within its boundaries, ensure that 
strict control will continue to be exercised over inappropriate development 
as defined by Government policy. 

 
9.10. Grey Belt  

 
9.11. Annex 2 of the NPPF defines ‘grey belt’ as land in the Green Belt 

comprising previously developed land and/or any other land that, in either 
case, does not strongly contribute to any of purposes (a), (b), or (d) in 
paragraph 143 of the NPPF, and excludes land where the application of 
the policies relating to the areas or assets in footnote 7 (other than Green 
Belt) would provide a strong reason for refusing or restricting 
development. 
 

9.12. Purpose (a) relates to the sprawl of large built-up areas, purpose (b) 
prevents the coalescence of towns and purpose (d) preserves the setting 
and special character of historic towns.   

 
       Purpose (a) - to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas 

 
9.13. In considering the contribution of the site makes to purpose (a) of the 

Green Belt, regard is given to the advice in the Planning Practice 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
Guidance (PPG)1. The site lies adjacent to the built-up area, is partially 
enclosed by, and contains existing development and is subject to other 
urbanising influences, such as the well trafficked Reigate Road.  The PPG 
considers these characteristics to weaken the site’s contribution to the 
Green Belt. 
 

9.14. Furthermore, the site is identified in the Council’s Green Belt Update 2024 
(Parcel ID P52) as not performing against purpose (a). As such, the site 
does not strongly contribute to Green Belt purpose (a) of paragraph 143 of 
the NPPF. 

 
       Purpose (b) to prevent the coalescence of towns 
 

9.15. The site does not form part of a gap between towns and cannot strongly 
contribute to Green Belt purpose (b).  

 
       Purpose (d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns  
 

9.16. The site does not form part of the setting of a historic town and cannot 
strongly contribute to Green Belt purpose (d).  

 
9.17. Grey Belt Conclusion  

 
9.18. Officers are satisfied that the site would meet the definition of grey belt as 

outlined in Annex 2 of the NPPF.       
                                                  

9.19. Paragraph 155 of the NPPF  
 

9.20. Paragraph 155 of the NPPF states that the development of commercial 
development should be regarded as not inappropriate where the following 
apply: 

 
(a) development would utilise Grey Belt land and would not fundamentally 
undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt 
across the area of the plan;  

 
9.21. In considered the above, the PPG advises that authorities should consider 

whether, or the extent to which, the release or development of Green Belt 
land would affect the ability of all the remaining Green Belt across the 
area of the plan from serving all five of the Green Belt purposes in a 
meaningful way. 
 

9.22. Epsom and Ewell Borough Council's Green Belt encompasses roughly 
43% of the Borough's land.  Although the proposed development would 
cause harm to openness and impact on Green Belt purpose (c) regarding 
assisting in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment, this would 
not fundamentally undermine the ability of the remaining Green Belt land 
across the area of the plan from meeting all five of the Green Belt 

                                            
1 Paragraph: 005 Reference ID: 64-005-20250225 

Page 46

Agenda Item 5

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/green-belt#proposals-on-grey-belt-land


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
purposes in a meaningful way. The proposal development would therefore 
meet criterion (a) of paragraph 155 of the NPPF.  

 
(b) there is a demonstrable need for the type of development proposed;  

 
9.23. Policy DM24 of the DMPD seeks to retain employment floorspace outside 

of the existing identified employment locations, whilst Policy DM25 of the 
DMPD supports employment developments provides that the 
accommodation is flexible and suitable to meet future needs. 

 
9.24. Although site comprises an employment area outside of the defined 

strategic employment sites, it makes a valuable contribution towards the 
economy of the Borough.   

 
9.25. The proposed development would result in the loss of 277m² of Class E 

floorspace from the site but would deliver a further 302m² of Class B2 
(General Industrial) floorspace and 457m² of Class B2 (Storage and 
Distribution) floorspace.  

 
9.26. The site currently contains the following Class E1 uses: 

 

Unit Number Area Use Use Class 

Unit A The Barn 145.48m² Workshop Class E(c)(iii) 

Unit B The Barn 145.2m² Office Class E(c)(iii) 

Unit 1 13.15m² Office Class E(c)(iii) 

Unit 2 12.81m² Office Class E(c)(iii) 

Unit 3 15.28m² Music Studio  Class E(d) 

Unit 4 14.25m² Personal Gym Class E(d) 

 
9.27. Council’s HEDNA highlights that demand for Class E(c)(iii) (Office) floor 

space has fallen and future need of office spaces would be limited.  
Notwithstanding, in considering the economic growth of the Borough, the 
HEDNA forecasts an additional future need of office space to be 19,437m² 
over the period 2022 to 2040. 

 
9.28. However, the HEDNA also identifies that the current office clusters, such 

as Epsom Town Centre and the sites at East Street represent 
opportunities for office spaces to meet demand. Whilst the loss of 171m² 
of office floor space from the site is regrettable, there is sufficient 
opportunity within the existing office clusters to accommodate the loss and 
the existing/ future Class E(c)(iii) (Office) floorspace demands over the 
plan period.     
 

9.29. For industrial floorspace, the HEDNA identifies an increasing need over 
the period 2022 to 2040, recommending a need for 9,021m² of light for 
industrial (Class E(g)(iii)) floorspace, 9,554m² of Class B2 (General 
Industrial) floorspace and 18,157m² of Class B2 (Storage and Distribution) 
floorspace to cover the plan period. The proposed development would 
provide an additional 795m² of industrial floorspace in an established 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
employment area that would meet the existing unmet need and increasing 
future need for the Borough. 
 

9.30. Officers are satisfied that the proposed development would be of an 
appropriate type to meet the demonstrable unmet need for industrial 
floorspace in the Borough. The development would therefore meet 
criterion (b) of paragraph 155 of the NPPF. 
 

9.31. Whilst it is recognised that Class E has a diverse range of uses within the 
class and that movement from one primary use to another within the same 
use class can occur without planning permission, Officers consider it 
unreasonable to restrict the Class E use given the existing Class E1 
floorspace is already significantly reduced ad it is not currently restricted.   

 
(c) the development would be in a sustainable location with particular 
refence to paragraph 110 and 115 of the NPPF;  

 
9.32. Paragraph 110 of NPPF encourages significant development to be 

focused on locations which are, or can be made, sustainable through 
limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport 
modes, although recognising that opportunities to maximise sustainable 
transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas, and this 
should be taken into account in decision-making.    
 

9.33. Paragraph 115 of NPPF requires applications for new development to 
ensure that: 
 
a) sustainable transport modes are prioritised taking account of the 

vision for the site, the type of development and its location; 
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; 
c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the 

content of associated standards reflects current national guidance, 
including the National Design Guide and the National Model Design 
Code; and 

d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network 
(in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be 
cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree through a vision-led 
approach. 
 

9.34. Policy DM25 of the DMPD supports employment development that is 
compatible with the level of existing or potential public transport 
accessibility. 
 

9.35. The site is within 965m (15-minute walk) of the Drift Bridge shopping 
parade on Fir Tree Road, which has a range of services, amenities and 
facilities.  

 
9.36. The site also benefits from adequate access to public transport provision, 

with two bus stops (Drift Bridge) located 900m (15-minute walk) to the 

Page 48

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
south east of the site, providing an hourly service on weekdays and 
Saturdays between Epsom and Croydon.    

 
9.37. Epsom Downs Station is located 1km (15-minute walk) of the site and 

provides regular and two direct services per hours to London Victoria. 
 

9.38. Officers are satisfied that the proposed development would be in a 
sustainable location as required by criterion (c) of paragraph 155 of the 
NPPF.  

 
(d) Where applicable the development proposed meets the ‘Golden Rules’ 
requirements set out in paragraphs 156-157 of the NPPF 

 
9.39. The Golden Rules apply where housing is proposed, and criterion (d) of 

paragraph 155 is therefore not relevant to this assessment.  
 

9.40. Paragraph 155 Conclusion  
 

9.41. The proposed development would not fundamentally undermine the 
purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across the area of 
the plan; would meet a demonstrable need for commercial development 
and would be in a sustainable location, thereby meeting the requirements 
(a) – (c) of paragraph 155 of the NPPF.  Requirement (d) is not relevant to 
this assessment.  

 
9.42. Green Belt Conclusion  

 
9.43. For the reasons set out above, the proposal development would not be 

inappropriate development in the Green Belt and would accord with the 
provision of Green Belt policy within the NPPF, most notably paragraph 
155. 

 
9.44. It is not necessary to consider the effect of the proposed development 

upon the openness and remaining purposes of the Green Belt, as this is 
implicitly considered in this exception, nor would there be any very special 
circumstances needed to justify the proposed development.  

 
10. Trees and Landscaping  
 

10.1. Paragraph 136 of the NPPF, Policy CS3 of the CS, Policy DM5 of the 
DMPD and the Householder SPG seek the retention, protection and 
enhancement of existing and new trees, hedgerows, and other landscape 
features, with removal of trees supported by sound justification and 
appropriate replacement planting of native species.  

 
10.2. The application is accompanied by an Arboricultural Planning and Survey 

Report, prepared by Graftin Gardeners Ltd, reference 25 0004 The Looe 
and dated 21 June 2025. The Report also contains an Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment and an Arboricultural Method Statement. 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
10.3. The Report confirms that the site itself does not contain any trees, but 

there are off site trees in close proximity. Eight individual trees and two 
groups were surveyed off site – two are identified as moderate quality 
Category B trees (T2 and T5, both Sycamores), with the remaining six 
individual trees categorised at low quality Category C trees.  

 
10.4. It is noted that historically the site contained two trees and that these are 

visible on public imagery. However, it is understood that these were 
removed in early 2020 and the site visit confirmed the absence of these 
trees. No further tree removal works are required, with only minor cutting 
back of T6 (Cat C Loquat) to safeguard the tree. 
 

10.5. The demolition of the existing buildings and construction of the proposed 
development will take place within the RPA of T2 and T3 (Cat C 
Sycamore), which are third party trees to be retained.  

 
10.6. The report advises that as similar construction has previously occurred 

within RPA of T3 and that the proposed incursion into T2 RPA would be 
limited, foundation replacement of these existing areas can be undertaken 
in a traditional manner, if hand excavated under direct supervision with all 
works undertaken in line with the supporting Arboricultural Method 
Statement. 
 

10.7. All retained trees would be robustly protected in accordance with 
necessary tree measures set out in the Arboricultural Method Statement. 

 
10.8. The Council’s Tree Officer is satisfied that the specified tree protection 

measures and construction methodology set out in the Statement would 
minimise the impact of the proposed development on the retained trees.  
It is recommended that these measures are secured by way of a condition 
in the event planning permission is granted.  

 
10.9. The landscaping plan associated with the application demonstrates that 

there is opportunity to provide soft landscaping features to the site, 
including the planting of 22 pleached trees, and further details of these 
would be secured by condition in the event planning permission is 
granted. Infill and replacement planting is sufficient to accommodate a 
well landscaped scheme. 

 
11. Design and Character 
 

11.1. Paragraphs 130, 135 and 139 of the NPPF 2024 refer to the need for 
functional and visually attractive development that is sympathetic to local 
character and history.  
 

11.2. Policy CS5 of the CS requires high quality design that is attractive, relates 
to local distinctiveness and complements the attractive characteristics of 
the area.  
 

Page 50

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
11.3. Policy DM9 of the DMPD requires a positive contribution to and 

compatibility with the local character and the historic and natural 
environment and Policy DM10 requires good design that respects, 
maintains or enhances the prevailing house types and sizes, density, 
scale, layout, height, form and massing, plot width and building 
separation, building lines and key features.  

 
11.4. Policy DM25 of the DMPD requires the scale, bulk and appearance of the  

new employment development to be compatible with the character of its 
surrounding.  
 

11.5. The existing commercial buildings on site are of no great architectural 
merit and there is no objection to their loss in this respect. 

 
11.6. The layout of the proposed built form generally reflects the layout of that 

currently existing, although it makes a more efficient use of the site by 
extending parallel with the south east and south boundary.   

 
11.7. As a result of its backland location behind the more linear development of 

Reigate Road, the proposed built form does not have to conform to any 
particular street scene. However, the layout would continue to retain a 
coherent relationship with the adjoining built form. 

 
11.8. The tallest building on the site contains a domed roof that measures 6.2m 

high. Whilst the design of the proposed built form would introduce an 
element of two storey scale into the site, the flat roof design would 
mitigate the overall height, which would be 6.3m. Although this is a 
minimal increase in height over the existing building on site, the massing 
at that height would be greater than existing.  

 
11.9. Notwithstanding this, the height and massing of the proposed two storey 

element would not appear incongruous within the surrounding built form 
environment, which is a mix of single and two storey commercial units and 
residential development. 

 
11.10. The intervening built form and landscaping between the site and Reigate 

Road would prevent its visibility from this main street scene. Whilst views 
of the proposed development would be achievable from the adjoining 
commercial and residential properties, the proposal would replace poor 
conditioned buildings with high quality built form, thereby resulting in an 
improvement in visual amenity for the occupiers of these surrounding 
buildings. A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment was not required 
on these grounds.  

 
11.11. The proposed development would constitute good design and would not 

cause material harm to the character and appearance of the area.  
 
 
 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
12. Neighbour Amenity 

 
12.1. Policy CS5 of the CS and Policy DM10 of the DMPD seeks to protect 

occupant and neighbour amenity, including in terms of privacy, outlook, 
sunlight/daylight, and noise whilst Paragraph 198 of the NPPF and Policy 
CS6 of the CS seek to mitigate and reduce noise impacts. 
 

12.2. Policy DM25 of the DMPD requires new employment development to not 
significantly harm the amenities of nearby occupiers nor cause adverse 
environmental impact on the surrounding area. 

 
12.3. The neighbouring residential properties predominantly affected by the 

proposed development would be April Cottage to the south east of the site 
and Priestmere Cottage and 1&2 North Looe House, all of which have 
their far rear curtilage bounding the south west/west of the site.  

 
April Cottage 

 
12.4. The front elevation of April Cottage would face the south east boundary of 

the site. At present, views from April Cottage would be of a single storey 
built form. The proposed development would extend the single storey built 
form directly along the shared boundary. 
 

12.5. Notwithstanding this, as a result of the topography of the site, the single 
storey nature of the built form proposed along the boundary, the height of 
which would fall from 4.2 metres to 2.4 metres on the boundary and a 
distance of between 9 -11 metres retained between the single storey built 
form and the front windows associated with April Cottage, Officers are 
satisfied that the proposal would not create any overbearing impacts or 
create any issues of loss of light or overshadowing.  

 
Priestmere Cottage  

 
12.6. Although the rear curtilage of this neighbouring property bounds the site, 

much of the proposed built form of the would be at least 17 metres from 
the shared boundary of this neighbouring property, with 46 metres 
retained between the proposed built form and the rear elevation of the 
cottage. This would prevent any overbearing impacts and any issues of 
loss of light or loss of outlook.  
 

12.7. Although the proposed development would introduce two storey windows 
to the site, because of the retained 46 metre window to window distance, 
they would not allow for any clear or direct overlooking into the private 
amenity area and would be filtered by the intervening boundary trees.      

 
12.8. The proposed security/plant hut would be located close to the shared 

boundary of this neighbouring property. Notwithstanding this, because of 
its 2.5 metre hight and given the presence of the 4-metre boundary wall 
enclosing the far rear curtilage of this neighbouring property, Officers are 

Page 52

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
satisfied that this single storey structure would not cause any harm to the 
amenities of the occupier of this neighbouring property. 

 
1&2 North Looe House 

 
12.9. The north east boundaries of these properties lie within 8 metres of the 

proposed single storey built form of the proposed development and 23 
metres from the proposed two storey built form, with 49 metres retained 
between the proposed built form and the rear elevation of these 
neighbouring properties.  This would prevent any overbearing impacts and 
any issues of loss of light or loss of outlook.  
 

12.10. Although the proposed development would introduce two storey windows 
to the site, as a result of the setback of the first floor from the ground floor 
of Units 5, 6 and 7, a window to rear boundary distance of 23 metres 
would be retained, preventing any clear or direct views into the internal 
amenity areas and far rear private curtilage of these neighbouring 
properties.   

 
12.11. It is noted that 2 North Looe House utilised their far rear curtilage for 

domestic entertaining and whilst this area lies to adjacent to the site 
boundary and the occupiers may have a perception of overlooking from 
the proposed development, given the distance retained between all first 
floor windows would exceed 21 metres and that the area in question 
would remain enclosed by the outbuildings associated with this 
neighbouring property, Officers are satisfied this domestic entertaining 
area would not be material harmed by overlooking.   

 
Priest Hill Close and The Paddock 
 

12.12. Properties in Priest Hill Close lie to the north of the site but are separated 
by two access roads such that no objection is raised. Similarly, The 
Paddock, a residential dwelling lies to the north but is separated by 
another property. No adverse impacts to this property are foreseen.   

 
General Noise 

 
12.13. Whilst the proposed development is likely to generate a greater level of 

vehicular noise through vehicles arriving and leaving the site than the 
current situation, this level would not be to an extent that would be 
incongruous, given the existing active use of the site as a commercial use 
that attracts a similar traffic generation.  

 
12.14. Seven vehicle parking spaces would lie to the far rear domestic 

entertaining area associated with 2 North Looe House. Whilst this is likely 
to create more noise and disturbance from vehicles in a concentrated 
area in comparison to the existing situation, the retained outbuildings 
associated with this neighbouring property would provide some screening 
properties to this entertaining area and the vehicle movements associated 

Page 53

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
with the proposed development would not be significantly above and 
beyond those currently generated by the site.   

 
12.15. As the site is an existing employment park, there is a reduction in the 

number of units on site, and acoustic boundary treatments are 
conditioned, it is felt unnecessary for any hours of use to be conditioned 
as the proposed developmnet is acceptable without any such condition.  

 
12.16. In the event planning permission is granted, because of the location of the 

parking bays adjacent to the rear curtilage of 2 North Looe House, 
Officers would secure appropriate acoustic boundary screening along this 
boundary.  

 
12.17. The construction phase of the development has the potential to cause 

disruption and inconvenience to nearby occupiers and users of the local 
highway network. However, these issues are transient and can be 
minimised through the requirement of planning conditions in the event 
planning permission is granted. 

 
13. Highway and Transport Impacts  

 
13.1. The NPPF requires new development to use a vision led approach to  

identify transport solutions that deliver well designed, sustainable, and 
popular places.  
 

13.2. Paragraph 116 of the NPPF states that development should only be  
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an  
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative  
impacts on the road network, following mitigation, would be severe, taking  
into account all reasonable future scenarios 
 

13.3. Policy CS16 of the CS encourages an improved and integrated transport  
network and facilitates a shift of emphasis to non-car modes as a means  
of access to services and facilities. Development proposals should 
provide safe, convenient, and attractive accesses for all, be appropriate  
for the highways network, provide appropriate and effective parking  
provision, both on and off-site and ensure that vehicular traffic generated  
does not create new, or exacerbate existing, on street parking problems,  
nor materially increase other traffic problems.  
 

13.4. Policy DM25 of the DMPD requires new employment development to 
comply with the Council's transport, access, servicing, car and cycle 
parking standards and policies. 

 
13.5. Policy DM35 of the DMPD requires sets out that the impact of new 

development on the transport network will be assessed against other plan 
policies and transport standards via a Transport Assessment or 
Statement.   
 

Page 54

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
13.6. The application is supported by a Transport Assessment (TA), prepared 

by Transport Dynamics, reference PCD-685-EN-RP-01 and dated July 
2025 and subsequent Technical Response (TR1), prepared by Transport 
Dynamic and dated November 2025 and Technical Response (TR2), 
prepared by Transport Dynamic and dated December 2025. The County 
Highway Authority are satisfied that the TA gives a fair representation of 
the site and the surrounding local highway network. 

 
13.7. Pedestrian and Vehicle Access  

 
13.8. Paragraph 115 of the NPPF requires safe and suitable access to the site 

for all users whilst paragraph 117 of the NPPF seeks to minimise conflicts  
between pedestrians, cyclists, and vehicles. 
 

13.9. The site is served by a vehicle access from Reigate Road, shared with 
pedestrian access. 

 
13.10. The proposal would involve the provision of a segregated pedestrian 1.2 

metre footpath along the access to the site to facilitate safe access for 
pedestrians. The County Highway Officer is satisfied that the access to 
the site can accommodate the provision of the segregated pedestrian 
footpath in combination with a single vehicle and thus this represents a 
net improvement. 

 
13.11. The swept path drawing supporting this application demonstrate that two 

vehicles, including lorries, can pass at the existing access, to prevent any 
delays from vehicles on Reigate Road waiting for vehicles to exist the 
access before they can turn in. The County Highway Officer is satisfied 
that the swept path diagrams demonstrate that the proposed development 
would not compromise the safe operation of the existing highway.  

 
13.12. Traffic Generation  

 
13.13. To assess the trip generation associated with the existing site, the TR2 

contains independent traffic surveys undertaken at the site, which were 
carried out on weekdays during early December 2025. The existing traffic 
survey identified 15 inbound and 14 outbound vehicle movements on the 
busier day of the traffic surveys with no vehicle movements in the AM 
peak and 1 inbound and 1 outbound movement in the PM peak.  

 
13.14. In considering the future traffic movements associated with the proposed 

development, the TRICS database has been consulted, using data  
associated with similar development scenarios. The TRICS data set out in 
the TR2 calculates the proposal development generating 27 inbound and 
24 outbound vehicle movements and increase in 9 movements inbound 
and 13 movements outbound.   
 

13.15. The County Highway Authority is satisfied that the TRICS assessment 
provides a robust and realistic assessment of the impact of the proposed 
development on the highway network, and that the residual cumulative 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
impacts of the development would not have a material impact on the 
capacity of the surrounding network. 

 
13.16. Car Parking 
 
13.17. Policy DM37 of the DMPD requires parking for commercial development 

to be in accordance with the Surrey County Council Vehicular, Electric 
Vehicle and Cycle Parking. 

 
13.18. For the mixed commercial floorspace identified, the proposed 

development would be expected to provide a maximum of 20 vehicle 
parking spaces and three lorry spaces within the site.    

 
13.19. The proposed development would provide 16 parking spaces within the 

site, thereby meeting the requirements of the Surrey Parking Guidance 
and subsequently Policy DM37 of the DMPD.  

 
13.20. Cycle Parking 
 
13.21. Policy DM36 of the DMPD requires the provision of cycle networks and 

facilities and Policy DM37 requires minimum provision of six cycle spaces 
as set out in Annexe 2 - Parking Standards for new development.  

 
13.22. The proposal would provide 18 cycle parking spaces, which would exceed 

the County guidance. 
 

13.23. Electric Vehicle Charging  
 

13.24. The proposal would provide 50% of the proposed vehicle parking spaces 
with Electric Vehicle Charging Points. The County Highway Authority are 
satisfied that this level of charging points makes suitable provision for 
encouraging sustainable travel. This provision would be secured by way 
of a condition if planning permission is granted. 

 
13.25. Disabled parking 
 
13.26. The proposed parking provision on site includes an accessible parking 

space, which exceeds the County guidance of allocating at least 5% of 
total parking spaces for disabled users. This provision would be secured 
by way of a condition if planning permission is granted. 

 
13.27. Sustainability Measures 
 
13.28. Paragraph 110 of the NPPF seeks new development to take opportunities 

to maximise sustainable transport solutions and therefore sustainability 
opportunities have been set out in TR1 to promote sustainable travel 
modes.  

 
13.29. It is important to recognise that these improvements are proposed to 

enhance sustainability, rather than make the location sustainable, as the 

Page 56

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
site is already to be considered in a sustainable location for the reasons 
set out in the Green Belt section of this Agenda Report. 

 
13.30. The proposed development would secure the following pedestrian 

improvements to Reigate Road: 
 

 A pedestrian crossing with dropped kerbs and tactile paving at the 
existing access to site  

 A pedestrian refuge to directly link to the footpath on the south side of 
Reigate Road 

 Provision of 1.2 metre pedestrian footpath extending from the access 
along the north side of Reigate Road to link to the pedestrian refuge  

 

 
 

13.31. The pedestrian improvements works will be secured through a condition in 
the event permission is granted.  

 
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
14. Ecology and Biodiversity 

 
14.1. Ecological Impact 
 
14.2. Paragraphs 187 and 193 of the NPPF, Policy CS3 of the CS and Policy 

DM4 of the DMPD require the conservation and enhancement of on-site 
biodiversity, with minimisation of impacts and the provision of mitigation 
measures.  

 
14.3. The duty of care extends to Regulation 9(3) of the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 to protect species identified under 
Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and Schedule 2 of 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 
 

14.4. The application is supported by a  Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
Report, prepared by Southwest Environmental Limited, reference S24-
130/PEA, dated January 2025 which demonstrates to the satisfaction of 
the Council’s Ecologist that the site has low ecological value and that 
following the Preliminary Protected Species Assessment contained within 
the report, no further ecological surveys are required.    
 

14.5. The Council’s Ecologist is satisfied that the Ecological Appraisal has 
demonstrated that the proposal would not cause harm to protected 
species and provides sufficient mitigation and ecological enhancements 
which will be secured by a condition in the event permission is granted.  
 

14.6. On this basis, Officers are satisfied that the proposal would not adversely 
affect the ecological significance of the site, and no objection is raised.  
1981 and Schedule 2 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017. 

 
14.7. Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
14.8. Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 13 

of the NPPF require delivery of biodiversity net gain (BNG), the former 
requiring and minimum of 10% to be achieved by establishing coherent 
ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures 
with the overall intention to deliver a more or better quality natural habitat 
than there was before development.  

 
14.9. The application was accompanied by a Biodiversity Net Gain Report 

prepared by Southwest Environmental Limited, reference S24-130/BNG 
and dated June 2025 

 
14.10. The Biodiversity Impact Calculation demonstrates that the proposed 

development would create an onsite BNG increase of 0.2479 habitat units 
(12%) exceeding the national requirements.  

 
14.11. This net gain would be delivered a through a comprehensive landscaping 

scheme.  In the event permission is granted, delivery of the BNG and 

Page 58

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
monitoring provisions will form part of a Habitat Management and 
Monitoring Plan, which would be secured by a condition in the event 
permission is granted. 

 
14.12.  A legal agreement would also be required to secure the BNG monitoring 

fee.   
 

15. Flooding and Drainage 
 
15.1. Flood Risk and Vulnerability 

 
15.2. Paragraphs 170 and 181 of the NPPF Policy CS6 of the CS and Policy 

DM19 of the DMPD state that Inappropriate development in areas at risk 
of flooding development at medium or high risk from flooding must ensure 
that there is no increase in flood risk, whether on or off site, and 
implementation of flood resilience and mitigation to reduce it to acceptable 
levels. 

 
15.3. The application is supported by a Drainage Strategy Report, prepared by 

RDC and dated July 2025.  
 

15.4. In terms of fluvial flooding, the site is in an area of low flood risk,  
outside of Flood Zone 2 and 3 as identified on the Environment Agency  
Flood Risk Maps and therefore the proposed development would be  
wholly located in Flood Zone 1. As such the development has low risk of  
fluvial flooding. 

 
15.5. As the proposed development would lie within Flood Zone 1, neither the 

sequential test nor the exceptions test, as set out in the Government’s 
guidance ‘Flood risk assessment: the sequential test for applicants’ 2017 
needs to be carried out. 
 

15.6. In respect of pluvial flooding, the junction to the site and a small part of the 
access lies within the Epsom and Ewell designated Critical Drainage Area 
and at risk of surface water flooding. However, as the access lies outside 
of the developable area of the site, neither the sequential test nor the 
exceptions test, as set out in the Government’s guidance ‘Flood risk 
assessment: the sequential test for applicants’ 2017 needs to be carried 
out 
 

15.7. Sustainable Drainage 
 
15.8. Paragraphs 181 and 182 of the NPPF, Policy CS6 of the CS 2007 and 

Policy DM19 of the DMPD seek the implementation of sustainable urban 
drainage systems (SuDS). 

 
15.9. Accompanying the supporting Drainage Strategy Report is a Drainage 

Layout Plan (1111-2534-CIV-10 Rev P2) 
 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
15.10. To mitigate surface water flooding to and from the site, the supporting 

Drainage Strategy Report considers the most appropriate SuDS methods 
to be infiltration of surface water into a stormwater vortex separator to 
improve water quality, before discharging into a cellular storage tank 
soakaway. 

 
15.11. The Lead Local Flood Authority have confirmed that the outline drainage 

proposal satisfies the requirements of the NPPF and has recommended  
a suitable condition to secure the details of the design of the surface water 
drainage scheme and to ensure that it is properly implemented and 
maintained throughout the lifetime of the development in the event 
permission is granted.  
 

16. Contamination and Remediation 
 
16.1. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF and Policy DM17 of the DMPD require 

planning decisions to ensure that a site is suitable for its proposed use 
taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from land 
instability and contamination.  
 

16.2. The Council’s Land Contamination Officer has reviewed this application 
and has highlighted that there used to be depot on site and an 
‘architectural salvage’, along with a petrol tank. The occupier of 2 North 
Looe House has also mentioned the possibility of asbestos in the 
buildings to be demolished on site. The site is also underlain by a chalk 
aquifer.  
 

16.3. There is no identified contamination harm that would prevent 
redevelopment of the site. For the reasons outlined above, in the event 
planning permission is granted, the Council’s Land Contamination 
recommend a ground contamination investigation following the demolition 
of buildings on site, due to the potential for there to be asbestos in the 
buildings. 

 
16.4. These conditions would ensure that risks from land contamination to  

future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together  
with those to controlled waters, property, and ecological systems and to  
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without  
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors.  

 
17. Environmental Sustainability 
 

17.1. Policy CS6 of the CS stipulates that development should incorporate 
sustainable development and reduce, or have a neutral impact upon, 
pollution and climate change. This includes incorporation of renewable 
energy, use of sustainable construction methods and sustainable building 
design, flood management, reduction in water use and improvement of 
water quality and minimisation of noise, water, and light pollution. 

 

Page 60

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
17.2. The application is supported by an Energy Statement, prepared by Focus 

360, Rev 2 and dated July 2025. This statement provides a detailed 
assessment of the predicted regulated energy demand and CO₂ 
emissions associated with the development.  

 
17.3. It highlights the energy-efficient building fabric specification, as well as the 

integration of low-carbon technologies such as air source heat pumps 
(ASHPs) for the heated office areas, and roof-mounted photovoltaic (PV) 
panels to generate on-site renewable electricity.  
 

17.4. The use of PV panels on the main roof helps offset electricity demands 
from the ASHPs and contributes to broader carbon reduction goals by 
utilising solar energy directly. 
 

17.5. A technical assessment has been undertaken using Simplified Building 
Energy Model, in line with Part L2A of the Building Regulations. The 
results indicate that the proposed development would achieve a 
notable improvement over the notional baseline through a combination of 
fabric-first measures and efficient services design.  

 
17.6. In addition to energy efficiency, the proposed development would utilise 

water conservation measures, including low-flow sanitary fittings to reduce 
mains water demand across the site. 
 

17.7. The statement also demonstrates that the proposed development has 
been designed to exceed current energy performance standards while 
supporting wider environmental targets relating to climate change and 
resource efficiency. All proposed units are designed to achieve an 'A' 
Energy Performance Certificate (EPC).  

 
17.8. In the event permission is granted, these sustainable design measures 

would be secured by way of a condition. 
 
18. Accessibility and Equality 
 

18.1. Policy CS16 of the CS and Policy DM12 of the DMPD requires safe, 
convenient, and attractive access to be incorporated within the design of 
the development.  
 

18.2. The supporting Design and Access Statement, prepared by Addo, 
reference ADL-25-761-D01 rev A and dated June 2025 confirms that the 
proposed commercial units would have direct and level access from the 
main parking area and that all commercial units would have disabled and 
standard access toilets. 

 
18.3. Furthermore, the proposed parking provision on site includes an 

accessible parking space, which exceeds the County guidance of 
allocating at least 5% of total parking spaces for disabled users.   

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
18.4. The Council is required to have regard to its obligations under the Equality 

Act 2010, including protected characteristics of age, disability, gender, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion, or belief. There are no identified characteristics 
that would be disadvantaged by the proposal.  

 
19. Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy 

 
19.1. Paragraphs 55 and 57 of the NPPF 2024 requires consideration of 

whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable 
through the use of conditions or planning obligations, but only where they 
are necessary, related to the development, fair and reasonable.  

 
19.2. Policy CS12 of the CS and the Developer Contributions SPD require that 

development must be able to demonstrate that the service and community 
infrastructure necessary to serve the development is available, either 
through on-site provision or a financial contribution via a planning 
obligation.  

 
19.3. The Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 2014 indicates 

that the application is chargeable for CIL payments because it involves 
additional floor area in excess of 100m2. It is payable at £125/m2 index 
linked. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 
20. Planning Balance 
 

20.1. Section 2 of the NPPF has an underlying presumption in favour of 
sustainable development which is carried through to the Development 
Plan. Policy CS1 of the CS expects development to contribute positively 
to the social, economic, and environmental improvements in achieving 
sustainable development whilst protecting and enhancing the natural and 
built environment. 
 

20.2. The site is located within the Green Belt which is identified as a protected 
area/asset of particular importance. The proposed development complies 
with the relevant requirements of paragraph 155 of the NPPF and 
therefore not inappropriate development.  

 
20.3. Economic Considerations 
 
20.4. The proposed development would make a small contribution towards 

delivering an existing unmet need for industrial floorspace. As a result of 
the scale of the floor area, this benefit is given limited weight in the 
planning balance. 

 
 
 

Page 62

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
20.5. Social Considerations 

 
20.6. The proposed development would deliver pedestrian improvements to 

Reigate Road that would be a public benefit. This benefit is given limited 
weight in the planning balance. 

 
20.7. Environmental Considerations 
 
20.8. The proposed development would increase the biodiversity value of the 

site, retaining existing ecological features and creating new biodiversity 
rich habitats, resulting in a biodiversity net gain of 12% for habitat units, 
which represents an excess gain above the mandatory requirement of 
10%. There would also be net improvements to landscaping on site. 
Given the excess provision above the national minimum requirement and 
additional planting, this benefit is given limited weight in the planning 
balance. 

 
20.9. Conclusion 

 
20.10. The policies of the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance do not provide a strong reason for refusing the development 
proposed. Whilst the Council does not have up-to-date development plan 
due to expiration, Officers are satisfied that the policies contained within 
that are relevant to this application remain consistent with the NPPF and 
can be given weight accordingly.  
 

20.11. Officers conclude that in applying the planning balance, there would be no 
harm associated with the development that would outweigh the limited 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole, or where specific policies in the Framework indicate that 
development should be restricted. Approval of the application is 
recommended.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
PART A  
 
To grant planning permission subject to a Unilateral Undertaking with the 
following Heads of Terms: 
 
a) BNG delivery and monitoring 
 
and the following conditions and informatives 
 
PART B  
 
If the Unilateral Undertaking referred to in Part A is not completed by 26 May 
2026, the Head of Place Development is authorised to refuse the application 
for the following reason:  

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
 
In the absence of a completed legal obligation to secure appropriate BNG delivery 
and monitoring, the applicant has failed to comply with Schedule 7A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, Section 13 of the NPPF require delivery of biodiversity 
net gain Policy CS3 of the CS and Policy DM4 of the DMPD 
 

CONDITIONS  

 
1) Timescale 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the 
date of this decision. 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 
 
2) Approved Plans 
 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, the development 
hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans: 
 
2431_P01 Rev C Existing Location Plan 
2431_P01.1 Rev C Existing Location Plan  
2431_P01.2 Rev C Existing Location Plan  
2431_P102 Rev D Proposed Site Plan  
2431_P103 Rev D Proposed Site Plan  
2431_P104 Rev A Proposed Site Lines 
2431_P110 Rev K Proposed GA Plan 
2431_P111 Rev H Proposed Ground Floor 
2431_P112 Rev C Proposed First Floor GA 
2431_P112.1 Rev C Proposed First Floor  
2431_P115 Rev D Prop Landscape Plan 
2431_P221 Rev D Prop Long Elevations  
2431_P222 Rev C Prop Elevations Sht3  
2431_P222.2 Rev C Comparison Elevations 
2431_P222.3 Rev B Elevation E1  
2431_P223 Rev B Proposed Elevation 4 
PDC685/002 Rev A Proposed Highway Works  
 
Reason: For avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans to comply with Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy 
2007. 
 
Pre Commencement Conditions 
 
3) Materials 
 
No development shall commence unless and until details of external materials for the 
development, including for boundary treatments, shall be submitted to and approved 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
full accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance in accordance with Policy 
CS5 of the Core Strategy 2007 and Policies DM9 and DM10 of the Development 
Management Policies Document 2015. 
 
4) Construction Transport Management Plan 
 
No development shall commence until a Construction Transport Management Plan, 
to include details of: 
 
(a) parking for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors 
(b) loading and unloading of plant and materials 
(c) storage of plant and materials 
(d) programme of works (including measures for traffic management) 
(e) provision of boundary hoarding behind any visibility zones 
(f) measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway and transfer of dust 
contaminants from the site 
(g) before and after construction condition surveys of the highway and a commitment 
to fund the repair of any damage caused 
(h) on-site turning for construction vehicles  
(i) hours of works and deliveries 
 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Only 
the approved details shall be implemented during the construction of the 
development. 
 
Reason: For the development not to prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with Section 9 of the NPPF 
2024 and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development Management 
Policies Document 2015 and Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy 2007. 
 
5) Surface Water Drainage 
 
No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The final 
solution should follow the principles set out in the approved drainage strategy. The 
design must satisfy the SuDS Hierarchy and be compliant with the national 
standards for sustainable drainage systems and the NPPF.  
 
The required drainage details shall include: 
 
a) The results of infiltration testing completed in accordance with BRE Digest: 365 

and 
b) confirmation of groundwater levels. Where infiltration is proposed confirmation is 

required of a 1m unsaturated zone from the base of any proposed soakaway to 
the seasonal high groundwater level and confirmation of half-drain times. 

c) Hydraulic calculations to demonstrate the proposed final solution will effectively 
manage the 1 in 30 (+35% allowance for climate change) & 1 in 100 (+40% 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
allowance for climate change) storm events. If infiltration is deemed unfeasible, 
associated discharge rates and storage volumes shall be provided using a 
maximum discharge rate equivalent to the pre-development Greenfield run-off 

d) Detailed design drawings for all sustainable drainage elements including cross 
sections and detailed drainage layout plan. 

e) An exceedance flow routing plan demonstrating no increase in surface water 
flood risk on or off site. The plan must include proposed levels and flow 
directions. 

f) Details of how surface water will be managed during construction including 
measures to protect on site and downstream systems prior to the final drainage 
system being operational. 

 
The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved details 
prior to first occupation. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into 
the development and to reduce the impact of flooding in accordance with Policy CS6 
of the Epsom and Ewell Core Strategy 2007 and Policy DM19 of the Development 
Management Policies 2015. 
 
6) Site Waste Management Plan 
 
No development shall commence until a Site Waste Management Plan to has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Site Waste 
Management Plan shall demonstrate that the Construction, Demolition and 
Excavation waste arising from the development is limited to the minimum quantity 
necessary and  opportunities for re-use and recycling of Construction, Demolition 
and Excavation waste and residues are maximised, and that the development 
includes adequate facilities for waste storage and recycling which should be 
maintained and managed for the life of the development. 
 
The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved details 
and prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted.  
 
Reason: To ensure sustainable construction and waste management in new 
development, in accordance with Policy 4 of the Surrey Waste Local Plan 2020 and 
the requirements of paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy for Waste 2014 
 
Post Demolition Condition  
 
7) Ground Contamination  
 
Following any demolition and prior to the commencement of any further 
development, the following shall be undertaken in accordance with current best 
practice guidance: 
 
(i) a desk study, site investigation and risk assessment to determine the existence, 

extent and concentrations of any made ground/fill, ground gas (including 
hydrocarbons) and contaminants (including asbestos) with the potential to 
impact sensitive receptors on and off-site. The results of the investigation and 

Page 66

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
risk assessment shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority; and 

(ii) if ground/groundwater contamination, filled ground and/or ground gas is found 
to present unacceptable risks, a detailed scheme of risk management 
measures shall be designed and submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval. 

 
The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved details 
and prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted.  
 
Prior to any occupation of the site, the approved remediation scheme must be 
carried out in accordance with its terms. Following completion, a verification report 
that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced 
and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To control significant harm from land contamination to human beings, 
controlled waters, buildings and ecosystems as required by Policy DM10 of the 
Development Management Policies Document 2015. 
 
8) Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan 
 
No development above shall commence unless and until a Habitat Management and 
Monitoring Plan (HMMP), prepared in accordance with the approved statutory 
biodiversity gain plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority and including: 
 
a) A non-technical summary; 
b) The roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering the 

HMMP; 
c) The planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve 

habitat to achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance with the approved 
statutory biodiversity gain plan; 

d) The management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the approved 
Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the completion of 
development; and 

e) The monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or 
enhanced habitat to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
No occupation shall take place until the habitat creation and enhancement work set 
out in the approved HMMP have been completed; and a completion report, 
evidencing the completed habitat enhancements, has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Notice in writing shall be given to the Council when the HMMP works have started. 
The created and/or enhanced habitat specified in the approved HMPP shall be 
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved HMMP. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development results in a biodiversity net gain which 
meets national standards, in accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country 

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
Planning Act 1990, Section 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2024 and 
Policy DM4 of the Development Management Policies Document 2015. 
 
Above Ground Level Conditions  
 
9) Boundary Treatment 
 
No development above ground level shall take place until details of boundary 
treatments, to include an acoustic fence along the boundary with 2 North Looe 
House, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The boundary treatments shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties in 
accordance with Policy DM10 of the Development Management Policies Document 
2015. 
 
Pre-Occupation Conditions  
 
10) Modified Access  
 
No part of the development shall be first occupied until the proposed modified 
access to Reigate Road has been constructed and provided with a means within the 
private land of preventing private water from entering the highway. 
 
Reason: For the development not to prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with Section 9 of the NPPF 
2024 and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development Management 
Policies Document 2015 and Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy 2007. 
 
11) Pedestrian Access Arrangements  
 
No part of the development shall be first occupied until the following facilities have 
been provided in accordance with the approved plans for: 
 
a) Providing safe routes for pedestrians to travel between the western footway on 

Reigate Road and the development site. 
b) The improvement of the pedestrian crossing facilities on Reigate Road to include 

provision of a pedestrian refuge. 
c) Provision of a footway along the private access road  
 
The approved pedestrian access arrangements shall be installed prior to first 
occupation of the development and thereafter retained and maintained to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: For the development not to prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with Section 9 of the NPPF 
2024 and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development Management 
Policies Document 2015 and Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy 2007. 
 

Page 68

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
12) Vehicle Parking  
 
No part of the development shall be first occupied until space has been laid out 
within the site in accordance with the approved plans for vehicles to be parked, 
including the provision of disabled parking. Thereafter the parking areas shall be 
retained and maintained for their designated purposes. 
 
Reason: For the development not to prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with Section 9 of the NPPF 
2024 and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development Management 
Policies Document 2015 and Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy 2007. 
 
13) Electric Vehicle Charging Points 

 
No part of the development shall be first occupied until at least 50% of all available 
parking spaces are provided with a fast-charge Electric Vehicle charging point 
(current minimum requirements – 7.4 kw Mode 3 with Type 2connector -230v AC 
32Amp single phase dedicated supply) and thereafter retained and maintained to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In recognition of Section 9 of the NPPF 2024 and in meeting its objectives 
as well as and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development Management 
Policies Document 2015. 
 
14) Cycle Parking and E-Bikes 
 
No part of the development shall be first occupied until details of the following cycling 
facilities have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority  
 

a) High quality, secure, lit and covered cycle parking 
b) A mninmum of 20% of spaces provided with charging points with timers for e-

bikes within said facilities; 
c) Clear hardstanding routes between the cycle stores and the site access and; 
d) (20% of all bikes (including disabled and adaptive cycles) within communal 

storage areas should be able to be charged at any one time. 
 
The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved details 
prior to first occupation of the proposed development and thereafter retained and 
maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In recognition of Section 9 of the NPPF 2024 and in meeting its objectives 
as well as and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development Management 
Policies Document 2015. 

 
15) Suds Verification Report  
 
The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and until details 
a verification report must be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. This must demonstrate that the surface water drainage system has been 
constructed as per the agreed scheme (or detail any minor variations), confirming 

Page 69

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
any defects have been rectified, provide the details of any management company 
and provide an ‘As-Built’ drainage layout and state the national grid reference of key 
drainage elements. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into 
the development and to reduce the impact of flooding in accordance with Policy CS6 
of the Epsom and Ewell Core Strategy 2007 and Policy DM19 of the Development 
Management Policies 2015. 
 
16) Hard and Soft Landscaping  
 
No part of the development shall be first occupied until a scheme of hard and soft 
landscaping has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The 
scheme shall indicate the location and species of plants and trees to be planted.  
 
The approved hard landscaping shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the 
development hereby approved and thereafter retained. All planting, seeding or 
turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the 
first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the buildings or the 
completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants 
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of similar size and species.  
 
Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of an appropriate 
landscape scheme in the interests of the visual amenities of the locality in 
accordance with Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy 2007 and Policies DM5 and DM9 
of the Development Management Policies 2015. 
 
Compliance Conditions 
 
17) Biodiversity Net Gain Plan 
 
The statutory Biodiversity Net Gain Plan shall be prepared in accordance with the 
details set out in the Biodiversity Net Gain Report prepared by Southwest 
Environmental Limited, reference S24-130/BNG and dated June 2025. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development results in a biodiversity net gain which 
meets national standards, in accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, Section 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2024 and 
Policy DM4 of the Development Management Policies Document 2015. 
 
18) Monitoring of HMMP 
 
HMMP monitoring reports shall be submitted to Local Planning Authority in writing in 
accordance with the methodology and frequency specified in the approved HMMP in 
Condition 8. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development results in a biodiversity net gain which 
meets national standards, in accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country 

Page 70

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
Planning Act 1990, Section 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2024 and 
Policy DM4 of the Development Management Policies Document 2015. 
 
19) Compliance with Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Protection  
 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with all 
the demolition and construction methods, tree protection and site monitoring and 
supervision as set out in the Arboricultural Planning and Survey Report, prepared by 
Graftin Gardeners Ltd, reference 25 0004 The Looe and dated 21 June 2025 
 
Reason: To protect the trees adjacent to the site which are to be retained in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policy CS5 of the 
Core Strategy 2007 and Policies DM5 and DM9 of the Development Management 
Policies 2015. 
 
20) Compliance with Sustainable Design Measures 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
sustainable design measures contained in the Energy Statement, prepared by Focus 
360, Rev 2 and dated July 2025.  All measures shall be implemented prior to first 
occupation of the development hereby permitted and thereafter maintained.  
 
Reason: To ensure that measures to make the development sustainable and 
efficient in the use of energy, water and materials are included in the development in 
accordance with Policy CS6 of the Core Strategy 2007. 
 
21) Compliance with Ecological Survey 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
ecological recommendations and enhancement measures set out in the Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal Report, prepared by Southwest Environmental Limited, 
reference S24-130/PEA, dated January 2025. All ecological enhancement measures 
shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted 
and thereafter maintained.  
 
Reason: To enhance biodiversity and habitats in accordance with Policy CS3 of the 
Core Strategy 
 
22) Unexpected Contamination  
 
If contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development 
that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the 
Local Planning Authority. In that event, an investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken and where remediation is deemed necessary a remediation scheme 
must be prepared which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
Reason: To control significant harm from land contamination to human beings, 
controlled waters, buildings and ecosystems as required by Policy DM10 of the 
Development Management Policies Document 2015. 
 

INFORMATIVES  

 
1) Positive and Proactive Discussion 
 
In dealing with the application the Council has implemented the requirement in the 
National Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive way. We have made available detailed advice in the form or our statutory 
policies in the Core Strategy, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs 
and other informal written guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice 
service, in order to ensure that the applicant has been given every opportunity to 
submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. 
 
2) Building Control 
 
Your attention is drawn to the need to comply with the relevant provisions of the 
Building Regulations, the Building Acts and other related legislation. These cover 
such works as the demolition of existing buildings, the erection of a new building or 
structure, the extension or alteration to a building, change of use of buildings, 
installation of services, underpinning works, and fire safety/means of escape works. 
Notice of intention to demolish existing buildings must be given to the Council’s 
Building Control Service at least 6 weeks before work starts. A completed application 
form together with detailed plans must be submitted for approval before any building 
work is commenced. 
 
3) Working Hours 
 
When undertaking building work, please be considerate to your neighbours and do 
not undertake work before 8am or after 6pm Monday to Friday, before 8am or after 
1pm on a Saturday or at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays. Furthermore, 
please ensure that all vehicles associated with the construction of the development 
hereby approved are properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of mud 
and dirt onto the adjoining highway.  
 
You are advised that the Council does have formal powers to control noise and 
nuisance under The Control of Pollution Act 1974, the Clean Air Acts and other 
relevant legislation. For further information and advice, please contact - 
Environmental Health Department Pollution Section 
 
4) Burning of Material 
 
No burning of materials obtained by site clearance shall be carried out on the site. 
 
5) Control of Dust 
 

Page 72

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
During demolition or construction phases, adequate control precautions should be 
taken to control the spread of dust on the site, to prevent a nuisance to residents in 
the locality. This may involve the use of dust screens and importing a water supply to 
wet areas of the site to inhibit dust. 
 
6) Asbestos 
 
The site should be assessed for any asbestos containing materials prior to any 
works of demolition or conversion. Any work with asbestos must be carried out in 
accordance with the Control of Asbestos Regulations (2012) and relevant Approved 
Code of Practice http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/books/l143.htm. 
 
7) Pre Commencement Conditions 
 
The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions which 
must be complied with prior to the development starting on site. Commencement of 
the development without complying with the pre-commencement requirements may 
be outside the terms of this permission and liable to enforcement action.  The 
information required should be formally submitted to the Council for consideration 
with the relevant fee. Once the details have been approved in writing the 
development should be carried out only in accordance with those details.  If this is 
not clear, please contact the case officer to discuss. 
 
8) Protected Species 
 
The applicant is reminded that it is an offence to disturb protected species under the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Should a protected species be found during the 
works, the applicant should stop work and contact Natural England for further advice 
on 0845 600 3078. 
 
This includes bats and Great Crested Newts, which are a protected species under 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended).  Should 
any bats or evidence of bats be found prior to or during the development, all works 
must stop immediately, and an ecological consultant contacted for further advice 
before works can proceed.  All contractors working on site should be made aware of 
the advice and provided with the contact details of a relevant ecological consultant. 
 
9) Breeding Birds  

 
Under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, it is illegal to intentionally destroy or 
disturb active bird nests, eggs, or young.  Vegetation clearance and demolition shall 
not be carried out during bird breeding season (1 March to 31 August).  If it is 
necessary for these works to occur between 1 March - 31 August, then a qualified 
ecologist must survey the site for nesting birds.   If a nest is found, a buffer zone 
must be established and works suspended in that area until the chicks have fledged.   
 
10) Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
The applicant is reminded of their obligations to deliver mandatory biodiversity net 
gain on-site in accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5

http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/books/l143.htm


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
1990, including (a) submitting a Biodiversity Gain Plan that accords with the National 
Planning Practice Guidance and the approved BNG Assessment and Metric Tool; 
and (b) not operating prior to a completion report being agreed by the local planning 
authority. 
 
11) Wheel Washing 
 
Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent the 
deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. The developer is reminded 
that it is an offence to allow materials to be carried from the site and deposited on or 
damage the highway from uncleaned wheels or badly loaded vehicles. The Highway 
Authority will seek, wherever possible, to recover any expenses incurred in clearing, 
cleaning, or repairing highway surfaces and prosecutes persistent offenders 
(Sections 131, 148 and 149 of the Highways Act 1980). 
 
12) Design Works to the Highway 
 
The developer is advised that as part of the detailed design of the highway works 
required by the above condition(s), the County Highway Authority may require 
necessary accommodation works to street lights, road signs, road markings, highway 
drainage, surface covers, street trees, highway verges, highway surfaces, surface 
edge restraints and any other street furniture/equipment. 
 
13) Damage to Highway 
 
Section 59 of the Highways Act permits the Highway Authority to charge developers 
for damage caused by excessive weight and movements of vehicles to and from a 
site. The Highway Authority will pass on the cost of any excess repairs compared to 
normal maintenance costs to the applicant/organisation responsible for the damage. 
 
14) Safe Operation of Construction Traffic  
 
The applicant is expected to ensure the safe operation of all construction traffic to 
prevent unnecessary disturbance obstruction and inconvenience to other highway 
users. Care should be taken to ensure that the waiting, parking, loading and 
unloading of construction vehicles does not hinder the free flow of any carriageway, 
footway, bridleway, footpath, cycle route, right of way or private driveway or 
entrance. The developer is also expected to require their contractors to sign up to 
the "Considerate Constructors Scheme" Code of Practice, (www.ccscheme.org.uk) 
and to follow this throughout the period of construction within the site, and within 
adjacent areas such as on the adjoining public highway and other areas of public 
realm. 
 
15) Highway Infrastructure  
 
The applicant is advised that any alterations to existing highway infrastructure 
should be designed so there is no adverse effect on surface water flow routes and 
should not increase flood risk on or off site. It is possible to check the long-term flood 
risk on the following Government website www.gov.uk/check-long-term-flood-risk.  

Page 74

Agenda Item 5

http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/check-long-term-flood-risk


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
For further information please contact the Flood Risk, Planning and Consenting 
Team suds@surreycc.gov.uk 
 
16) Works to the Highway 
 
The permission hereby granted shall not be construed as authority to carry out any 
works (including Stats connections/diversions required by the development itself or 
the associated highway works) on the highway or any works that may affect a 
drainage channel/culvert or water course.  In instances where the applicant is not the 
Highway Authority the applicant is advised that a permit and, potentially, a Section 
278 agreement must be obtained from the Highway Authority before any works are 
carried out on any footway, footpath, carriageway, verge or other land forming part of 
the highway.   
 
All works (including Stats connections/diversions required by the development itself 
or the associated highway works)on the highway will require a permit and an 
application will need to submitted to the County Council's Street W orks Team up to 
3 months in advance of the intended start date, depending on the scale of the works 
proposed and the classification of the road. Please see 
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/permits-and-licences/traffic-
management-permit-scheme. The applicant is also advised that Consent may be 
required under Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991.Please see 
www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-and-community/emergency-planning-and- 
community-safety/flooding-advice. 
 
17) Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
 
It is the responsibility of the developer to ensure that the electricity supply is 
sufficient to meet future demands and that any power balancing technology is in 
place if required. Electric Vehicle Charging Points shall be provided in accordance 
with the Surrey County Council Vehicular, Cycle and Electric Vehicle Parking 
Guidance for New Development 2024. Where undercover parking areas (multi- 
storey car parks, basement or undercroft parking) are proposed, the developer and 
LPA should liaise with Building Control Teams and the Local Fire Service to 
understand any additional requirements. If an active connection costs on average 
more than £3600to install, the developer must provide cabling (defined as a ‘cabled 
route’ within the 2022 Building Regulations) and two formal quotes from the 
distribution network operator showing this. 
 
18) Electric Bike Charging Points 
 
It is the responsibility of the developer to provide e-bike charging points with socket 
timers to prevent them constantly drawing a current over night or for longer than 
required. Signage should be considered regarding damaged or shock impacted 
batteries, indicating that these should not be used/charged. The design of communal 
bike areas should consider fire spread and there should be detection in areas where 
charging takes place. With regard to an e-bike socket in [a domestic dwelling, the 
residence should have detection, and an official e-bike charger should be used. 
Guidance on detection can be found in BS 5839-6 for fire detection and fire alarm 
systems in both new and existing domestic premises / in non-domestic buildings the 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5

mailto:suds@surreycc.gov.uk
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/permits-and-licences/traffic-management-permit-scheme
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/permits-and-licences/traffic-management-permit-scheme
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-and-community/emergency-planning-and-
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-and-community/emergency-planning-and-


Planning Committee Planning Application 
Number: 25/00995/FUL 

 
26 February 2026  

 
premises should have detection, and an official e-bike charger should be used. 
Guidance on detection can be found in BS 5839-1 of the code of practice for 
designing, installing, commissioning, and maintaining fire detection and alarm 
systems in non-domestic buildings. 
 
19) Surface Water Flow Routes 
 
The applicant is advised that any alterations to existing highway infrastructure 
should be designed so there is no adverse effect on surface water flow routes and 
should not increase flood risk on or off site. It is possible to check the long-term flood 
risk on the following Government website www.gov.uk/check-long-term-flood-risk.  
 
20) Source Protection Zone Infiltration  
 
If proposed works result in infiltration of surface water to ground within a Source 
Protection Zone, the Environment Agency will require proof of surface water 
treatment to achieve water quality standards. 
 
21) Changes to the Approved Plans 
 
Should there be any change from the approved drawings during the build of the 
development, this may require a fresh planning application if the changes differ 
materially from the approved details. Non-material changes may be formalised by 
way of an application under s.96A Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
 
22) CIL Liable Development 
 
This form of development is considered liable for the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL). CIL is a non-negotiable charge on new developments which involve the 
creation of 100m2 or more of gross internal floorspace or involve the creation of a 
new dwelling, even when this is below 100m2. The levy is charged at £125/m2, 
index linked and is charged on the net additional floorspace generated by a 
development.  
 
The Liability Notice issued by Epsom and Ewell Borough Council will state the 
current chargeable amount. A revised Liability Notice will be issued if this amount 
changes. Anyone can formally assume liability to pay, but if no one does so then 
liability will rest with the landowner.  
 
A Commencement Notice must be submitted to the local planning authority prior to 
the commencement of development to ensure compliance with the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations. 
 
23) Legal Agreement 
 
This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement dated TBC, 
the obligations in which relate to this development. 
 
 

Page 76

Agenda Item 5

http://www.gov.uk/check-long-term-flood-risk


Planning Committee Upcoming Applications  
26 February 2026  

 

UPCOMING APPLICATIONS REPORT 
 

Report Summary of Applications Likely to be Heard at Planning 
Committee 

Period May 2026 

Author Simon Taylor, Head of Development Management and 
Planning Enforcement 

Date of Report 11/02/2026 

 

SUMMARY 
 
App No Address Proposal Reason Likely 

Meeting 

25/00368/
FUL 

Swail House, Ashley 
Road, Epsom 

48 dwellings Major app 21-May 

25/01483/
FUL 

Woodcote Stud, 
Wilmerhatch Lane, Epsom 

14 dwellings and 
aged care home 

Major app 21-May 

26/00002/
FUL 

South of Oak Glade, 
Epsom 

Residential care 
home 

Major app 21-May 

26/00057/
REM 

Epsom Grill, 3 Waterloo 
Road, Epsom 

Extension to trading 
hours 

Called in 21-May 

 

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 Farm View, Langley Vale Road, Epsom KT18 6AP 
 

Application Number 25/00846/OUT 

Application Type Full Planning Permission (Major) 

Address Farm View, Langley Vale Road, Epsom K18 6AP 

Ward  Woodcote and Langley Vale 

Proposal Outline application for up to 110 dwellings including 
affordable homes (all matters reserved except access 
from Langley Vale Road) 

Expiry Date 02 March 2026 

Recommendation Approval, subject to conditions and the completion of a 
satisfactory legal agreement (securing bus serve 
provision public infrastructure, EV car club, affordable 
housing, BNG, Open Space, Play Area and Landscape 
Management) 

Number of 
Submissions 

374 letters and an online petition with 2,097 signatures 
objecting to the scheme 

Reason for Committee Major development 

Case Officer Gemma Paterson, Development Management Team 
Leader  

Contact Officer Simon Taylor, Head of Development Management and 
Planning Enforcement 

Plans, Documents and 
Submissions 

Available at Farm View  

Glossary of Terms Found at the following link: Glossary of Terms 

 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 7

https://eplanning.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=SZL2NKGYHJX00
https://democracy.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13540&path=0


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

SUMMARY 

 
1. Summary and Recommendation 
 

1.1. The application is classified as a Major planning application and is 
referred to Planning Committee in accordance with Epsom and Ewell 
Borough Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 
 

1.2. The application seeks outline planning permission for the demolition of 
Farm View and the erection of a residential development of up to 110 
dwellings, including the provision of a new vehicular access of Langley 
Vale Road, 50% affordable homes, new public open space, play spaces 
and associated landscaping. All matters are reserved except access. 

 
1.3. The site comprises the curtilage of Farm View and 5.21 hectares of 

sloping agricultural land that forms part of Langley Bottom Farm.   
 

1.4. The site sits on the western slope of a valley, extending down towards the 
valley floor, with a change in level varying between 16-24 metres as the 
land falls away from the residential development of Langley Valle Village 
that abuts the north east/north west boundary of the site.   

 
1.5. The north west corner of the site adjoins Langley Vale Road and the south 

east corner abuts an areas of Ancient Woodland known as ‘The Warren’.    
To the south west of the of the site, beyond The Gallops, but not 
immediately adjoining, lies a residential development currently under 
construction for 20 new residential units that was allowed at appeal (Ref: 
APP/P3610/21/3280881). 
 

1.6. Vegetation within the site is limited to its perimeter and comprises 
intermittent trees and scrub along the north-east and eastern boundaries. 

 
1.7. The proposed development constitutes appropriate development of Grey 

Belt land in accordance with Annex 2 and paragraph 155 of the NPPF.  
The proposed development complies with the Golden Rules, in 
accordance with Paragraphs 156 and of the NPPF. The development is 
therefore not inappropriate development within the Green Belt.  

 
1.8. The proposed development would deliver up to 110 residential units, 

making a making a significant contribution to the delivery of the Council’s 
housing delivery targets. 
 

1.9. The proposed development would deliver 55 affordable units in a policy 
compliant tenure mix, including social rented, which is the Borough’s 
highest affordable housing need, and the low supply of which is a major 
contributing factor to homelessness in the Borough. 

 
1.10. The proposed development would deliver a total of 1.637 ha of publicly 

accessible communal open space with incorporated play areas for 

Page 80

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
unrestricted access to future residents and the general public. 

 
1.11. Although the site does not contain any listed structures and does not fall 

within a Conservation Area, the proposed development would cause less 
than substantial harm to the setting and significance of surrounding 
heritage assets. Notwithstanding this, although great weight has been 
given to the conservation of the affected designated heritage assets, this 
limited harm is outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme. 

 
1.12. The proposed development would increase the biodiversity value of the  

site, retaining existing ecological features and creating new biodiversity  
rich habitats, resulting in a biodiversity net gain of 33% for habitat units 
and 2745% for hedgerow habitats, which represents an excess gain 
significantly above the mandatory requirement of 10%.  

 
1.13. Subject to securing a Habitat Creation and Management Plan to secure 

compensation measures for the loss of arable field boundaries as a result 
of the proposed development on the adjoining field, the proposed 
development would result in an improvement on the current status of the 
SNCI for arable plants. 
 

1.14. Whilst the proposal would generate more pedestrian and vehicle 
movements onto the surrounding highway network, the County Highway 
Authority are satisfied that the these would not have a severe impact on 
the local highway network, taking into account all reasonable future 
scenarios.  

 
1.15. The County Highway Authority are satisfied that the additional vehicle trip 

generation associated with the proposed development would not generate 
a significant additional risk to equestrian safety in comparison to the 
existing situation.     

 
1.16. The County Highway Authority are satisfied that the proposed new access  

would provide safe and suitable access to the site and would not create 
any significant additional risk to either pedestrian or equestrian safety.  
Furthermore, the County Highway Authority are satisfied that the 
proposed access would not have an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe, taking into account all reasonable future scenarios. 

 
1.17. The proposed development would deliver a number of improvements to 

optimise the sustainability of the location, to help reduce the future 
reliance by residents on private vehicles. These include: 
 

 Financial contributions to fund an enhanced bus service for a period 
of five years 

 A financial contribution to fund a EV car club for three years, which 
would be accessible to future residents of the development and 
those within Langley Vale, along with free 3-year membership and 
£50 drive voucher for future residents of the proposed development 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 A financial contribution to deliver improvements to existing footpaths 
within Langley Vale including resurfacing and improved crossing 
facilities  

 Provision of cycle vouchers for occupiers of the new development 

 Improvements to the existing Grosvenor Road bus stop, to include a 
small scale bus shelter with seating, provision of real time bus 
information and the provision of a raised kerb to assist passengers 
embarking or disembarking from the bus 

 
1.18. The proposed development would result in the loss of 5.2ha best and 

most versatile subgrade 3a agricultural land, including as compensation 
for the loss of habitat within the SNCI. However, as a result of limited 
impact, this loss would have on the economic and food production 
benefits of this land and would not significantly erode the amount of BMV 
agricultural land available for agricultural purposes,  
 

1.19. The proposal would result in localised moderate adverse harm to the 
quality of the landscape character of the Area of Great Landscape Value 
(AGLV) and moderate adverse harm to identified receptors.   

 
1.20. The Council currently does not have a 5-year housing land supply. This 

means that the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
(paragraph 11 of the NPPF, also known colloquially as the ‘tilted balance’) 
is engaged, and that planning permission should be granted unless any 
adverse impacts significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the NPPF as a whole. 
 

1.21. Overall, whilst there are a limited number of adverse effects in respect of 
this application, these would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the multiple benefits when assessed against the policies in the Framework 
taken as a whole, or where specific policies in the Framework indicate the 
development should be restricted. 
 

PROPOSAL 

 
2. Description of Proposal 
 

2.1. The proposal involves outline planning permission (with all matters 
reserved except access) for: 
 

 Demolition of Farm View house  

 Erection of a residential development of up to 110 dwellings 

 New vehicular access of Langley Vale Road,  

 50% affordable homes,  

 New public open space, play spaces and associated landscaping 
 

2.2. If outline permission is granted, a condition to secure the ‘reserved 
matters’ is recommended.  The remaining ‘reserved matters’ 

Page 82

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
application(s) would secure details of the layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping of the proposed residential development.  
 

2.3. Notwithstanding this, an indicative perimeter plan has been submitted with 
the application which identifies the proposed land uses, including 
provision of new internal access roads, footpath/cycle links, public open 
space and local play areas, attenuation features for surface water 
drainage and soft landscaping. 

 
3. Key Information 
 

 Existing Proposed 

Site Area 5.21ha 

Units 1 110 

Density  N/A 20dph 

Affordable Units  N/A 55 

 

SITE 

 
4. Description 
 

4.1. The site comprises the curtilage of Farm View and 5.21 hectares of 
sloping agricultural land that forms part of Langley Bottom Farm.  
 

4.2. The site sites on the western slope of a valley, extending down towards 
the valley floor, with the change is land level varying between 16-24 
metres as the land falls awa from the residential development of Langley 
Valle Village that abuts the north east/north west boundary of the site.   

 
4.3. The north west corner of the site adjoins Langley Vale Road and the south 

east corner abuts an areas of Ancient Woodland known as ‘The Warren’.    
To the south west of the of the site but not immediately adjoining, beyond 
The Gallops, lies a residential development currently under construction 
for 20 new residential units that were allowed at appeal (Ref: 
APP/P3610/21/3280881). 
 

4.4. Vegetation within the site is limited to its perimeter and comprises 
intermittent trees and scrub along the north-east and eastern boundaries. 

 
5. Constraints 
 

 Green Belt 

 Area of Landscape Value 

 Langley Bottom Farm Site of Nature Conservation Interest  

 Adjacent to Ancient Woodland (The Warren) 

 Site of Special Scientific Interest Risk Area 

 Critical Drainage Area  

Page 83

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 Source Protection Area (Inner) 

 Flood Zone 1 

 Classified Road 
 

6. Planning History 
 

6.1. The following is relevant planning history relating to the site itself: 
 

App No. Description Status 

25/00733/SCR Screening Opinion pursuant to Regulation 6 (1) of 
the Town and Country Planning (Environmental 
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, as 
amended (the EIA Regulations), in relation to the 
proposed redevelopment at Langley Bottom Farm 
(the Application Site) 

Not EIA 
Development  
10.07.2025 

 
6.2. There is relevant planning history adjacent to the site that are material 

considerations in the assessment of this application:  
 

Langley Bottom Farm  
 

App No. Description Status 

24/00568/FUL Two storey 4 bedroom detached dwelling with 
car port and associated landscaping following 
demolition of existing derelict farm house  

Appeal 
Dismissed 
18.07.2025 
Refused 
25.07.2024 

20/00475/FUL Demolition of the existing buildings on the site 
and construction of twenty residential dwellings, 
of which eight (40%) would be affordable 
together with associated access, landscaping 
and parking. (Amended site location plan 
received 06.08.2020) 

Appeal 
Allowed 
14.07.2024 
Refused 
22.02.2021 

 
Mannamed House and Stable 

 

89/1372/0778 Erection of 34 three and four bedroom detached 
houses  

Appeal 
Allowed 
07. 01.1991 
Refused 
27.06.1990 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 84

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 

CONSULTATIONS 

 

Consultee Comments 

External Consultees 

Environment 
Agency 

No comments to make 

Natural England No objection  

Thames Water  No objection subject to conditions  

County Highway 
Authority  

Objection on the grounds that the site is an unsustainable 
location  

Lead Local Flood 
Authority  

No objection subject to conditions  

County 
Archaeologist  

No objection subject to conditions 

Surrey Crime 
Commissioner 

No objection subject to financial contribution  

Fire Safety Officer No objection subject to observations and informatives 

Reigate and 
Banstead 

No objection  

Internal Consultees 

Strategic Housing 
Officer  

No objection. The affordable housing tenure of 39 x rented 
and 16 x intermediate (shared ownership) is anticipated. 

Ecologist   No objection subject to condition 

Land 
Contamination 
Officer  

No objection subject to conditions  

Tree Officer  No objection subject to conditions  

Waste Officer  No comment to make 

 

Public Consultation 

Neighbours The application was advertised by means of a site notice dated 
29.07.2025, press notice, and notification to 227 neighbouring 
properties, concluding on 12 August 2025.  Following the 
submission of an Enhanced Sustainable Transport document during 
the assessment of this application, 548 third party consultees were 
reconsulted on the application on 28.10.2025. 
 
Not accounting for duplicate and anonymous correspondence, 374   
letters of objection and an online petition with 2,097 signatures 
objecting to the scheme have been received.  
 
The issues raised have been summarised below: 
 

Page 85

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

Prematurity and Local Plan Progression  
 

 Approving a major development before the adoption of a 
comprehensive spatial strategy undermines local democratic 
input  

 Premature given that alternative sites may be more suitable 

 The emerging Local Plan demonstrates a total of 3279 houses 
have been indicated for development in and around Epsom and 
the Langley Vale was not on this list. 

 Alternative Brownfield sites should be used first 
 

Officer Comment: The Epsom and Ewell Local Plan (2022-2040) 
contains a housing requirement for the Borough over the Local Plan 
period which is lower than the housing need generated by the 
national standard method. The Local Plan is currently at 
Examination stage, and the Council has recently undertaken 
additional work at the request of the appointed Planning Inspector. 
Prior to the local plan being adopted our housing need figure for the 
purposes of demonstrating a five-year land supply is that generated 
by the standard method. 
 
The housing requirement in the emerging local plan can be given 
very limited weight at this stage. 
 
Planning applications need to be determined in accordance with the 
adopted development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework is a material 
consideration in planning decisions.  
  
Agricultural Land  
 

 The site is part of a working farm and currently produces crops – 
we need fields to grow crops  

 The idea that this site is redundant agricultural land is not true. 
There is a great demand for land to be used for the grazing of 
horses. 

 
Officer Comment: This matter is addressed in Section 9.1 of this 
Agenda Report.  
 
Whilst agricultural land can be used for the grazing of horses, the 
NPPF requires an assessment for the loss of the agricultural land 
that is used for the purposes of growing agricultural and/or 
horticultural crops (as per the Natural England Guide to assessing 
development proposals on agricultural land) and not for alternative 
uses such as for the grazing of horses, which is an equestrian use.    
 
Green Belt  
 

Page 86

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 The proposal is inappropriate in the Green Belt and would harm 
its openness, purpose, and role in preventing urban sprawl. 

 Conflicts with Policy CS2 of Epsom and Ewell Core Strategy and 
Section 13 of NPPF  

 The Atkins Greenbelt Study May 2018 (Stage 2) commissioned 
by E&E Council clearly states that this parcel of land (ID3) should 
not be released from it's current Green Belt status 

 This project would cause irreversible harm to the Green Belt and 
set a dangerous precedent 

 
Officer Comment: This matter is discussed in Section 9.19-9.94 of 
this Agenda Report.  
 
Landscape 
 

 Irreversible loss of greenfield. 

 This development lies within an AGLV and would erode the 
intrinsic features behind its designation. Such loss cannot be 
mitigated by any development. 

 The Atkins Greenbelt Study May 2018 (Stage 2) commissioned 
by E&E Council clearly states that this parcel of land (ID3) that 
the land should remain as an AGLV. 

 The proposed development would have a significant adverse 
impact on Centenary Wood, which is of national importance 

 This development would irreversibly urbanise the area and 
damage its tranquil rural character. 

 Erosion of the enjoyment of recreation through loss of open 
space.  

 Destroying and Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty  
 

Officer Comment: This matter is discussed in Section 10 of this 
Agenda Report.  
 
The site is not within a nationally designated Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. The proposed development would not remove the 
local designation of the site as an Area of Great Landscape Vale.  

 
Trees  
 

 A 15m buffer to the Warren is totally inadequate a separation 
 
Officer Comment: This matter is discussed in Section 11 of this 
Agenda Report.  
 
Sustainability 
 

 Langley Vale lacks the infrastructure to sustainably accommodate 
a development of this scale 

Page 87

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 There is hardly any public transport to the village bus only runs 
every 2 hours and not after 7pm in the evenings and not on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

 The nearest train station is at least a 40-minute walk away across 
the Downs with no footpaths or street lighting. 

 Residents will need a car due to the poor bus routes. The buses 
stop early evening during the week, so if you work in Central 
London, you cannot get home without a long, unlit walk, and they 
don't run on Sundays so again, people will need cars. 

 There are no local shops except for a small shop within the petrol 
station which only sells the bare essentials, no doctors surgeries 
within walking distance or any other amenities. 

 The area has no health services no GP practice  

 There are insufficient Schools, Shops, Doctors and Dentists in 
the area already this will add an extra burden on this 
infrastructure 

 
Officer Comment: This matter is discussed in Section 9.48-9.60 of 
this Agenda Report.  
 
Character  
 

 The density of housing is disproportionate to the surrounding 
properties and would result in significant harm to the character 
and aesthetics of the local environment.  

 The character of the historic Downs area will be lost 

 The scale of the proposal is excessive and out of character with 
Langley Vale's semi-rural layout. 

 
Officer Comment: This matter is discussed in Sections 14 and 16 of 
this Agenda Report.  
 
Neighbouring Amenity  
 

 Overlooking and loss of privacy for neighbouring residents  

 The loss of open land would result in a significant reduction of 
natural light into the rear of neighbouring properties due to the 
proximity and height of the proposed houses. 

 The increase in vehicles and foot traffic would further raise noise 
levels and reduce the quiet, low-traffic environment we currently 
experience 

 Noise and pollution during construction and from future residents  

 Pollution will be increased with the need for increased transport 
either public or private 

 The increase in vehicles and foot traffic would further raise noise 
levels and reduce the quiet, low-traffic environment currently 
experienced 

 Internal roads would have street lights shining straight into the 
neighbouring properties  

Page 88

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 
Officer Comment: This matter is discussed in Section 17 of this 
Agenda Report.  
 
In the event outline planning permission is granted, street lighting 
would be subject of a reserved matters application and could be 
controlled by way of conditions. 
 
Highways 
 

 The traffic coming out of the village during rush hour is already 
often at a standstill and to add hundreds more cars would cause 
significant impact.  

 Langley Vale Road is full of dangerous potholes and traffic 
generation would make these worse 

 Langley Vale already has traffic problems and road safely issues 
as it is a major cut through to the M25, and the current situation is 
already unacceptable. 

 Langley Vale Road is narrow at points and would be 
overwhelmed with this extra traffic and cause serious safety 
issues for cyclists and horses. 

 Will disrupt use of a well-used bridleway 

 Road is not designed for such heavy traffic  

 The network of Bridleways traversing Epsom and Walton Down 
and is not safe for people on bikes and walkers to use this route 
when racehorses use this route between 6am and 12pm  

 A development of that size will also jeopardise the safety of local 
walkers and runners accessing the area for recreation. 
 

Officer Comment: This matter is discussed in Sections 18 of this 
Agenda Report.  
 
Ecology  
 

 The area supports protected species and rare habitats, which 
would be lost or severely disrupted, breaching local biodiversity 
strategies and statutory protections. 

 This development will destroy the habitat for many species in the 
area, causing many to die, be driven away or be put at risk of 
injury and death on the road 

 10% increase in biodiversity is not possible without introducing 
fauna not usually associated with Down land 

 The proposal makes no mention of animals using the current 
farmland such as bats, badgers and skylarks (a red listed 
species) 

 This is being considered as a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
 
Officer Comment: This matter is discussed in Section 19 of this 
Agenda Report.  

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 
Notwithstanding that there is no evidence to demonstrate that the 
site is being considered as a future nationally designated Site of 
Special Scientific Interest as part of a Natural England review, the 
site has been fully assessed under its current local designation as a 
Site of Nature Conservation Importance. 
 
Drainage and Flooding  
 

 Both the site and Langley Vale Road flood and this development 
would exacerbate this situation  

 
Officer Comment: This matter is discussed in Section 20 of this 
Agenda Report.  
 
Infrastructure  
 

 Langley Vale has a long history of water pressure and delivery 
problems 

 Proposal would create an extra demand on the water supply 

 Power cuts with the existing number of homes and the Internet 
providers are frequently off line due to poor signal in area 

 Police can't police what is here now let alone more housing 

 Pressure on the local amenities, including schools, hospitals, and 
medical centres. 

 Where are the children supposed to go to school, the existing 
school cannot support such a vast intake of families & their 
children 

 
Officer Comment: Issues relating to water and sewerage 
infrastructure are discussed in Section 22 of this Agenda Report.  
 
If outline permission is granted the proposal would secure CIL 
contributions to fund local infrastructure. 
 
Equestrian  
 

 Will impact the many racing yards that access The Downs via this 
route 

 The increasing volume of cars in the area will finalise the demise 
of racehorse training in Epsom 

 An increased footfall by the public during training times would 
further impact the ability to train horses professionally and safely. 

 Development would make it far more dangerous for horse and 
rider 

 The network of Bridleways traversing Epsom and Walton Down 
and is not safe for people on bikes and walkers to use this route 
when the racehorses use this route every morning between 6am 
and 12pm  

Page 90

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 Equestrians already have challenges with the traffic and getting 
their horses safely to the training tracks. More houses bordering 
the bridle path and more traffic makes their daily routines 
extremely difficult and particularly dangerous for the health and 
safety of the horses and jockeys. 

 
Officer Response: This matter is discussed in Section 18.56 – 18.63 
of this Agenda Report. 
 
The County Highway Authority are satisfied that the additional 
vehicle trip generation associated with the proposed development 
would not generate a significant additional risk to equestrian safety 
in comparison to the existing situation.     
 
There is no evidence to demonstrate that the additional footfall 
associated with the proposed development would result in danger to 
equestrian users. 
 
Other  
 

 Loss of tranquil views 

 110 houses, some affordable, being added, would have a greatly 
negative impact on property values 

 Affordable homes in area will negatively impact property values  

 Why was an Environmental Impact Assessment not been 
undertaken with this application. 

 Open space is important for mental health. Epsom Downs is a 
very important source for this. Many local people and a bit further 
away walk on the downs every day. The health aspect should 
also be taken into consideration 

 People travel from both far and near to enjoy the area therefore 
increasing local economic activity. Adding all these houses will 
turn people away from visiting the area, spending money and 
decrease the value of existing homes around it. 

 Concerns regarding whether the development will be constructed, 
given that the same landowners sold the site at Langley Bottom 
Farm to a developer who trimmed the dwelling designs to save 
costs and has since halted construction. 

 A development of that size will also jeopardise the safety of local 
walkers and runners accessing the area for recreation. 
 

Officer Comment: Loss of an existing view is not a material planning 
consideration in the assessment of this application. 
 
Loss of value to existing property, including the provision of 
affordable housing, is not a material planning consideration in the 
assessment of this application. 
 

Page 91

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

A Screening Opinion1 was submitted prior to the submission of this 
outline application, which contains a robust assessment as to 
conclusion that the proposed development was did not meet the 
development. 
 
Whilst the proposal would result in the loss of an inaccessible open 
field, it would provide additional, open space that can be accessed 
by all members of the public for health aspects. Furthermore, the 
Downs would remain accessible for recreational purposes as a 
result of the proposed development.  
 
There is no evidence to support the proposed development creating 
a negative impact on local economic activity.  
 
There is no evidence to support the proposed development 
jeopardising the safety of local walkers and runners accessing the 
area for recreation.  The proposal would provide publicly assessable 
open space that can be accessed for health aspects. 
 
It would not be reasonable to refuse the application based upon the 
current construction status of the development at the adjoining 
Langley Bottom Farm site.  

Jockey Club Objection. See Appendix 1. Key concerns include: 
 

 Impact on Epsom Downs Racecourse 
 
Officer comment: Officers wholly recognise the national importance 
of the Epsom Down Racecourses and that it contributes to the 
Borough both historically and economically.   The existing training 
grounds have  operated for many decades alongside a range of 
local traffic conditions and there is no substantive evidence to 
demonstrate that the forecasted traffic generation associated with 
the proposed development would threaten the sustainability of the 
horse racing industry at Epsom & Walton Downs. 
 

 Equestrian Safety 
 
Officer comment: Whilst it is recognised that the proposed 
development would increase traffic generation on the surrounding 
highway network, the increase in traffic generation would represent 
a 4% increase over the existing traffic movements in both the AM 
and PM peak.   Whilst representing an increase in traffic movements 
over the existing road usage, this would not be representative of a 
‘considerable’ increase. 
 
The County Highway Authority has reviewed the contents of the 
supporting Transport Assessment and is satisfied that the 
supporting existing traffic and equestrian movements surveys are 

                                            
1 25/00733/SCR Development Site at Langley Bottom Farm, Langley Vale 

Page 92

Agenda Item 7

https://eplanning.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=SY3O26GY0IU00


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

acceptable in scope and methodology for the purpose of assessing 
the impact of the proposed development upon the surrounding 
highway network.   Although the equestrian survey was conducted 
over a single day, this is a standard and widely accepted approach 
in transport planning as a representative snapshot of existing 
conditions.   There is also no evidence to suggest that a single‑day 
survey in this context would produce distorted or unreliable results. 
Similarly, the junction assessment is also appropriate in scope and 
methodology, as there was no clear evidence of material impact on 
any existing junctions beyond the site’s proposed access point.  The 
projected increase in traffic generation would be within the capacity 
of the existing network and does not warrant a wider geographical 
survey.   
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that equestrian movements occur outside 
of peak hours, the focus on AM and PM peak hours within the 
existing traffic surveys and the future traffic generation surveys are 
also appropriate, as the purpose of these assessments is to 
understand the impact of the proposed development upon the 
existing road networks at times of highest vehicle demand.  
Although Officers acknowledge that racehorses have particular 
sensitives, the evidence within the TA demonstrates that additional 
increase in traffic movements associated with the proposed 
development would not generate a significant additional risk to 
equestrian safety in comparison to the existing situation and this has 
been concurred with by the County Highway Authority. 
  

 Bridleway 127 
 
Officer comment: Bridleways routinely accommodate mixed users 
and there is no historical evidence to suggest that the bridleway 
currently operates at or near a point of conflict, nor to substantiate 
the objection that  the pedestrian increase as a result of the 
proposed development would exceed its safe capacity.  
 
There is no evidence to suggest that the long‑term sustainability of 
the Training Grounds is dependent on maintaining the bridleway at 
its current pedestrian usage level.  
 

 Highway Improvements 
 
Officer comment: It is noted that the Jocky Club have requested 
that, should the Council be minded to approve the application, the 
equestrian safety concerns could be partly resolved, by upgrading 
the existing footpath in this location to a bridleway with fencing 
alongside to further increase equestrian safety.   This was discussed 
with the applicant and the County Highway Authority, but it was 
demonstrated that this would not be technically viable.   
   

Page 93

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

The request for highways warning signs either above or below 
Langley Vale to warn motorists of potential horses in the road is 
within the remit for Surrey County Council Highway Authority. 

Epsom and 
Walton 
Training 
Grounds 
Manage-
ment Board 
Limited  

Objection. Key concerns include:  
 

 Equestrian Safety Risks of Racehorses 
 
Unlike domestic riding horses, racehorses are highly sensitive and 
easily startled. A marked increase in vehicular traffic and pedestrian 
movement near training routes would create dangerous conditions, 
increasing the risk of accidents.  Bridleway 127 is a vital link for 
Epsom trainers, enabling safe access to and from the training 
grounds. Compromising its safety would directly affect trainers’ 
ability to operate and could irreparably harm their businesses and 
livelihoods.  
 

 Operational and Economic Impact 
 
The Epsom Training Grounds currently support 10 racehorse 
trainers and approximately 150 racehorses in training. Any reduction 
in safe operational capacity would disincentivise use of the grounds, 
undermining their long-term viability. Loss of trainer participation 
would not only damage the local equine economy but also threaten 
the sustainable management of the Downs.  
 

 Long-Term Heritage and Community Consequences 
  
The Epsom Training Grounds are of historic and cultural importance, 
forming a core part of the UK’s horse racing heritage. This 
development risks irreversible harm to a long-established industry 
that contributes significantly to both the local community and the 
national sporting landscape. 
 
Officer Comment: The objections of the Epsom and Walton Training 
Grounds Management Board Limited are similar to those raised by 
the Jocky Club as addressed above.  

Local 
Member of 
Parliament  

Comment was received stating that they would like to ensure that 
objections and concerns raised by constituents are taken fully into 
account in consideration of application 25/00846/OUT. 

Councillor 
McCormick  

Objection raised.  
 

 Is in an unsustainable location, which is part of the reason why 
this site is not included in the emerging local plan spatial strategy.  

 
Officer comment: This matter is discussed in Section 9.48-9.60 of 
this Agenda Report.  
 

Page 94

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 The adverse visual impact, the impact on the character of the 
area, and the adverse impact on the openness of the landscape 
should weigh heavily against approving this application.  

 
Officer comment: Landscape and visual impacts weigh in the 
planning balance, at Section 26 of this Agenda Report.   
 

 The development would have a large adverse impact on the four 
horse race trainers on this side of the Epsom Downs training 
area. It is highly likely that these 4 trainers may consider leaving 
the area altogether, which would see our trainers reduce by 40% 
in one fell swoop.  

 The Economic Impact Assessment report produced by the 
Jockey Club recently shows there is a £63m+ contribution to the 
Epsom & Ewell area from the Racing Industry and associated 
employment and businesses. Having 40% of our trainers leave 
the area because of this development would be catastrophic and 
likely kill the training grounds for good.  

 The traffic report suggests the minimal impact would occur from 
the additional 220+ cars in the area (assuming 2 cars per 
household). The reality is that the area is gridlocked. 

 The traffic report fails to consider the new housing development 
in Mole Valley at Headley Court and a recent permission for an 
extra 200+ houses  

 
Officer comment: The County Highway Authority are satisfied that 
the additional vehicle trip generation associated with the proposed 
development would not generate a significant additional risk to 
equestrian safety in comparison to the existing situation. This 
includes cumulative impacts of surrounding developments and 
approvals.  
 
By extension, there is no evidence to suggest that in the absence of 
any harm, that trainers will then chose to relocate from the area. 
 
Remaining highways matter are discussed in Section 18 of this 
Agenda Report. 
 

 Badgers, deer, bats, birds, and many more frequent the Downs. 
The addition of street lighting for this development would cause 
issues 

 
Officer comment: The above matters are discussed in Section 19 of 
this Agenda Report. 

Councillor 
Froud 

Objection. 
 

 Site was left out of the local plan as it is unsustainable 

 Parents will not walk via the woodland to school and Tattenham 
Corner Station to commute.  

Page 95

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 We should not be encouraging cyclists to commute across the 
Downs during race horse training hours and we should not be 
increasing traffic at all around the training yards. 

 
Officer comment: The matters highlighted above are discussed in 
Section 10 of the Agenda Report. 
 

 Woodland Trust are doing a great job in keeping wildlife 
corridors open as is the tenant farmer in farming this land 

 
Officer comment: Ecology matters are discussed in Section 19 of the 
Agenda Report. 
 

 These dwellings will not help our residents on our housing list 
and even shared ownership is not affordable to most.  

 
Officer comment: Affordable housing is discussed in Section 15 of 
this Agenda Report 

Councillor 
Spickett 

To take into consideration the following when assessing the 
application: 
 

 Improved Habitat Management  
 
Restore and maintain this chalk grassland through appropriate, 
consistent management to maintain the characteristic short turf 
needed by chalk grassland species. Access to expert management 
advice and tailor techniques to the site's specific needs 
 

 Enhance Biodiversity  
 
Epsom Downs already supports specialised chalk flora and fauna. 
Mapping species, identifying specialist needs and restoring the 
habitat will help to increase populations of scarce butterflies like the 
small blue, grizzled skipper or chalkhill blue; improve conditions for 
orchids and other chalk specialists. It can protect reptiles and 
invertebrates through improved vegetation structure. This would 
strengthen Epsom Downs as a regional biodiversity hotspot! 
 
Officer comment: The above matters are discussed in Section 19 of 
this Agenda Report. 

Langley 
Vale Action 
Group  

Objection: See Appendix 2. 
 
Officer Comment: The objections highlighted in the submission are 
discussed within the relevant sections of the Agenda Report. 

CRPE  Objection. 
 

 The site is an AGLV - not an Area of Landscape Value as 
claimed by the developer’s representatives.  

Page 96

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 It would represent the first significant incursion into the Green 
Belt and would create a precedent for the future.  

 The proposal would quite evidently result in incursion into the 
countryside, one of the five criteria for protecting Green Belt.  

 The site is not included in the Council’s draft Local Plan.  

 Epsom and Ewell’s 2022 Land Availability Assessment states 
that “exceptional circumstances would need to be demonstrated 
for the site to be considered suitable” for homes. 

 

 Would result in the loss of good agricultural land and a 
diminution of biodiversity.  

 

 The unsustainable nature of the application site is of particular 
concern. The adjacent housing in Langley Vale has particularly 
high car ownership levels because of the lack of local facilities 
and the poor public transport 

 Cycling would require the use of the existing road network which 
is congested and hazardous 

 The existing access locally to buses is very limited  

 The proposals to improve public transport are unrealistic.  

 Car clubs do not last.  

 Developments such as this increase our dependency on 
hydrocarbons which contribute to climate change. 

 
Officer Comment: The above matters are discussed in Section 9 of 
this Agenda Report. 
 

 There would be conflicts between residents and horses, both 
those in training and those used for recreational purposes. No 
analysis appears to have been submitted. 

 The provision of a third access from Langley Vale Road within a 
short distance and close to a bend would represent an 
additional road safety hazard 

 
Officer Comment: The above matters are discussed in Section 18 of 
this Agenda Report. 
 

Woodland 
Trust  

Objection. See Appendix 3 
 

 Landscape and Woodland Impacts  
 
The supporting Parameters Plan identifies a 15 metre buffer from 
the Ancient Woodland, which meets Natural England requirements.  
 

 Site Design Requirements  
 
Officer comment: The proposed development would exceed a 20% 
biodiversity net gain and the Council’s Tree Officer is satisfied that 
the trees identified for removal as a result of the proposed 

Page 97

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

development can  be appropriately mitigated for with replacement 
tree planting. 
 

 Impact on Langley Vale Wood  
 
Officer comment: It is noted that the Woodlands Trust have 
requested that, should the Council be minded to approve the 
application, the applicant should be required to borne costs 
associated with any on site management, maintenance and signage 
requirements associated with the additional footfall upon the 
proposed development.  
 
It is noted that the Woodlands Trust actively encourages a wide 
range of visitors to Langley Vale Wood and it has not been 
demonstrated that the potential footfall associated with the proposed 
development would exceed existing capacity of the leisure site or 
generate identifiable new costs.  The request would not meet the 
planning obligations test and cannot reasonably be imposed.   
 
Thames Water is satisfied that there is capacity to serve the site with 
water, although they have requested a condition to secure water 
infrastructure.  Woodlands Trust request for the applicant to provide 
a water connection on their site is unrelated to the impact 
development impact, would not meet the planning obligations test 
and cannot reasonably be imposed.  

Epsom Civic 
Society  
 

Objection. 
 

 Whilst there is a lack of 5 year housing supply, this does not 
mean all new housing applications should be granted 

 The site cannot be regarded as Grey Belt land 

 The site is high performing green belt land as indicated in the 
2024 Green Belt review. It was given an AAA assessment 
rating. 

 Within the recent Local Plan Reg.19 submission, the inclusion of 
existing green belt land was considered a necessity to meet 
required housing targets. That process did not include this site  

 The AAA green belt rating which is logical given its closeness to 
Epsom and Walton Downs to the north and east and to the 
Surrey Hill ANOB to the south. 

 

 This site to good agricultural land with a potential to be more 
intensively farmed, something which should be promoted to 
lessen reliance on imported food produce. 

 
Officer Comment: The above matters are discussed in Section 9 of 
this Agenda Report. 

West Surrey 
Badger 
Group  

Objection.   
 
Further badger surveys need to be carried out. 

Page 98

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 
Officer Comment: In the event outline permission is granted, this 
would be subject to a condition to secure a badger monitoring 
survey prior to the commencement of any development on site. This 
would not be prohibitive to the delivery of the application. Refer to 
Section 19 of this Agenda Report.  

 

PLANNING LEGISLATION, POLICY, AND GUIDANCE 

 
7. Planning Policy 
 

7.1. National Planning Policy Framework 2024 (NPPF) 
 

 Section 2: Achieving Sustainable Development 

 Section 4: Decision-Making 

 Section 5: Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes 

 Section 8: Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities 

 Section 9: Promoting Sustainable Transport 

 Section 12: Achieving Well-Designed and Beautiful Places 

 Section 13: Protecting Green Belt Land 

 Section 14: Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and 
Coastal Change 

 Section 15: Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment 

 Section 16: Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment 
 

7.2. Epsom and Ewell Core Strategy 2007 (CS) 
 

 Policy CS1: Sustainable Development 

 Policy CS2: Green Belt 

 Policy CS3: Biodiversity and Designated Nature Conservation Areas 

 Policy CS4: Open Spaces and Green Infrastructure 

 Policy CS5: The Built Environment 

 Policy CS6: Sustainability in New Development 

 Policy CS7: Housing Provision 

 Policy CS9: Affordable Housing and Meeting Housing Needs 

 Policy CS16: Managing Transport and Travel 
 

7.3. Epsom and Ewell Development Management Policies Document 
2015 (DMPD) 
 

 Policy DM1: Extent of the Green Belt 

 Policy DM4: Biodiversity and New Development 

 Policy DM5: Trees and Landscape 

 Policy DM6: Open Space Provision 

 Policy DM7: Footpath, Cycle and Bridleway Network 

 Policy DM9: Townscape Character and Local Distinctiveness 

 Policy DM10: Design Requirements for New Developments 

 Policy DM11: Housing Density 

Page 99

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 Policy DM12: Housing Standards 

 Policy DM17: Contaminated Land 

 Policy DM19: Development and Flood Risk 

 Policy DM21: Meeting Local Housing Needs 

 Policy DM22: Housing Mix 

 Policy DM35: Transport and New Development 

 Policy DM36: Sustainable Transport for New Development 

 Policy DM37: Parking Standards 
 

7.4. Emerging Local Plan 
 

7.5. It is acknowledged that there are a range of draft policies within the 
emerging Local Plan that, whilst may be relevant to this application, they 
are presently considered to have limited weight, given that the Plan is 
currently at examination stage and not as yet adopted.  

 
7.6. Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance 

 

 Parking Standards for Residential Development Supplementary 
Planning Document 2015 

 Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Document 2016 
 

7.7. Other Documentation 
 

 Surrey Transport Plan 2022–2032 

 Surrey County Council Vehicular, Electric Vehicle and Cycle Parking  

 Guidance for New Developments 2023 

 Surrey County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4) 

 Natural England Guide to Assessing Development Proposals on 
Agricultural Land 2021 

 

PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 
8. Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 
8.1. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF 2024 stipulates that development proposals 

which accord with an up-to-date development plan should be approved 
and where a proposal conflicts with an up-to-date development plan, 
permission should not usually be granted. Currently, the Council does not 
have an up-to-date development plan on account of not being able to 
demonstrate a five-year supply of housing. 
 

8.2. Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged where the Council’s policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date. 
The practical application and consequence of this is that unless the site is 
in an area or affects an asset of particular importance that provides a 
clear reason for refusal, then permission must be granted unless it can be 
demonstrated that any adverse impacts would significantly and 

Page 100

Agenda Item 7

http://www.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/residents/planning/planning-policy/Revised%20Sustainable%20Design%20Guide%20Final%20Version%20February%202016.pdf


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the NPPF as 
a whole. 

 
 
 
 
9. Principle of Development 

 
9.1. Loss of Agricultural Land  

 
9.2. Paragraph 187(b) of the NPPF states that the planning decisions should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by  
recognising the economic and other benefits of the best and most 
versatile (BMV) agricultural land. 

 
9.3. Agricultural land is graded between 1 and 5. The principal physical factors 

influencing grading are climate, site, and soil which, together with 
interactions between them.  

 
9.4. Gradings of 1, 2 3 and subgrade 3a are the BMV agricultural land that 

should be retained. Grade 1 land is excellent quality agricultural land with 
very minor or no limitations to agricultural use. Grade 3a is land capable 
of consistently producing moderate to high yields of a narrow range of 
arable crops.  

 
9.5. Footnote 65 of the NPPF advises that where significant development of 

agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, areas of poorer quality 
land should be preferred to those of a higher quality. 

 
9.6. There is no definition within Annex 2 of the NPPF that defines ‘significant 

development of agricultural land’ 
 

9.7. However, Natural England’s Guide to Assessing Development Proposals 
on Agricultural Land 2021 advises that Natural England must be consulted 
on developments that (inter alia) are likely to cause the loss (or likely 
cumulative loss) of 20ha or more of BMV agricultural land. 

 
9.8. It is therefore not unreasonable to conclude that significant development 

of agricultural land can be defined in a quantum manner as development 
that would result in the loss (or likely cumulative loss) of 20ha or more of 
BMV agricultural land. 

 
9.9. Given the scale of the land assessed, Officers are satisfied that the 

proposed development would not be significant development of 
agricultural land for the purposes of footnote 65 of the NPPF.   

 
9.10. It is recognised that paragraph 187 of the NPPF does not preclude 

development of BMV agricultural land, requiring only that the economic 
advantages and other benefits of BMV agricultural land are recognised.   

 

Page 101

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
9.11. The Natural England guide advises that Local Planning Authorities should 

use supporting Agricultural Land Classification survey data to assess the 
loss of land or quality of land from a proposed development, taking into 
account smaller losses (under 20ha) if they’re significant when making a 
decision.  

 
9.12. The application is supported by an Agricultural Land Classification and 

Considerations Report, prepared by Kernon and dated December 2025. 
The report considers the agricultural land quality of the site and the field 
adjacent to the south east, comprising a total of 10.4ha of agricultural 
land. The report identifies the methodology used to inform the detailed 
assessment and Officers are satisfied that the methodology outlined in the 
report broadly meets the survey requirements set out in paragraph 6.3 of 
the above mentioned Natural England Guidance. 

 
9.13. The report concludes that the land assessed is a mixture of Grade 3a and 

3b. It is calculated that of the 5.2ha of the land is subgrade 3a agricultural 
land (50%), 5.1ha is subgrade 3b land (49%) and 0.1 ha is non-
agricultural land.  

 
9.14. The report identifies that the distribution of the BMV agricultural land 

Subgrade 3a, is complex, with the 5.2 ha divided into two parcels on the 
eastern and western sides of the field, with the central area comprising 
land of poorer quality. 

 

                         
Extract from Agricultural Land Classification and Considerations Report, prepared by Kernon and dated 
December 2025. 

 

9.15. The report also confirms that whilst the assessed area contains different 
quality of land, these are not farmed any differently from each other.  
 

9.16. The report contains a high level economic assessment of the Subgrade 
BMV agricultural land, concluding that the economic benefits associated 

Page 102

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
with the farming of the land to be limited and the food production 
negligible. Officers consider this conclusion to be reasonable, given the 
scale of the parcel of land and the distribution of the different grading of 
the agricultural land on the site.  

 
9.17. Furthermore, the report sets out that the agricultural land surrounding the 

site is of similar quality, therefore the loss of the BMV agricultural land 
associated with the site would not significantly erode the amount of BMV 
agricultural land available for agricultural purposes in the surrounding area 
nor would there be any poorer quality land to be considered in preference 
for the proposed development. 

 
9.18. Notwithstanding the above, the loss of 5.2ha subgrade 3a land as a result 

of the proposed development would be an adverse impact of the scheme 
to be weighted in the planning balance. 

 
9.19. Green Belt  
 
9.20. The site lies within Green Belt. The Government attaches great 

importance to Green Belts, with the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy 
being to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the 
essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence. 

 
9.21. Paragraph 143 of the NPPF states that Green Belt serves five purposes:  

 
a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;  
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;  
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;  
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and  
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of 

derelict and other urban land. 
 
9.22. Paragraph 153 of the NPPF, reinforced in Policy CS2 of the CS, states 

that substantial weight must be given to any harm to the Green Belt, 
including harm to its openness and that that inappropriate development is, 
by definition, is harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved 
except in very special circumstances.  

 
9.23. Footnote 55 to the NPPF sets out that if development is considered to be 

not inappropriate development on previously developed land or grey belt, 
then this is excluded from the policy requirement to give substantial 
weight to any harm to the Green Belt, including to its openness. 

 
9.24. Paragraph 153 of the NPPF further states that Inappropriate development 

is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved 
except in very special circumstances. It adds that very special 
circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the 
proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

Page 103

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/13-protecting-green-belt-land#footnote55


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 

9.25. Paragraph 154 of the NPPF sets out a limited number of exceptions to 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt.   

 
9.26. Paragraph 155 of the NPPF sets out that the development of homes, 

commercial and other development in the Green Belt should also not be 
regarded as inappropriate where all the following apply: 

 
a. The development would utilise grey belt land and would not 

fundamentally 
undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt 
across the area of the plan; 

b. There is a demonstrable unmet need for the type of development 
proposed; 

c. The development would be in a sustainable location, with particular 
reference to paragraphs 110 and 115 of this Framework; and  

d. Where applicable the development proposed meets the ‘Golden 
Rules’ 
requirements set out in paragraphs 156-157. 

 
9.27. Criterion (b) of paragraph 155 is subject to footnote 56 of the NPPF which 

sets out (inter alia) in the case of applications involving the provision of 
housing, demonstrable unmet need for the type of development proposed 
means the lack of a five year supply of deliverable housing sites, including 
the relevant buffer where applicable 
 

9.28. Policy CS2 of the CS protects the Green Belts key functions, seeks to 
maintain its existing general extent and, within its boundaries, ensure that 
strict control will continue to be exercised over inappropriate development 
as defined by Government policy. 

 
9.29. Exceptions  

 
9.30. The proposed development would not meet any of the exceptions listed in 

paragraph 154 of the NPPF. 
 

9.31. Grey Belt  
 

9.32. Annex 2 of the NPPF defines ‘grey belt’ as land in the Green Belt 
comprising previously developed land and/or any other land that, in either 
case, does not strongly contribute to any of purposes (a), (b), or (d) in 
paragraph 143 of the NPPF, and excludes land where the application of 
the policies relating to the areas or assets in footnote 7 (other than Green 
Belt) would provide a strong reason for refusing or restricting 
development. 
 

9.33. Purpose (a) of Green Belt relates to the sprawl of large built up areas, 
purpose (b) prevents the coalescence of towns and purpose (d) preserves 
the setting and special character of historic towns.   
 

Page 104

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
9.34. The Council has a published Green Belt Study Update November 2024 

where the site has is assessed these against purpose (a) and (b) of the 
Green Belt. The assessment concludes that the site performs moderately 
against purpose (a) and performing low against purpose (b). 
 

9.35. The study was undertaken and published before the revised December 
2024 version of the NPPF which introduced ‘grey belt’ and the subsequent 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) for Green Belt published February 
2025. The following assessment has been assessed against the latest 
PPG. 

 
       Purpose (a)  - to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas 

 
9.36. The PPG advises that villages should not be considered large built up 

areas.  As Langley Vale is a village, the site cannot strongly contribute to 
Green Belt purpose (a) of paragraph 143 of the NPPF. 

 
       Purpose (b) to prevent the coalescence of towns 
 

9.37. The site does not form part of a gap between towns and cannot strongly 
contribute to Green Belt purpose (b).  

 
       Purpose (d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns  
 

9.38. The site does not form part of the setting of a historic town and cannot 
strongly contribute to Green Belt purpose (d).  
 

9.39. Consideration is given to whether there are any protected assets in 
footnote 7 (other than Green Belt) that would provide a strong reason for 
refusing or restricting development. Whilst designated heritage assets are 
considered a protected asset in footnote 7, as assessed later in this 
report, Officers are satisfied that heritage harm would not be a strong 
reason for the refusal of this application. 

 
9.40. There is some contradictions in recent appeals as to whether limited 

heritage harm would form a strong reason for restricting development and 
therefore the appeal site would meet the definition of grey belt. Clarity has 
recently been given in High Court2, and this is provided by the removal 
any reference to footnote 7 in the definition of Grey Belt in the consultation 
draft of the NPPF (December 2025) and the following rationale within the 
accompanying consultation document:  

 
‘A change is proposed to the definition of ‘grey belt’ to remove reference 
to other ‘Footnote 7’ areas. This reference was originally included to 
ensure that our grey belt policy reforms did not undermine the protection 
given to these areas. However, this reference meant that grey belt can 
only be provisionally identified before considering the impact of specific 
development proposals, which could make it more difficult to accurately 

                                            
2 Wrotham PC v SSHCLG, 

Page 105

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
identify grey belt. It could also apply additional layers of protection to 
these areas within a Green Belt context, which is unnecessary. 
  
Our revised definition seeks to enable grey belt to be identified with 
greater certainty, whilst continuing to ensure that these areas receive the 
same level of protection as elsewhere in the Framework’ 

 
9.41. On account of the above, it is clear that Footnote 7 should not be applied.  

 
9.42. Grey Belt Conclusion  

 
9.43. Officers are satisfied that the site would meet the definition of grey belt as 

outlined in Annex 2 of the NPPF. 
 

9.44. Paragraph 155 of the NPPF  
 

9.45. Paragraph 155 of the NPPF states that the development homes should be 
regarded as not inappropriate where the following apply: 

 
(a) development would utilise Grey Belt land and would not fundamentally 
undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt 
across the area of the plan;  

 
9.46. In considered the above, the PPG advises that authorities should consider 

whether, or the extent to which, the release or development of Green Belt 
land would affect the ability of all the remaining Green Belt across the 
area of the plan from serving all five of the Green Belt purposes in a 
meaningful way. 
 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council's Green Belt encompasses roughly 
43% of the Borough's land.  Although the proposed development would 
cause harm to openness and impact on Green Belt purpose (c) regarding 
assisting in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment, this would 
not fundamentally undermine the ability of the remaining Green Belt land 
across the area of the plans from meeting all five of the Green Belt 
purposes in a meaningful way. The proposal would therefore meet 
criterion (a) of paragraph 155 of the NPPF.  

 
(b) there is a demonstrable need for the type of development proposed;  

 
9.47. The Council cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of housing, with the 

Council’s Authority Monitoring Report 2024 - 2025 concluding a housing 
land supply equivalent to about 1.49-1.53 years, demonstrating a 
significant shortfall in future supply. Consequently, for the purposes of 
criterion (b) of paragraph 155 of the NPPF, there is a demonstrable unmet 
need for the type of development proposed. 

 
(c) the development would be in a sustainable location with particular 
refence to paragraph 110 and 115 of the NPPF;  

 

Page 106

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
9.48. Paragraph 110 of NPPF encourages significant development to be 

focused on locations which are, or can be made, sustainable through 
limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport 
modes, although recognising that opportunities to maximise sustainable 
transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas, and this 
should be taken into account in decision-making. 
 

9.49. Paragraph 115 of NPPF requires applications for new development to 
ensure that  
 
a) sustainable transport modes are prioritised taking account of the 

vision for the site, the type of development and its location; 
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; 
c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the 

content of associated standards reflects current national guidance, 
including the National Design Guide and the National Model Design 
Code; and 

d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network 
(in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be 
cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree through a vision-led 
approach  

 
9.50. On 14 July 2022, planning permission was granted on appeal3 on the 

adjoining site (Langley Bottom Farm) for 20 residential units. This appeal 
site lies to the south of the application site and is lies further from Langley 
Vale.   

 
9.51. On of the main issues considered by the Inspector in that appeal was 

whether the site was in a sustainable location. The Inspector found that 
whilst the development at the appeal site would not be significant 
development, it would provide opportunities for residents to take up 
sustainable transport modes, which is the essential element of paragraph 
110 of the NPPF.  

 
9.52. On 18 July 2025, an appeal4 was dismissed for a single dwelling at 

Langley Bottom Farm.  In considering whether the appeal site was in 
sustainable location, the Inspector concluded that given the evidence 
before them, including the appeal decision for Langley Bottom Farm, the 
appeal site would be in a sustainable location.   

 
9.53. It is well established that previous appeal decision(s) can amount to a 

material consideration in the determination of like cases, an officers must 
consider the materiality of that previous decision, and in particular the 
Inspector’s conclusion the adjoining site is sustainable.  

 
9.54. The current application proposes the same kind of development, in 

broadly the same location under the same local planning policy framework 

                                            
3 APP/P3610/W/21/3280881 – Langley Bottom Farm, Langley Vale Road, Epsom, Surrey, KT18 6AP  
4 APP/P3610/W/25/3359376 – Langley Bottom Farm, Epsom, Surrey, KT18 6AP 

Page 107

Agenda Item 7

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3280881
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3359376


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
and substantially the same National planning policy framework, save that 
Green Belt policy has been relaxed by the introduction of Grey Belt which 
serves to advance a strong emphasis on the increased delivery of housing  

 
9.55. The   significance of these facts is that in North Wiltshire District Council v 

Secretary of State for the Environment and Clover (1993) 65 P. & C.R. 
137 the Court of Appeal held:- 

 
‘It was not disputed in argument that a previous appeal decision is 
capable of being a material consideration. The proposition is in my 
judgment indisputable. One important reason why previous decisions are 
capable of being material is that like cases should be decided in a like 
manner so that: there is consistency in the appellate process. Consistency 
is self-evidently important to both developers and development control 
authorities. But it is also important for the purpose of securing public 
confidence in the operation of the development control system. I do not 
suggest and it would be wrong to do so, that like cases must be decided 
alike. An inspector must always exercise his own judgment. He is 
therefore free upon consideration to disagree with the judgment of another 
but before doing so he ought to have regard to the importance of 
consistency and to give his reasons for departure from the previous 
decision.  
 
To state that like cases should be decided alike presupposes that the 
earlier case is alike and is not distinguishable in some relevant respect. If 
it is distinguishable then it usually will lack materiality by reference to 
consistency although it may be material in some other way. Where it is 
indistinguishable then ordinarily it must be a material consideration. A 
practical test for the inspector is to ask himself whether, if I decide this 
case in a particular way am I necessarily agreeing or disagreeing with 
some critical aspect of the decision in the previous case? The areas for 
possible agreement or disagreement cannot be defined but they would 
include interpretation of policies, aesthetic judgments and assessment of 
need. Where there is disagreement then the inspector must weigh the 
previous decision and give his reasons for departure from it. These can on 
occasion be short, for example in the case of disagreement on aesthetics. 
On other occasions they may have to be elaborate." 

 
9.56. The current proposal is significantly larger than those considered in the 

two recent planning appeals. However, this distinguishing feature does 
not directly impact on the underlying sustainability of the location. On that 
basis, the previous appeal decisions are material considerations in the 
determination of this application. The weight to be given to this material 
consideration is a matter for the decision maker. However, if the Council 
wishes to depart from the approach of the previous inspectors it must give 
reasons for doing so.    

 
9.57. Against that background, Officers note  the previous Inspectors findings 

on the sustainability of the location are not expressly contingent on the 
scale of the developments.  

Page 108

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 

‘In my judgement, the proposal does not quite meet the threshold for 
being ‘significant’ development in the context of paragraph 105 of the 
Framework. Furthermore, and, in any event, in respect of paragraph 110 
of the Framework I am satisfied that given the type of development and its 
location, the proposal would appropriately provide opportunities for 
residents to take up sustainable transport modes.’ 

 
9.58. The proposed development includes sustainable travel initiatives that are 

intended to make the application site more sustainable than it is today, 
notably by demand led public transport, which are credible and beneficial. 
Other local services and sustainable travel considerations (notably the 
convenience of walking and cycling) are broadly the same. Another vitally 
important similarity compared with the previous decision is the low level of 
housing land supply and under-delivery (especially of affordable housing 
delivery), which remains an important part of the context for the 
assessment of sustainability.  

 
9.59. Viewed in the round, the conclusions reached by previous inspectors on 

the sustainability of the area of the appeal site, coupled with the 
applicant’s proposals to further enhance the sustainability of the appeal 
site are judged by officers to constitute weighty material considerations 
that indicate the development meets the test of paragraph 155(c) of the 
NPPF. In short, it is a sustainable location.  This position has been 
reviewed and concurred with by Counsel. 

 
9.60. Paragraph 155 Conclusion  

 
9.61. The proposed development would not fundamentally undermine the 

purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across the area of 
the plan; would meet a demonstrable need for housing and would be in a 
sustainable location, thereby meeting the requirements (a)-(c) of 
paragraph 155 of the NPPF.  Criterion (d) of paragraph 155 is discussed 
below.  

 
9.62. Golden Rules 

 
(a) the provision of affordable housing which reflects either: (i) 
development plan policies produced In accordance with paragraphs 67-68 
of the NPPF; or (ii) until such policies are in place, the policy set out in 
paragraph 157 of the NPPF 
 

9.63. Policy CS9 of the CS requires residential development of 15 or more 
dwellings gross (or on sites of 0.5ha or above) to include at least 40% of 
dwellings as affordable. In this case, the 40% requirement is subject to a 
15% uplift capped at 50% and the provision of 50% affordable housing is 
therefore required in this case.  
 

Page 109

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
9.64. The preferred mix for onsite affordable housing is 30% affordable home 

ownership and 70% affordable rented (with half to be secured as social 
rent). 
 

9.65. The proposed development would provide 55 dwellings as affordable 
homes, thereby meeting the 50% affordable housing required to comply 
with the first golden rule.   

 
(b) necessary improvements to local or national infrastructure; and 
 

9.66. The proposed development would be liable for CIL contributions and 
would provide necessary infrastructure as identified in the report by was of 
a Section 106 Agreement in the event permission is granted.  

 
(c) the provision of new, or improvements to existing, green spaces that 
are accessible to the public. 

 
9.67. Paragraph 159 of the NPPF adds that, the improvements to green spaces 

required as part of the Golden Rules should contribute positively to the 
landscape setting of the development, support nature recovery and meet 
local standards for green space provision where these exist in the 
development plan. 
 

9.68. Paragraph 159 of the NPPF further adds that where no locally specific 
standards exist, development proposals should meet national standards 
relevant to the development (these include Natural England standards on 
accessible green space and urban greening factor and Green Flag 
criteria).  

 
9.69. Policy CS4 of the CS requires open space and recreational provision on 

all new residential development to have regards to the most recent Audit 
of Open Space, Sport and Recreational Facilities and Assessment of 
Local Needs. 

 
9.70. The Council’s Open Space Audit 2024 sets out the open space provision 

for new development, which aligns with the Fields in Trust recommended 
benchmark guidelines of 0.8ha per 1,000 population for parks and 
gardens; 0.6ha per 1,000 population for amenity green space and 1.8ha 
per 1,000 population for natural and semi natural open space.  

 
9.71. The existing site is private and has no public access. The proposed 

development would provide 1.63ha of open green space that would 
publicly accessible. Existing residents of Langley Vale and future 
residents of the proposed development, alongside the general public, 
would be able to access these open spaces areas, including the new play 
space, within short or reasonable walking distances. Therefore the 
proposal is in accordance with paragraph 156 (c) of the NPPF. 

 
9.72. Golden Rules Conclusion  

 

Page 110

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
9.73. For the reasons set out above, the proposal would meet the requirements 

of the Golden Rules as set out in paragraph 156 of the NPPF.  
 

9.74. Paragraph 158 of the NPPF states that a development which complies 
with the Golden Rules should be given significant weight in favour of the 
grant of planning permission. 

 
9.75. Harm to the Green Belt 

 
9.76. Whilst Officers consider that the proposed development would utilise Grey 

Belt land and meet the tests set out in paragraph 155 and the Golden 
Rules, Members may take a different view and consider the proposed 
development to fail to meet any of tests of paragraphs 154-157 of the 
NPPF. In this event, the proposal would amount to inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt. 

 
9.77. Paragraph 153 of the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should 

ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt, 
including harm to its openness. Inappropriate development is, by 
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in 
very special circumstances. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist 
unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is 
clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

 
9.78. Green Belt Purpose  

 
9.79. Paragraph 134 of the NPPF outlines the five purposes of including land 

within the Green Belt. These seek to check unrestricted sprawl of built-up 
areas, prevent neighbouring towns merging, safeguard the countryside 
from encroachment, preserve the setting and special character of historic 
towns, and encourage the reuse of urban land. 

 
9.80. As discussed above, PPG for Green Belt was published February 2025 

which provided guidance on evaluating the contribution land makes to 
Green Belt purposes (a), (b) and (d), which postdates the evaluations 
made within the Council’s Green Belt Study Update 2024. Officers 
maintain that the site does not strongly contribute to purposes (a), (b) or 
(d) of the Green Belt as set out at paragraph 143 of the NPPF.  
 

9.81. With respect to the remaining two purposes, the site is identified as parcel 
ID03 Green Belt Study Update 2024 which assess the site as being 
moderately performing against Green Belt purpose (c - to safeguarding 
the countryside from encroachment). 

 
9.82. The Study sets out that parcels were not tested against (e) – to assist in 

urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 
urban land) as all Green Belt land is considered to make an equal 
contribution to this purpose.  

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 
 
 

9.83. Green Belt Openness  
 

9.84. A fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land open. Openness is not defined in the NPPF, but the 
Planning Practice Guidance5 states that the assessment of impact on 
openness requires a judgement based on the circumstances of the case 
and that account should be taken of spatial and visual aspects, the 
duration of the development and the degree of activity likely to be 
generated. 

 
9.85. The site currently consists of undeveloped countryside. The proposed 

development would introduce new built form together with associated 
residential paraphernalia and activity, which would inevitably reduce the 
openness of the Green Belt in spatial terms. 

 
9.86. The supporting Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA), 

prepared by Fabrik, reference D2671 and dated July 2025, makes it clear 
that the development would be viewed from localised views, such as from 
Langley Vale Road, the properties on southern edge of Langley Vale and 
the surrounding PRoW network. The views experienced from by receptors 
would be permanently changed as a result of the proposal but would be 
localised and limited.   

    
9.87. The proposed development would cause a permanent reduction in the 

openness of the site, resulting in harm to the openness of the Green Belt. 
It would also encroach into the countryside, conflicting with Green Belt 
purposes (c) identified at paragraph 143 of the NPPF.  
 

9.88. Members are reminded that Officers are of the view that the site is be on 
grey belt land and the proposed development would meet all the tests of 
paragraphs 155-157 of the NPPF and is therefore appropriate 
development within the Green Belt.  
 

9.89. However, should Members reach a different conclusion with the 
consequence that the development is to be inappropriate development, 
the suggested Very Special Circumstances have been considered in 
detail in Section 26 of this Agenda Report.  

 
9.90. Green Belt Conclusion  

 
9.91. Paragraph 153 of the NPPF requires substantial weight to be given to any  

harm to the Green Belt, including harm to its openness. It confirms that 
Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and 
should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 
 

                                            
5 Green Belt - GOV.UK 

Page 112

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/green-belt


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
9.92. As discussed above, Officers have concluded that the site can be 

considered grey belt land in accordance with the definition of Annex 2 of 
the NPPF, and the tests set out in paragraph 155-157 of the NPPF have 
been satisfied. For these reasons, Officers are satisfied that the proposed 
development would not represent inappropriate development within the 
Green Belt.  

 
9.93. However, should Members reach a different conclusion with the 

consequence that the development is to be inappropriate development, 
the suggested Very Special Circumstances have been considered in 
detail in Section 25 of this Agenda Report.  

 
10. Landscape Character  
 

10.1. Paragraph 187 of the NPPF recognises the intrinsic character and beauty  
of the countryside and ensures that planning decisions protect and 
enhance valued landscapes.   
 

10.2. The site does not comprise a valued landscape for the purposes of 
interpreting paragraph 189 of the NPPF.  
 

10.3. The site lies within National Character Area Profile 119: North Downs 
2013. The National Character Area’s (NCA) represent an area of distinct 
and recognisable character at the national scale and set out key 
characteristics6 
 

10.4. The Surrey Landscape Character Assessment NE14: Epsom and Ewell 
Borough, prepared by HDA and dated April 2015 identifies the site within 
a Distinct Area on the Urban Edge (UE).  The key characteristic of areas 
within the UE Landscape Character Area (UELCA) are edge of town 
locations, often entirely enclosed by built up areas with significant human 
intervention and frequently provide outdoor amenity for the surrounding 
population. Although often enclosed by urban areas, they maintain 
physical and visual connections to the wider and provide landscape 
setting to adjacent urban areas and settlements. 

 
10.5. The site falls within UELCA UE3: Epsom Downs, and sets outs further 

character area’s key characteristics7, which comprise of (inter alia) 
elevated downland, upward sloping landform open, large scale, relatively 
exposed fields and irregular shaped blocks of woodland. The character 
area also has a sense of remoteness, although this is reduced due to 
human influence within and surrounding the character area. The site 
reflects these characteristics.  

 
10.6. Guidance set out for UE3:Epsom Downs includes protecting and 

enhancing the landscape setting to adjacent settlements and urban areas 
and maintaining physical links and open views to the wider landscape.     

                                            
6 NCA Profile:119:North Downs (NE431) 
7 7 NE14 Epsom and Ewell Borough 

Page 113

Agenda Item 7

https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/7036466?category=587130
https://www.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/residents/planning/planning-policy/other-planning-documents/examination/NE14.%20Surrey%20Landscape%20Character%20Assessment%20-%20Epsom%20and%20Ewell%20%282015%29.pdf


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 

10.7. The Epsom and Ewell Green Infrastructure Study identifies that part of the 
Borough has a County designation as an Area of Great Landscape Value 
(AGLV), a designation that the Council considers as important green open 
space and a valued landscape asset. The site lies within the Surrey Hills  
AGLV.  Although the Surrey Hills AGLV directly adjoins the Surrey Hill 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, the boundary of this National 
Landscape Designation lies some 3.3 km from the site.  
 

10.8. Policy DM9 of the DMPD supports (inter alia) development that makes a 
positive contribution to the Borough’s visual character and appearance, 
considering its relationship to the existing wider landscape. 

 
10.9. The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Impact 

Assessment (LVIA), prepared by Fabrik, reference D2671 and dated July 
2025 which identifies the likely landscape and visual effects that would 
result from the proposed development.  

 
10.10. The LVIA sets out the existing landscape sensitivity of a number of 

landscape and visual receptors, the majority of which are identified as 
‘medium’ (i.e. is moderately susceptible to change from a development). 

 
10.11. The sensitivity of the landscape and visual receptor is then combined with 

the magnitude of change (i.e. the scale, extent, duration, and reversibility 
of the development's effect) to determine the significance of the effect.  

 
10.12. The LVIA sets out the landscape and visual effects on:  

 

 contextual landscape receptors (i.e. effects on landscape receptors 
beyond the site boundary, for example, indirect effects on landscape 
character); 

 Site landscape receptors (i.e. direct effects on landscape receptors 
within the site boundary only) and;  

 Visual receptors (i.e. effects arising from the changes to the 
landscape which are perceived by both static and transient 
receptors) 

 
10.13. The significance of the effects are considered at Year 1 and at Year 15, in 

order to assess the landscape visual effects immediately after 
construction completion and the long term effects as landscaping matures 
providing beneficial screening. 
 

10.14. Landscape Effects 
 

10.15. The LVIA acknowledges that the proposed development would result in a 
permanent change to the site’s current agricultural character through 
introducing built form, associated infrastructure, and areas of open space.   

 
10.16. In considering the landscape effects of the proposal at Year 1, the LVIA 

concludes that the most notable effect would be the loss of open pasture 

Page 114

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
and the introduction of residential development and that initial impact on 
the site’s landscape character and setting would be Moderate Adverse, as 
this effect would be this is balanced by the inclusion of embedded 
mitigation such as green infrastructure, recreational footpaths, play areas, 
and the protection and enhancement of existing vegetation, which would 
begin to contribute positively to local landscape structure and amenity 
value from the outset. 

 
10.17. By Year 15, the LVIA concludes that the proposed planting would have 

matured, resulting in improved integration of the development within the 
surrounding landscape, forming a softened and coherent extension to the 
existing Langley Vale settlement, supported by a robust framework of 
native vegetation and publicly accessible green space. The magnitude of 
change to most landscape receptors will reduce over time, with 
significance of effects typically lowering to Minor Adverse, and in the case 
of vegetation and landscape structure, improving to Moderate Beneficial, 
reflecting long-term landscape and ecological enhancements. 

 
10.18. The LVIA notes that the UELCA has a transitional mix of rural and 

suburban influences and the proposed development would respond well 
to this key characteristic.  Officers concur that whilst the proposed 
development would result in the permanent change of the site, the site is 
a relatively small area of the LCA’s agricultural land and would be viewed 
in context with the existing urban edge landscape. 

 
10.19. Officers consider the site to be consistent with, and contribute to, key 

characteristics of the AGLV.  However, whilst the site is free from built 
form, it is not free from all urban influences, with residential development 
to the north and  the highway to the north west, the associated movement 
and noise of which reduces the sense of tranquillity. 

 
10.20. Whilst the proposed development would have an impact on the landscape 

as a result of the open pastoral field being replaced by built form and 
associated, these effects would be localised due to the visual containment 
of the site and the landscape harm would be modest, given that the 
proposed development would been seen in context with the existing 
residential built form of Langley Vale. Furthermore, the application is 
supported by a Design and Access Statement, prepared by Paul Hewett, 
Rev C which contains an illustrative masterplan that demonstrates that the 
layout and new planting could accommodate new planting that would filter 
and softening the proposed development 

 
10.21. Notwithstanding this, the overall effect of the proposed development 

would weaken the distinctive landscape quality of the AGLV, although this 
harm would be localised and moderate.  

 
10.22. Visual Effects  

 
10.23. The LVIA concludes that the proposed development would result in a 

series of permanent, but localised visual changes, primarily affecting 

Page 115

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
receptors in close proximity to the site. The LVIA considered views of the 
development from Langley Vale receptors would be largely screened, with 
open views achievable from the northwest and southern sections of the 
highway. From these views, the proposed development would have a 
Moderate Adverse effect at Year 1, reducing to Minor Adverse by Year 15 
as planting matures.  

 
10.24. The LVIA also concludes that noticeable changes would also occur for 

nearby residents along the eastern boundary, where open views across 
farmland would be replaced by built form. However, the topography of the 
site, landscape buffering and retained views towards Centenary Wood 
would help limit visual intrusion, resulting in Moderate Adverse effect 
across both Year 1 and 15. 

 
10.25. The LVIA acknowledges that the Public Rights of Way surrounding the 

site would also experience varying degrees of visual change. Bridleways 
146, 33, and 127 would all experience the introduction of built form within 
views, with initial Moderate Adverse effects reducing over time as 
planting establishes, filtering and softening the development. Similarly, 
elevated viewpoints within Centenary Wood would experience some 
visibility of the extended settlement edge, though existing vegetation, 
topography, and the proposed development alignment with the wider 
settlement pattern would mitigate visual impact. Overall, the LVIA 
considers the visual effects of the proposed development reduce over 
time, with long-term significance ranging from Moderate to Minor 
Adverse. 
 

 
Public footpaths  

 
10.26. Officers concur that the proposed development would result in a high 

degree of permanent change for the residential receptors overlooking the 
site but acknowledge that the effect would reduce over time because of 

Page 116

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
buffer planting and topography. Notwithstanding this, the effect would 
remain Moderate Adverse, although localised.     
 

10.27. The public rights of way are recreational routes, so there is the 
expectation that some users would do so for the specific purpose of 
enjoying the countryside. Views of the site open up on parts of Bridleways 
146, 32 and 33, and whilst there are urbanising influences from the edge 
of the settlement and the highway, the overriding experience from these 
routes are of being in the countryside. Whilst the effect of the proposed 
development may be reduced as boundary planting along the southern 
matures and softens the transition between the proposed development 
and the adjacent agricultural landscape, the effect would remain Moderate 
Adverse, although localised.       

 
10.28. Landscape Conclusion 

 
10.29. The proposal would cause localised and modest harm to the AGLV and 

residential receptors and users of Bridleways 146, 32 and 33, although 
these visual effects would be limited to the immediate vicinity of the site.   

 
10.30. The proposed development would therefore be contrary to Policy DM9 

which requires new development to make a positive contribution to the 
Borough’s visual character and appearance, considering its relationship to 
the existing wider landscape.    
 

10.31. Whilst the AGLV does not have the same status in terms of protection as 
a National Landscape (in which great weight should be given to 
conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty), paragraph 187 
of the NPPF advocates protecting and enhancing valued landscapes and 
recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. 

 
10.32. The moderate and localised harm to the AGLV and identified receptors 

would be an adverse impact of the proposed development to be weighted 
in the planning balance. 

 
11. Trees  
 

11.1. Paragraph 136 of the NPPF, Policy CS3 of the CS, Policy DM5 of the 
DMPD and the Householder SPG seek the retention, protection and 
enhancement of existing and new trees, hedgerows, and other landscape 
features, with removal of trees supported by sound justification and 
appropriate replacement planting of native species.  

 
11.2. The site does not contain any trees that are the subject of a Tree 

Preservation Order. There are two off-site trees and one off-site grouping 
that are the subject of Tree Preservation Orders that could be potentially 
affected by the proposed development (94/G1 5 Sycamores, 94/T15 Oak 
and 94/T17 Field Maple).  To the south east of the site lies Ancient 
Woodland.  
 

Page 117

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
11.3. Natural England Guidance advises that for ancient woodlands, a buffer 

zone of at least 15 metres from boundary of the woodland should be 
provided to avoid root damage. Where possible, the buffer zone should be 
part of the green infrastructure of the area, should consist of semi natural 
habitats and contribute to wider ecological networks.   

 
11.4. The application is accompanied by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

and Method Statement (AIA) prepared by Arbortrack Systems Limited, 
reference jwmb/rpt1/langleybottomfarm/AIAAMS and dated 09 July 2025.  

 
11.5. The AIA recommends the removal of 4 Category C trees and 2 groups of 

Category C Trees to facilitate the proposed development. The Council’s 
Tree Officer has no objection to the loss of the trees on the provision that 
adequate mitigation is made for the loss with replacement planting. 

 
11.6. The site lies adjacent to Ancient Woodland. Although the proposed 

development would not result in the loss or deterioration of ancient 
woodland, ancient trees or veteran trees, the supporting Parameters Plan 
identifies a 15 metre buffer from the Ancient Woodland. Although 
landscaping is a reserved matter, the supporting Landscape Design 
Statement, prepared by Fabrick and dated July 2025, indicates on page 
18 that the buffer would feature a wildflower meadow, scrub habitat, and 
larger native trees to enhance biodiversity.  

 
11.7. The supporting Parameters Plan indicates a potential footpath connection 

from the site to The Warren that would extend through the Ancient 
Woodland. The Natural England Guidance advises that access through 
the Ancient Woodland Buffer Zones should only be considered where the 
habitat is not harmed by trampling. Furthermore, the supporting Ecological 
Impact Assessment (EcIA), prepared by The Ecology Co-op, reference 
P2851 and dated 27 June 2025 confirms that the Ancient Woodland 
would be protected from direct access by future residents of the proposed 
development through the planting of thorny scrub along the edge of the 
woodland boundary. 

 
11.8. Further details of the potential footpath connection, taking the 

observations above into consideration, would need to form part of any 
subsequent reserved matters application in the event outline permission is 
granted.   

 
11.9. The Council’s Tree Officer has reviewed the supporting documentation 

and advises that in the event outline permission is granted, any 
subsequent reserved matters application would have to demonstrate that 
any building works would be outside the root protection zone of trees to 
be retained within the site or offsite.  In the event permission is granted, a 
condition is recommended to secure the tree protection works set out in 
the supporting AIA . 

 
12. Heritage Impacts  
 

Page 118

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
12.1. Paragraphs 212 – 215 of the NPPF requires consideration of the harm to 

the significance of a designated heritage asset. Paragraph 215 of the 
NPPF states that where there is less than substantial harm, the harm 
must be weighed against the public benefits. Policy CS5 of the CS and 
Policy DM8 of the DMPD seek to protect and enhance heritage assets 
and their setting. 

 
12.2. The application is supported by a Heritage Statement (HS), prepared by 

Archaeology South East, reference 2025130 and dated July 2025.  
 

12.3. Setting of Listed Buildings   
 

12.4. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 states that development must ensure the preservation of any nearby 
listed building, including its setting. 
 

12.5. The application of the statutory duties within Sections 66 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 combined with the 
guidance contained in the NPPF means that when harm is identified 
whether that be less than substantial or substantial harm, it must be given 
considerable importance and great weight. 

 
12.6. The site itself does not contain any structures that are designated heritage 

assets nor of any historical value. There are three of listed buildings that 
could be potentially affected by the proposed development, which are 
discussed below. 
 

 
Listed Buildings 

 
The Warren Boundary Wall 

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
12.7. A Grade II Listed wall encloses The Warren Wood, which lies to the 

east/south-east of the site and south of Langley Vale. The significance of 
this heritage asset lies in its historical interest as the Warren Wood is the 
site of a hare warren thought to have been set up by Lord Baltimore of 
Woodcote Park. This value is somewhat diminished as it is no longer 
intact and has undergone modern repair works.  
 

12.8. The setting of this heritage asset is created by the woodland of The 
Warren and the open countryside. Other surviving parts of the wall, at the 
eastern end of the northern boundary, and the warrener’s cottage on the 
eastern side, also form part of the setting as features of The Warren. 

 
12.9. The heritage assets appreciation as a boundary enclosure is limited to 

from within The Warren and from private gardens of the north.   
 

12.10. In considering the change to the setting as a result of a detailed 
residential scheme, the replacement of the open field with built from would 
have an impact on the open setting of this heritage asset, although the 
setting is already altered by the built form of Langley Vale. 

 
12.11. Furthermore, the provision of a verdant buffer along the south-east edge 

of the site would provide a buffer between the proposed built form and this 
heritage asset.  

 
12.12. The proposed development would not affect the land to the south/south-

west of the wall, conserving the relationship between the Warren and its 
surroundings to the south and would retain the inter-relationship of the 
wall, The Warren wood, and the former warrener’s cottage and walls to 
the east. 

 
12.13. Notwithstanding this, the proposal would affect a meaningful change to 

the setting of this listed asset, which would harm its significance.   
 
Woodcote Park Boundary Wall 

 
12.14. The Grade II listed flint forms part of a historic boundary wall to Woodcote 

Park, which lies approximately to the west/south-west of the site, on the 
north-western side of Langley Vale Road. The significance of this heritage 
asset lies in its historic value, although this value is somewhat diminished 
by its poor condition.  
 

12.15. The setting of this heritage asset is principally focused on Woodcote Park 
itself and Langley Vale Road to which it forms a boundary. Harmful 
elements of the setting include the well trafficked Langley Vale Road and 
nearby petrol station.  

 
12.16. The wall can be appreciated from within Woodcote Park and Langley Vale 

Road, although the dense screening and delipidated condition means it is 
not readily appreciated as a historic feature within the landscape.  

 

Page 120

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
12.17. In considering the change to the setting because of a detailed residential 

scheme, the replacement of the open field with built from would further 
alter the open setting of this heritage asset. Given the existing harmful 
elements of the setting, it is unlikely that the proposed development would 
harm the significance of this heritage asset.  

 
Coal Tax Post  
 

12.18. A 19th century Grade II Listed coal tax post stands approximately 250m to 
the south of the site, south-east of Langley Bottom Farm, the significance 
of which is found more in its historic value as a market for the boundary 
for coal tax duty, rather than in its aesthetic value as a feature in the 
landscape.    
 

12.19. The setting of this heritage assets is its relationship with the 
communication route they were associated with, marking the point at 
which revenue could be levied. The route still survives and the ability to 
perceive this relationship still exists.  

 
12.20. In considering the change to the setting as a result of a detailed 

residential scheme, the post is located 250 metres from the site and 
enclosed from the landscape to its north by a high hedge. Whilst it may be 
possible to view the upper parts of the proposed development from this 
designated heritage assets, the principal feature of the setting is its 
relationship with the adjoining communication route, rather than the wider 
landscape. This would remain unaffected by the proposed development. It 
is therefore unlikely that the proposed development would harm the 
significance of this heritage asset.  
 

12.21. Harm to the Significance of Identified Heritage Assets  
 

12.22. Whether a proposal causes substantial harm will be a judgment for the 
decision-maker, having regard to the circumstances of the case and the 
policy in the NPPF. Whilst the proposal would harm the significance and 
setting of the wall boarding The Warren through the alteration of the open 
elements within their setting and significance. 
 

12.23. However, the degree of harm would not seriously affect the heritage 
asset's significance and could therefore not be considered to meet the 
high test of substantial harm. The harm attributed to the significance of 
designated heritage assets as a result of the proposal is less than 
substantial.  

 
12.24. In accordance with paragraph 215 of the NPPF, this harm must be 

weighed against any public benefits associated with the proposal. Great 
weight should be given to the heritage asset’s conservation, irrespective 
of the scale of harm identified.  

 
12.25. Public Benefits 

 

Page 121

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
12.26. The NPPF identifies that public benefits could be anything that delivers 

economic, social, or environmental progress, as described in paragraph 8. 
  

12.27. The PPG further states that public benefits should flow from the proposed 
development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the 
public at large and should not just be a private benefit. However, benefits 
do not always have to be visible or accessible to the public in order to be 
genuine public benefits (020 Reference ID:18a-020-2019072). 

 
12.28.  The public benefits of the proposed development include: 

 

 The contribution of net gain residential development to the Borough 
housing figures at a time that the Council cannot identify a five-year 
housing land supply and in considering the extent of the Council’s 
housing shortfall and how long the deficit is likely to persist, given the 
timetable for the emerging Local Plan. Officers attach significant 
weight to this public benefit 

 The contribution of affordable housing to the Borough, at a tenure 
that meets one of the Boroughs greatest affordable housing needs. 
Officers attach significant weight to this public benefit 

 The social benefits from provision of public open spaces and play 
areas that can be accessed by both future residents and members of 
the general public. Officers attach moderate weight to this public 
benefit 

 The generation of economic benefits from the employment during 
the construction phase of the proposed development. However, as 
this benefit is temporary, limited weight is attached to this public 
benefit.  

 The direct economic and social benefits from investment into the 
nearby Langley Vale and Epsom Town Centre from future residents, 
adding to the vitality and viability of these areas. Although there is no 
evidence to suggest that the local economy would be disadvantaged 
without the expenditure generated from the proposed development, 
it is likely to provide some minor investments. For this reason, limited 
weight is attached to this public benefit.  

 
12.29. Officers give considerable importance and weight to the desirability of 

preserving the setting and the features of special architectural and historic 
interest of the surrounding heritage assets. However, notwithstanding the 
considerable importance and weight that the less than substantial harm 
attracts, in this case, the accrued public benefits are considered to 
sufficiently outweigh the less than substantial harm arising from the 
proposal.  

 
12.30. No heritage specific conditions are necessary. 

 
12.31. Archaeology 

 

Page 122

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
12.32. The application is supported by an Archaeological Desk Based 

Assessment (AA) prepared by Archaeology South East, reference 
2025099 and dated July 2025.  
 

12.33. The AA highlights that the site retains archaeological potential primarily for 
the Romano-British, Medieval and Post Medieval periods and that whilst 
the proposed development are likely to impact on potential archaeological 
remains, this impact can be mitigated through a programme of 
archaeological works.  
 

12.34. The County Archaeologist has is satisfied that the AA provides a robust 
and realistic assessment of the likely impact of the proposed development 
upon the archaeological potential of the site. Subject to a condition to 
secure a programme of archaeological work, to be conducted in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation prior to the 
commencement of any development granted, there is no objection to the 
proposal in terms of its impact on designated heritage assets. 

 
13. Public Open Space and Play Space  

 
13.1. Public Open Space  

 
13.2. One of the overarching objectives of the NPPF is the social objective. This 

supports strong, vibrant, and healthy communities by (inter alia) fostering 
accessible open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support 
communities’ health, social and cultural well-being. 

 
13.3. The Councils Open Space Audit 2024 sets out the open space provision 

for new development, which aligns with the Fields in Trust recommended 
benchmark guidelines of 0.8ha per 1,000 population for parks and 
gardens; 0.6ha per 1,000 population for amenity green space and 1.8ha 
per 1,000 population for natural and semi natural open space.  
 

13.4. Policy CS4 of the CS gives focus to the creation and maintenance of an 
accessible network of green spaces within the built-up area of the 
Borough. 

 
13.5. The application is supported by a Landscape Statement, prepared by 

Fabrick and dated July 2025 which highlights that the proposed 
development would provide 1.6ha of publicly assessable open space. Of 
this provision, 0.25ha would be parks and gardens; 0.30ha would be 
amenity green space and 1.0ha would be natural and semi natural open 
space. 

 
13.6. Utilising the standard average provision of 2.35 people per household  

(Office of National Statistics 2024) the proposal would provide the 
following: 

 

Page 123

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
Open Space 
Typology 

EEBC 
Standard 
(ha)  

EEBC Site 
Requirement 
(ha) 

On Site 
Provision 
(ha) 

Provision 
above EEBC 
Requirement  

Parks and 
Gardens  

0.8 0.207 0.250 0.043 

Natural and 
Semi Natural 
Open Space  

1.8 0.466 1.019 0.553 

Amenity Green 
Space  

0.6 0.155 0.302 0.147 

Total: 3.2ha 0.82 1.637 0.744  

 
13.7. The table above demonstrates that the proposal would provide an 

additional 0.744ha above the Council’s policy requirements.  
 

13.8. The open space would be primarily located to the southern part of the site, 
providing a buffer zone from the development and the woodland. A 
publicly accessible green corridor would also feature centrally within the 
site, incorporating informal walking routes.  

 
13.9. To ensure that the public realm areas are retained and maintained in 

perpetuity, an Open Space Management and Maintenance Strategy is 
recommended, to be secured by way of an obligation within a Section 106 
Agreement if outline permission is granted.  

 
13.10. The provision of open space in excess of policy requirements is a benefit 

of the scheme to be weighed in the planning balance.  
 

13.11. Play Space  
 

13.12. Paragraph 103 of the NPPF encourages opportunities for sport and 
physical activity which is important for the health and well-being of 
communities. 

 
13.13. Although the key text to Policy DM12 of the DPDM highlights additional 

requirements for play space, these are secured through private gardens, 
rather than public play areas. Notwithstanding that there is no policy 
requirement for play space, Fields in Trust Guidance: Planning and 
Design for Outdoor Sport and Play (superseding ‘The Six Acre Standard’) 
is the recognised benchmark standard for the provision of children’s play 
areas. 
 

13.14. The supporting Landscape Statement identifies that 0.06ha of the 
proposed development would be allocated for play areas. 

 
13.15. To meet the Fields in Trust Guidance and the Council’s play provision 

requirements, the proposed development would be required to provide 
Local Areas for Play (LAP) within 100 metres access of each new home 
and a Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) and informal play spaces.  

 

Page 124

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
13.16. The proposal would provide a LEAP in the southern part of the site, within 

the area of open space. The Fields in Trust Standards outlines that  
LEAP’s are an area of open space, a minimum of 400 square metres, 
which are specifically designed and laid out with equipment for children.  
The standards recommend that LEAPs are located within the heart of a 
site, not on the outskirts of development and within 400m of walking 
distance from every home. 

 
13.17. Although the area indicated for the proposed LEAP would not be located 

centrally, it is likely that it would be within 400m walking distance of the 
from every new home. Furthermore, the supporting parameter plan 
demonstrates that new housing could be situated and orientated to 
provide natural surveillance of the play area. 

 
13.18. The standards advise that a LAP should comprise a small area of open 

space specifically designed and primarily laid out for very young children 
to play close to where they live interwoven within the development and 
every home should have access to play space within 100 metres. 

 
13.19. Furthermore, a LAP requires no play equipment as such, relying more on 

demonstrative features indicating that play is positively encouraged and 
should provide a minimum area of 100 square metres but this can be 
distributed within a development as part of playable routes. 

 
13.20. The supporting Landscape Statement identifies a central LAP that would 

comprise a playable route running though the green corridor. Although no 
play equipment is required, the proposed LAP would feature natural play 
elements, for example, play boulders and timber features.  

 
13.21. Whilst the proposed LAP would not be within 100 metres of every new 

home, it would be well surveyed by the surrounding dwellings and further 
LAP provision could be secured under a subsequent reserved matters 
application in the event outline permission is granted. 

 
13.22. Officers are satisfied that the play provision outlined within the proposed 

development would meet policy requirements and details of the proposed 
play equipment could be secured as part of any future reserved matters in 
the event outline permission is granted.  To ensure that the play areas are 
retained and maintained in perpetuity, a Play Area Management and 
Maintenance Strategy is recommended, to be secured by way of an 
obligation within a Section 106 Agreement if outline permission is granted.  

 
14. Density 
 

14.1. Policy DM11 of the DMPD aims for the most efficient use of development 
sites with a demonstration of how density would contribute towards 
maintaining and enhancing the visual character and appearance of the 
wider townscape and lead to no net loss of biodiversity. Density is limited 
to 40 dwellings per hectare or alternatively, where it is allocated at a 

Page 125

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
higher density, there is good site sustainability, and it conforms to the 
surrounding townscape. 
 

14.2. The proposal would have a density of 20dph, which is entirely acceptable 
in terms of policy and the context of the adjoining Langley Vale Village, 
which is approximately 14dph  

 
15. Affordable Housing 
 

15.1. Paragraph 64 of the NPPF states that affordable housing should be on  
site unless a contribution is robustly justified. Paragraph 66 of the NPPF 
states where major development involving the provision of housing is 
proposed, planning decisions should expect that the mix of required 
affordable housing meets identified local needs, across social rent, other 
affordable housing for rent and affordable home ownership tenures. 
 

15.2. Policy CS9 of the CS requires residential development of 15 or more 
dwellings to include at least 40% of dwellings as affordable, taking into 
account the viability of the development proposed. The preferred mix for 
onsite affordable housing is 30% affordable home ownership and 70% 
affordable rented (with half to be secured as social rent). 
 

15.3. The application is supported by an Affordable Housing Need Assessment, 
prepared by Boyer, reference 25.1021 and dated June 2025 which 
reinforces the Boroughs persistent affordable housing shortfall.  

 
15.4. The proposed development would provide 55 dwellings as affordable 

homes, thereby providing 50% affordable housing, which is in excess of 
the 40% required by policy but in accordance with the Golden Rules. This 
would be secured by way of an obligation within a Section 106 Agreement 
if outline permission is granted.  

 
15.5. The provision of affordable housing in accordance with policy 

requirements is a benefit of the scheme to be weighed in the planning 
balance.  

 
16. Design and Character 
 

16.1. Paragraphs 129, 135 and 139 of the NPPF 2024 refer to the need for 
functional and visually attractive development that is sympathetic to local 
character and history.  
 

16.2. Policy CS5 of the CS requires high quality design that is attractive, relates 
to local distinctiveness and complements the attractive characteristics of 
the area. Policy DM9 of the DMPD requires a positive contribution to and 
compatibility with the local character and the historic and natural 
environment and Policy DM10 requires good design that respects, 
maintains or enhances the prevailing house types and sizes, density, 
scale, layout, height, form and massing, plot width and building 
separation, building lines and key features. 

Page 126

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 

16.3. Although details relating to layout, scale, appearance and landscaping   
are reserved matters, the application is supported by a Design and 
Access Statement, prepared by Paul Hewett, Rev C which contains an 
illustrative masterplan which demonstrates that the site could 
accommodate the quantum of development proposed whilst affecting the 
provision of open space, landscaping and attenuation features in the more 
sensitive areas around the periphery of the site, allowing for adequate 
buffers between the proposed built form, the residential development of 
Langley Vale, the ancient woodland and the open countryside.  
 

16.4. The internal road layout features the principal route running along the 
south east of the site at its lowest point, which then loops around the bulk 
of the development, with more minor roads and drives connected from it. 
The proposed built form would be positioned along, and facing out onto, 
the road network, reflecting the predominant linear pattern of development 
in Langley Vale.  

 
16.5. Although scale is also a reserved matter, the Design and Access 

Statement advises that the proposed built form would be predominantly 
two storey with well proportioned roofs, which would be an appropriate 
form of development for the surrounding context. 

 
16.6. Officers are satisfied that the illustrative masterplan demonstrates that a 

well design and high-quality residential scheme that responds well to the 
site’s constraints and provides landscaped buffers to the sensitive 
boundaries can be accommodated on the site.   

 

Page 127

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 
Illustrative Masterplan from Design and Access Statement, prepared by Paul Hewett, Rev C 

 
17. Neighbour Amenity 

 
17.1. Paragraph 198 of the NPPF requires decisions to ensure that new 

development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely 
effects of pollution on health, living conditions and avoid noise giving rise 
to significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life. 
 

17.2. Policy CS5 And CS6 of the CS and Policy DM10 of the DMPD seeks to 
protect occupant and neighbour amenity, including in terms of privacy, 
outlook, sunlight/daylight and seeks mitigate and reduce noise impacts.  
 

17.3. The amenity of existing and proposed residents in terms of light, outlook 
and privacy would be fully considered as part of the detailed layout and 
design proposal at reserved matters stage. 

 
17.4. However, the supporting perimeter plan demonstrates that the site could 

accommodate the quantum of development proposed without leading to 
unacceptable degrees of overlooking, loss of daylight or be overbearing, 
as there does not appear to be any obvious amenity issues that could not 
be overcome by way of good design, including sensitive orientation of 
windows to avoid a harmful degree of overlooking within the site and 
relative to neighbouring properties. 

Page 128

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 

17.5. The proposal would also introduce domestic noise and disturbance from 
future residents. Whilst the occupiers of the properties located on the 
southern periphery of Langley Vale would be more susceptible to this 
change, particularly given the existing situation provided by the open 
farmland setting, the noise and disturbance created by the proposed 
development would not be so significantly different from that associated 
with the residents of within Langley Vale to warrant a refusal of the 
application on this basis.  

 
17.6. The construction phase of the development has the potential to cause 

disruption and inconvenience to nearby occupiers and users of the local 
highway network. However, these issues are transient and can be 
minimised through the requirement of planning conditions. 

 
18. Highway and Transport Impacts  

 
18.1. The NPPF requires new development to use a vision led approach to 

identify transport solutions that deliver well designed, sustainable, and 
popular places.  
 

18.2. Paragraph 116 of the NPPF states that development should only be 
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network, following mitigation, would be severe, taking 
into account all reasonable future scenarios. 
 

18.3. Policy CS16 of the CS encourages an improved and integrated transport 
network and facilitates a shift of emphasis to non-car modes as a means 
of access to services and facilities. Development proposals should 
provide safe, convenient, and attractive accesses for all, be appropriate 
for the highways network, provide appropriate and effective parking 
provision, both on and off-site and ensure that vehicular traffic generated 
does not create new, or exacerbate existing, on street parking problems, 
nor materially increase other traffic problems. 

 
18.4. Policy DM35 of the DMPD requires sets out that the impact of new 

development on the transport network will be assessed against other plan 
policies and transport standards via a Transport Assessment or 
Statement.   
 

18.5. The application is supported by a Transport Assessment, prepared by i-
Transport, reference ITB200788-001a and dated June 2025 (TA) and a 
subsequent Enhanced Sustainable Transport Strategy, prepared by i-
Transport, reference PH/DF/ITB200788-006ATN (ESTS) and Forward 
Visibility Review, prepared by i-Transport, reference PH/DF/ITB200788-
005 TN and dated 23 September 2025 (FVR).  

 
18.6. The County Highway Authority are satisfied that the TA gives a fair 

representation of the site and the surrounding local highway network. 

Page 129

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 

Personal Injury Collision Data  
 

18.7. The TA outlines the personal injury collision data from the road network in 
the vicinity of the site for the periods covering 01 November 2019 to 31 
October 2024.  The data demonstrates that over the five year period, 
there have been 17 vehicle incidents,  6 cycling incidents and 2 
pedestrian incidents 

 
18.8. In terms of the nature of the incident, 21 casualties were slight, 5 were 

serious and 1 fatal.  
 

18.9. 13 of these incidents took place on Langley Vale Road; 10 of which were 
slight, 2 of which were serious and 1 fatal.  

 
18.10. The fatality occurred in 2021.  A cyclist travelling along 

Langley Vale Road fell off the bike and subsequently died at the scene. 
No other vehicle was identified as being involved in this incident.  
 

18.11. The remaining incidents are identified as being the result of human error, 
rather than any deficiency in the design and operation of the local highway 
network. 

 
 
 
 
 

18.12. Pedestrian and Vehicle Access  
 

18.13. Paragraph 115 of the NPPF requires safe and suitable access to the site 
for all users whilst paragraph 117 of the NPPF seeks to minimise conflicts 
between pedestrians, cyclists, and vehicles. 

 

Page 130

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 
 

18.14. Vehicular access to the site is proposed via a new priority-controlled 
junction with Langley Vale Road. The new access would be 6.0 metres 
wide with 8.0m radii to provide sufficient width for two refuse vehicles (and 
any other equivalent sized vehicle) to pass one another. Visibility splays of 
2.4m x 33m to the north and 2.4m x 49m to the south are provided, both 
of which are achievable within the public highway and within land 
controlled by the applicant: 

 
18.15. Having reviewed the proposed access arrangements, the County Highway 

Authority raised concerns regarding the visibility of right turning traffic into 
the site, for those travelling northbound on Langley Vale Road, concluding 
that there would be insufficient forward visibility on this downhill section of 
carriageway due to dense vegetation on the inside of the bend. 

 
18.16. Subsequently, the FVR was submitted, highlighting that the Automatic 

Traffic Count survey undertaken in March 2025 informed the necessary 
forward visibility splays for the site access and these have been 
accurately plotted based on the topographical survey data. 

 
18.17. The FRV maintains that adequate forward visibility can be achieved from 

northbound vehicles on Langley Vale Road to right turners waiting to enter 
the site, based on an accurate review of recorded speed data and 
expected (minimal) queues of right turners waiting to enter the site. 

 

Page 131

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
18.18. Having reviewed the details set out in the FVR, the County Highway 

Authority are satisfied that there would be sufficient forward visibility and 
recommends a condition to secure the access details in accordance with 
the plans in the event permission is granted.  

 
18.19. The TA is also supported by a Road Safety Audit Report, prepared by 

Fenley, reference RSA-25-014 and dated April 2025 (RSA), with a remit of 
assessing the highway safety of the proposed access arrangements. 
 

18.20. The Langley Vale Action Group have also commissioned a Review of 
Planning Application 25/00846, prepared by ITP Haskoning UK Ltd, 
reference PC8097-RHD-XX-ZZ-RP-R-0001 and dated 29 October 2025 
(ITP)   
 

18.21. The ITP question the statutory requirements of the Stage One Road 
Safety Audit; however, this has been reviewed by the County Highway 
Authority and no concerns relating to its suitability have been raised. 
 

18.22. Although ITP question whether an equestrian use was advised within the 
road safety audit brief, reference is made within the report to horse riding.  
Similarly whilst ITP note that no reference is made to street lighting, the 
RSA acknowledge that this is to be assessed during the detailed design 
and therefore any associated road safety concerns are only raised if 
fundamental.  
 

18.23. Whilst ITP identifies that the RSA does not highlight surface water 
flooding as an issue, Fenley do raise concerns that a significant amount of 
surface water will flow down Langley Vale Road to and along the 
proposed access which result in ponding and lead to loss of control type 
collisions, particularly during inclement and freezing conditions and 
recommend that measures are provided to ensure the efficient drainage of 
surface water. 

 
18.24. The County Highway Authority have reviewed the supporting RSA and is 

satisfied that a safe access to the site for both vehicles and pedestrians 
can be delivered without causing harm to the safety and operation of the 
local highway network. There are no concerns with surface water within 
the road surface. 

 
18.25. ITP also shared the County Highway Authority’s concerns regarding 

insufficient forward visibility; however, this matter has since been 
addressed to the satisfaction of the County Highway Authority. 

 
18.26. ITP have raised concerns regarding the spacing between the proposed 

new access and the junctions at Grosvenor Road and Ebbisham Lane, 
citing that the distances between these would not be consistent with the 
wider area and that the new access being so close to the access to the 
petrol filling station has the potential to negatively impact on road safety 
by increasing instances of conflict.  

 

Page 132

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
18.27. Neither the RSA nor the County Highway Authority have raised any 

highway safety implications in relation to the proposed junction spacing. 
 

18.28. Pedestrian Moveability  
 

18.29. Access to the site for pedestrians would be through the provision of a 2.0 
metre footpath to the southern side of the main access road and 3.0 metre 
shared footpath/cycleway on the northern side.  The proposed shared 
footpath/cycleway would link with the footway on the eastern side on 
Langley Vale Road which is currently subject to improvements delivered 
through planning application 20/00475/FUL (Langley Bottom Farm).   

 
18.30. The County Highway Authority have noted the potential for an extension 

to the bridleway network within the locale and have requested a condition 
to secure an additional length of the bridleway north of the junction with 
Ebbisham Lane towards Farm View. 

 
18.31. However, as the extension to the bridleway has been secured via a 278 

Agreement under planning application 20/00475/FUL, it would be 
unreasonable to request duplicate footpath improvement provision under 
this current application. In the event planning permission is granted, 
Officers would not be recommending a condition to secure either an 
extension to the existing bridleway network or a widened footway/ 
cycleway along the site frontage on Langley Vale Road. 

 
18.32. Traffic Generation  

 
Existing Traffic Generation  

 
18.33. The TA identified that an existing traffic count survey was carried out on 

Langley Vale Road for a consecutive 7 day period (03 March 2025 – 09 
March 2025), which demonstrates that Langley Vale Road accommodates 
1328  associated with the proposed residential development, the TRICS 
database has again been consulted, using data associated with similar 
development scenarios within an edge of town and suburban location. 

 
18.34. The traffic count survey suggests an average of 1,330 two-way vehicle 

trips in each weekday peak hour.  
 
Proposed Traffic Generation  

 
18.35. To assess the trip generation associated with the proposed residential 

development, the TRICS database has again been consulted, using data 
associated with similar development scenarios within an edge of town and 
suburban location. 

 
18.36. It is noted at paragraph 8.2.2 of the TA that notwithstanding that the 

proposal would deliver 50% affordable housing, the traffic impact 
assessment has considered all 110 dwellings as privately owned. Officers 

Page 133

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
welcome this approach, as there should be no distinguishment between 
private and affordable housing car ownership. 

 
18.37. The generated trip rate has been tested using two scenarios; a vision lead 

scenario, with a 10% modal shift away from the private car to sustainable 
transport modes and the sensitivity scenario, that doesn’t allow for the 
10% modal shift. 

 
Vision Led Scenario  

 
18.38. In the vision-led scenario, there is predicted to be 48 two-way (14 in and 

35 out) in the peak AM and 44 two- way (30 in and 14 out) vehicular trips 
in the PM. This translates to fewer than one two-way vehicular movement 
per minute in both peak hours, which the TA considered to have a 
negligible impact on the safety and operation of the local highway 
network. 

 
Sensitivity Scenario  

 
18.39. In the sensitivity scenario, there is predicted to be 52 two-way (15 in and 

38 out) in the peak AM and 50 two-way (34 in and 60 out) vehicular trips 
in the PM. This translates to approximately one two-way vehicular 
movement per minute in both peak hours, which the TA considers to have 
a negligible impact on the safety and operation of the local highway 
network. 
 
Future Scenarios 

 
18.40. The TA has also considered future implications of the traffic generated by 

the proposed development upon Langley Vale Road, with future scenarios 
based on the vision led scenario, the sensitivity scenario and a scenario 
without the development. In both the future vision led and the sensitivity 
scenarios, the increase in traffic levels would be modest, equating to 
fewer than one additional two-way vehicular movement per minute in both 
the morning and evening peak hour, which would be a negligible impact.  
 

18.41. The County Highway Authority is satisfied that the TRICS assessment 
provides a robust and realistic assessment of the likely impact of the 
proposed development on the highway network, and that the additional 
traffic generation resulting from the proposed development would not 
have a severe impact on the local highway network, taking into account all 
reasonable future scenarios. 

 
 Third Party Submission  

 
18.42. The Langley Vale Action Ground have commissioned a Review, prepared 

by ITP Haskoning UK Ltd, reference PC8097-RHD-XX-ZZ-RP-R-0001 
and dated 29 October 2025 (ITP) which questions the parameters for the 
TA TRICS scenario and adopts its own parameters for a ‘worst case 
scenario’ TRICS Assessment, which demonstrates that the TA peak trip 

Page 134

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
hours are underestimated by 9 trips in the AM hour and 12 trips in the PM 
hour. 
 

18.43. ITP then compares the vehicular trip generated from its own TRICS 
assessment with that of TA vision-led scenario, as shown in the table 
below: 

 

 
Vehicular Trip Rate Comparison – ITP Rates and i-Transport Vison Led Scenario.  Table 7-3 in the Review of 
Planning Application 25/00846, prepared by ITP Haskoning UK Ltd,  reference PC8097-RHD-XX-ZZ-RP-R-
0001 and dated 29 October 2025 

 
18.44. The ITP scenario identifies an increase of 15 trips in the AM peak and 18 

trips in the PM peak, resulting in predicted to be 63 two-way (18 in and 45 
out) in the peak AM and 45 two- way (42 in and 20 out) vehicular trips in 
the PM. This is still within the range of one trip per minute.  

 
18.45. ITP also question the 10% reduction of the vision led approach which 

would rely upon infrastructure or measures that would encourage 
sustainable travel patterns. In section 5 of the review, ITP highlights that 
the NPPF promotes a vision-led approach to prioritising sustainable 
development and conclude that the principles of a sustained vision led 
development cannot be met in this unsustainable location, with poor 
public transport infrastructure and a reliance upon the private car. 
 

18.46. Whilst the NPPF promotes a vision led approach, it also acknowledges at 
paragraph 110 that sustainable transport solutions will vary between 
urban and rural areas, and this should be taken into account in decision-
making. The TA therefore has also set out the sensitivity scenario, which 
is the additional trip generation without the 10% reduction imposed upon 
the vision led scenario. 
 

18.47. The table below provides a comparison between the vehicle trip 
generation calculated by i-Transport and ITP for the sensitivity scenario. 
 

 
 

18.48. The additional 9 and 12 two-way vehicular movements calculated by ITP 
for the sensitivity scenario would equate to one additional two-way 
movements every 5-minutes in both the morning and evening peak hour 

Page 135

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
and the additional 14 and 18 two-way vehicular movements proposed by 
ITP for the vision-led scenario would equate to between 1-2 additional 
two-way movements every 5-minutes in both the morning and evening 
peak hours. 
 

18.49. The County Highway Authority has reviewed the ITP additional 
movements calculated above the TA trip calculations in all scenarios, 
including future scenarios and remains satisfied that the these would not 
alter their underlying conclusion that the additional traffic generation 
resulting from the proposed development would not have a severe impact 
on the local highway network. 

 
18.50. Junction Capacity  

 
18.51. The TA includes a Junction Capacity Assessment which measures how 

well a road junction can handle traffic now and in the future, predicting 
queues, delays, and whether improvements are needed. 
 

18.52. The County Highway Authority have reviewed the supporting Junction 
Capacity Assessment and are satisfied that the proposed new access 
would provide safe and suitable access to the site and would not create 
any significant additional risk to either pedestrian or equestrian safety.  
Furthermore, the County Highway Authority are satisfied that the 
proposed access would not have an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would not 
be severe, taking into account all reasonable future scenarios. 
 

18.53. ITP have questioned the absence of junction assessments on Langley 
Vale Road and Farm Lane and considers the accuracy of the modelling as 
they do not reflect the existing slow moving traffic situation.  
 

18.54. It is understood that no junction assessments were necessary for the 
Downs Road/Headley Road/Farm Lane/Shepherd’s Walk junction, as the 
traffic generated by the development proposal would have a negligible 
impact at these junction. The County Highway Authority have raised no 
concerns to the absence of any junction modelling for these junctions.  
 

18.55. I-Transport have confirmed that the existing observed queues on Langley 
Vale Road result from equestrians entering the carriageway and 
interacting with motorised users. Analysis was undertaken within the TA 
which shows that there are few occurrences of interaction between users 
during the highway peaks, and that when such interactions do occur, 
queues last for short periods before free-flowing conditions on Langley 
Vale Road return. The site access junction would operate acceptably with 
any impacts from the equestrian caused queuing identified to be minimal 
and temporary. The County Highway Authority have raised no concerns in 
respect of the methodology of the Junction Capacity Assessment within 
the TA.  

 
18.56. Equestrian Safety  

Page 136

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 

18.57. The TA highlights through the personal injury collision data that there 
have been no incidents involving equestrians within the five year period.  

 
18.58. Existing equestrian survey identified within the TA identifies that a total of 

24 equestrian movements were recorded on Langley Vale Road between 
08:00 – 09:00 peak hours.  Of these 24 movements, 11 were recorded 
travelling from Bridleway 146 onto the Langley Vale carriageway.  

 
18.59. The TA sets out that equestrians typically travel in numbers (known as 

‘strings’ and that the 11 movements equate to a handful of strings entering 
the carriage way over the morning peak hour.  

 
18.60. The TA demonstrates that whilst localised delay does occur on Langley 

Vale Road when motor vehicles give way to equestrians entering the 
carriageway, the delays last on average of a minute before the 
equestrians leave the carriageway and traffic flow returns to normal 
conditions.  

 
18.61. The County Highway Authority have reviewed the existing equestrian 

movements and surrounding equestrian network and have concluded that 
the additional 4% increase in vehicle trip generation associated with the 
proposed development would not generate a significant additional risk to 
equestrian safety in comparison to the existing situation. 
 

18.62. Similarly, the County Highway Authority are satisfied that the proposed 
new access has also been considered in context with the equestrian 
movements and networks and would not create any significant additional 
risk to equestrian safety  

 
18.63. It therefore follows that the proposal is highly unlikely to lead to potential 

harm to equestrian users and their horses, sufficient to result in their 
longer term desire to relocate from the area. 

 
18.64. Car Parking 
 
18.65. Policy DM37 of the DMPD and the Parking Standards for Residential 

Development SPD specify a minimum requirement of parking spaces for 
new development.   

 
18.66. Although a reserved matter, the TA confirms that parking provision would 

be provided in accordance with the Council’s Residential Parking 
Standards. In the event outline permission is granted, appropriate levels 
of parking would be secured for the proposed development as part of any 
subsequent reserved matters application.  

 
18.67. Electric Vehicle Charging  

 
18.68. Although a reserved matter, the TA confirms that Electric Vehicle 

Charging Points would be provided to each new residential unit in 

Page 137

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
accordance with both County Highway guidance and Building Regulation 
requirements. In the event outline permission is granted, these would be 
secured by way of a condition as part of any subsequent reserved matters 
application.  

 
18.69. Cycle Storage 
 
18.70. Policy DM36 of the DMPD requires the provision of cycle networks and 

facilities and Policy DM37 requires minimum provision of cycle storage as 
set out in Annexe 2 - Parking Standards for new development.  

 
18.71. Although a reserved matter, the TA confirms that cycle storage provision 

would be provided in accordance with the Council’s Residential Parking 
Standards and each new residential unit would be provided with an e-bike 
charging point. In the event outline permission is granted, appropriate 
levels of cycle storage would be secured for the proposed development as 
part of any subsequent reserved matters application.  

 
18.72. Sustainability Measures  

 
18.73. Paragraph 110 of the NPPF seeks new development to take opportunities 

to maximise sustainable transport solutions and therefore sustainability 
opportunities have been set out in the TA and the ESTS to promote 
sustainable travel modes. It is important to recognise that these 
improvements are proposed to enhance the sustainability, rather than 
make the location sustainable, as the site is already to be considered in a 
sustainable location for the reasons set out in Section 9 of this Agenda 
Report.  

 
Proposed Walking Improvements  
 

18.74. The TA and the ESTS outlines a financial contribution deliver the following 
improvements to footways within Langley Vale: 
  

 Pedestrian crossing with dropped kerbs and tactile paving on 
Langley Vale Road  

 Footpath resurfacing on Grosvenor Road and Beaconsfield Road  

 Pedestrian crossing with refuse island, dropped kerbs and tactile 
paving on the junction with Grosvenor Road and Beaconsfield Road 

 Pedestrian crossing with dropped kerbs and tactile paving on the 
junction with Beaconsfield Road and Mannamed Close  

 Pedestrian crossing with dropped kerbs and tactile paving on the 
junction with Beaconsfield Road and Stable Close 

 Pedestrian crossing with dropped kerbs and tactile paving on the 
junction with Beaconsfield Road and The Vale Primary School. 

 
Proposed Cycling Improvements  

 

Page 138

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
18.75. The TA and the ESTS outlines the extension of Cycle Route 3 (Headley 

Road Route) by providing an on-carriage cycle lane and new wayfinding 
signage. 

 
18.76. However, the County Highway Authority are not satisfied that the cycle 

improvements can be accommodated on the carriageway without causing 
harm to the operation of the highway and are not seeking to secure these 
through an agreement. Officers therefore do not give any weight to the 
proposed cycle improvements. 

 
Proposed Public Transport Improvements  
 

18.77. To supplement the existing bus provision in the area, the TA and the 
ESTS sets out the provision of a monetary contribution toward expanding 
operations of an existing County Council operated Digital Demand 
Responsive Transport (DDTR) into the Langley Vale Area.   
 

18.78. The current DDTR service covers Ashtead and Leatherhead, as well as 
extending southward to Dorking and serving Epsom Hospital (as an ‘out of 
zone’ stop). The DDTR provides on demand services between 07:00-
19:00 and 08:00-20:00 on Saturday. There is currently no Sunday 
provision in the existing service. The service either stops at existing bus 
stops or ‘virtual’ bus stops, where no formal bus stops are in place.  At 
present, the closest the DDRT operates to the site is on Headley Road, 
with stops approximately 800 metres from the site. 

 
18.79. The financial contribution of £200,000 per year for five years is proposed 

to extend the existing DDRT service to cover both the proposed 
development and the village of Langley Vale, providing connections to 
Leatherhead and Ashtead and their associated facilities and Railway 
Stations to both existing and proposed households.  

 
18.80. The ESTS suggests that as an alternative to the extension to the DDRT, 

there is the potential for funding to be provided towards the existing E5 
bus service. 

 
18.81. The ESTS also set out potential improvements to existing public transport 

infrastructure, focusing on the closest bus stop to the site on Grosvenor 
Road. The potential improvements highlighted are  
 

 Providing a small-scale bus shelter with seating; 

 Providing real-time bus information (either through a digital display or 
providing a QR code for passengers to use); and/or 

 Providing a raised kerb to assist passengers embarking or 
disembarking from buses. 

 
18.82. The County Highway Authority recognise that the provision of DDRT is 

advantageous in securing provision for areas that are not served by more 
frequent arterial bus routes, but cannot consider this as an alternative 
provision of an appropriate public bus service, particularly when such a 

Page 139

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
provision would need to be provided in perpetuity to guarantee the service 
for future occupiers of the proposed development. 
 

18.83. Whilst it would not be reasonable to secure the DDRT in perpetuity (given 
other external factors might change), the County Highway Authority is 
satisfied that the financial contribution proposed for a period of 5 years to 
provide an enhanced bus service to the site is appropriate and can be 
considered an improvement to the level of public transport currently 
available.  
EV Car Club  

 
18.84. The ESTS outlines the provision of two EV car club spaces and 

associated EV vehicles; one within the proposed development itself and 
one ‘on-street’ car club bay within Langley Vale itself, both of which would 
have associated EV charging infrastructure. This is to promote the use of 
a car club to the existing residents of Langley Vale. 
 

18.85. The Langley Vale car club space and vehicle would be centrally located 
near to the junction of Grosvenor Road and Harding Road, conveniently 
accessible to most existing residents. The ESTS advises that there is 
sufficient space on the carriageway for a suitably marked out space to be 
safely located. 
 

18.86. The car club would be operated by Enterprise and would be funded by the 
developers for a period of three years. Existing and future residents of the 
development would benefit from three years free membership and 
received £50 worth of drive-time vouchers. 

 
Residential Travel Plan  
 

18.87. The application is also supported by a Residential Travel Plan, which sets 
out a range of soft measures to facilitate and encourage sustainable 
modes, including the appointment of a travel plan coordinator; travel 
information packs including timetables and taxi details; maps showing 
local services and facilities that including walking and cycling distances to 
each location; information on the local PRoW network; promotion of smart 
phones apps such as Strava which aim to encourage sustainable travel; 
discounts with local cycle shops and bike workshops and the promotion of 
the car club and car sharing. 
 

18.88. The funding, monitoring and enforcement of Residential Travel Plan would 
be the responsibility of the developer for a five year period.  After this 
period, the developer is relinquished of this responsibility and the 
opportunity to continue the management can be passed to residents.  

 
18.89. Due to the submission of the ESTS during the assessment of this 

application, some of the measures within the supporting Residential 
Travel Plan need updating. In the event outline permission is granted, an 
updated Travel Plan can be secured by way of a condition. 

 

Page 140

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
Third Party Submission  
 

18.90. The Langley Vale Action Ground have commissioned a Review of 
Planning Application 25/00846, prepared by ITP Haskoning UK Ltd, (ITP) 
reference PC8097-RHD-XX-ZZ-RP-R-0001 and dated 29 October 2025 
and a Response from ITP (Transport Consultant) On “Enhanced 
Transport Strategy” Submitted By Fairfax – 05/11/2025, prepared by ITP 
Haskoning UK Ltd and unreferenced and undated. It questions the 
suitability of the proposed sustainability mitigation measures, as well as 
questioning whether the car club should be considered a mitigation 
measure. 
 

18.91. Whilst ITP identifies footpath improvements themselves to be insufficient 
to encourage journeys by foot, the review does not suggest that these 
should be considered anything other than mitigation. The footpath 
improvements would enhance existing routes within Langley Vale to the 
existing bus stops and facilities within the village.  
 

18.92. ITP suggest that the inclusion of pedestrian refuse island at the junction of 
Grosvenor Road and Beaconsfield Road could impact the ability for larger 
vehicles to access. In the event permission is granted, the County 
Highway Authority has recommended a condition to secure a detailed 
scheme for all pedestrian improvements.  
 

18.93. In considering the public transport improvements, ITP acknowledge that a 
DDRT service would benefit Langley Vale, although consider that would 
not be sufficient to make an unsustainable location sustainable, due to the 
service not supporting journeys to schools. Site sustainability has been 
demonstrated in Section 9 of this Agenda Report. 
 

18.94. The 618 bus route from Langley Vale provides a service to St Andrews 
School and All Saints School in Leatherhead and the E5 bus route 
connects to Langley Vale to Epsom and its associated schools, so public 
transport links from Langley Vale to schools currently exists. Whilst the 
DDRT does not support direct service to schools, it can be used to access 
other bus stops and town centres.  
 

18.95. Furthermore, ITP suggest that whilst the DDRT service may become 
available, it is unlikely to impact car ownership level, and the car will 
remain quicker and more convenient.  This is a generalised assumption 
could be applied to all forms of public transport in all locations.  
 

18.96. The County Highway Authority and Officers are satisfied that the financial 
contribution proposed for a period of 5 years to provide an enhanced bus 
service to the site is appropriate and can be considered an improvement 
to the level of public transport currently available.  
 

18.97. The ITP consider the long-term viability of car club to be questionable, 
highlighting that these are generally well utilised in areas with low car 
levels and that car ownership is high in Langley Vale. ITP also questions 

Page 141

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
whether the EV car club provision would meet the County Highway’s 
Authority’s own published guidance on car clubs in new development.  
 

18.98. Officers considered a recent appeal8 where the Inspector considered the 
provision of an EV car club to make a modest contribution to the 
sustainability of a location, even without the certainty of a company willing 
to operate a car club in the rural location of the appeal site. In this current 
application, Enterprise would be operating the EV car club spaces. 

 
18.99. Furthermore, the County Highway Authority have not identified any 

deficiency in the suitability of providing an EV car club in this location and 
has raised no objection to the provision, subject to it being secured 
through a Section 106 Agreement in the event permission is granted.   

 
18.100. ITP also considered the provision of EV charging points and parking 

requirements to be standard requirements of any new residential 
development and encourages car ownership and use and therefore 
should not be considered as vision led mitigation measures to make the 
make the development genuinely sustainable.   

 
18.101. The NPPF places a presumption in favour of sustainable development 

which includes mitigating and adapting to climate change, including 
moving to a low carbon economy. The NPPF seeks offer a genuine choice 
of transport mode and this also includes vehicles that reduce emissions.  
The provision of EV charger per new dwelling encourages a switch to 
electric vehicles which supports the sustainability aims of the NPPF. Both 
Officers and the County Highway Authority consider the provision of EV 
charging points to promote sustainable transport in accordance with 
Section 9 of the NPPF.  

 
19. Ecology and Biodiversity 

 
19.1. Ecological Impact 
 
19.2. Paragraph 193 of the NPPF, Policy CS3 of the CS and Policy DM4 of the 

DMPD requires the conservation and enhancement of on-site biodiversity, 
with minimisation of impacts and the provision of mitigation measures. 
The duty of care extends to Regulation 9(3) of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 to protect species identified under 
Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and Schedule 2 of 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 
19.3. In particular, Policy DM4 of the DMPD states that development affecting 

existing or proposed nature conservation sites and habitats of 
international, national or local importance will only be permitted if: 

 

                                            
8 PP/C3430/W/25/3363067 - Land at Boscobel Lane, Bishops Wood, Staffordshire, 

Page 142

Agenda Item 7

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3363067


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
(i) The development would enhance the nature conservation potential 

of the site or is proven to be necessary for the conservation 
management of the site; or 

(ii) there is no alternative location for the development and there would 
be no harm to the nature conservation potential of the site; or 

(iii) there are imperative reasons of overriding public interest for the 
development 

 
19.4. The application is supported by an Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA), 

prepared by The Ecology Co-op, reference P2851 and dated 27 June 
2025 and further correspondence dated 23 September 2025 and 15 
December 2025, also prepared by The Ecology Co-op. 
 

19.5. Designated Sites  
 
19.6. There site lies within 5km of 13 statutory designated sites, including five 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs). The closest of these are 
Ashtead Park Local Nature Reserve (LNR), 1.3km due north-east of the 
site, the Epsom and Ashtead Commons SSSI, situated 2.5km north-west 
of the site and the Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SSSI 3.1km south. 
 

19.7. Given the distance of the site from Ashtead Park LNR, Epsom Common 
LNR/SSSI and the Mole Gap to Reigate Escarpment SSSI, these are 
unlikely to be directly impacted by the increased recreational pressure 
created by the number of residents associated with the proposed 
development. 

 
19.8. Site of Nature Conservation Interest  

 
19.9. The site forms part of the Langley Bottom Farm Site of Nature 

Conservation Importance (SNCI). The site lies within the Langley Bottom 
Farm Site of Nature Conservation Importance, which was selected for 
designation in 2014 for being a valuable arable complex that supports 
considerable arable plant interests, including at least 10 Nationally Rare 
plant species and 7 species rare or scarce within Surrey. It is the best site 
for the Nigh Flowering Catchfly (Silene noctiflora) and most of the site 
meets the Plantlife Important Arable Plant Area criteria, either at a County 
or National level.  
 

19.10. In 2017, the boundary of the SNCI was extended to include the site, which 
supports many of the same arable features as the existing SNCI, including 
2 species listed on boto the GB and England Vascular Plan Red lists; 
Dwarf Spurge (Euphorbia exigua) and Field Gromwell (Lithospermum 
arvense) as well as a number of species classed as Rare or Scarce.  

 
19.11. The EcIA highlights at Section 3.2 that most of the site comprises of an 

arable field that in most years grows a cereal crop. The margins around 
this field are very narrow with a sufficient gap between the wheat crop and 
grassland margin and includes two notable arable plants – field gromwell 
(Lithospermum arvense) and narrow-fruited cornsalad (Valerianella 

Page 143

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
dentata), though both are scattered and rare at the site.  The existing 
arable plants are confined to the very outer cultivated edge of the fields, 
as shown in the photo: 

 

 
Example of arrow arable field margin at the boundary of the residential properties of Langley Vale.    Photo 
from Ecological Impact Assessment, prepared by The Ecology Co-op, reference P2851 and dated 27 June 
2025   
 

19.12. The EcIA concludes that the proposed development would have a 
negative effect on these arable margins through their loss to in new 
development, including the provision of the SuDS.  
 

19.13. The Council’s Ecologist agrees with this conclusion, noting that whilst rare 
arable plants are currently only found on the margins of the site, the 
arable species are known to persist in the soil for decades and therefore 
could occur anywhere on the development site (arable plants were first 
recorded here in 1987). The proposal would lead to the loss of the plants 
found on margins and eliminate the potential on the rest of the field 
included in the development site.  

 
19.14. Originally, the EcIA highlighted compensation measures for the loss of the 

arable field margins from the site through the provision of two new 
cultivated strips, of no less than 8 metres, one located along the southern 
boundary of the site and the other running along the eastern field 
boundary of the arable field to the south. 

 

Page 144

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 
Location of two new 8.0 metre wide cultivated filed margin to be managed in perpetuity on retained part of the 
arable field to the south of the site.  Extract from Ecological Impact Assessment, prepared by The Ecology Co-
op, reference P2851 and dated 27 June 2025   

 
19.15. Whilst the Council’s Ecologist welcomed the proposed compensation 

measure, it was noted that there would still be a small loss of habitat as a 
result of the loss of the margins around the development site, and in 
reality the actual loss of habitat would be greater, as the strip proposed 
along the eastern field boundary of the arable field to the south is a 
continuation of the existing margin and cannot be considered new habitat.  

 
19.16. Whilst the Council’s Ecologist acknowledges that the main benefit of the 

proposed mitigation is that the margins would be managed specifically for 
the arable plants and therefore should improve in quality, it is doubtful that 
this beneficial management outweighs the loss of habitat that would occur 
because of the proposed development. 

 
19.17. The Council’s Ecologist considered that a possible approach would be to 

manage the whole of the remaining adjacent field margins for arable 
plants, along with funding and a change of ownership. This creation of a 
mini arable plant reserve would provide adequate compensation for the 
loss as a result of the proposed development and could link with the 
existing Woodland Trust management of arable plants in the local area.    

 
19.18. The applicant has agreed to this approach and Officers are satisfied that 

the compensation could be secured by way of a Habitat Creation and 
Management Plan, to include a monitoring regime to assess the success 

Page 145

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
of the compensation, via Section 106 Agreement, in the event outline 
permission is granted.   

 

 
Location of new 8.0 metre wide cultivated filed margin to be managed in perpetuity on retained part of the 
arable field to the south of the site.  Extract from correspondence prepared by The Ecology Co-op.dated 15 
December 2025.  

 
19.19. Officers are satisfied that the compensation proposed would represent 

and improvement on the current status of the SINC for arable plants and 
would therefore enhance the nature conservation potential of the site, in 
compliance with Policy DM4 of the DMPD.  

 
19.20. The enhancement of the SINC would be a benefit of the proposed 

development to be weighted in the planning balance. 
 

19.21. Priority Habitat 
 

19.22. The EcIA identifies that there are no priority habitats within the site and 
that the only priority habitat in proximity to the site is the Deciduous 
Woodland immediately to the south east, which is classified as ancient 
and semi-natural woodland.   

 
Mitigation  
 

Page 146

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
19.23. This priory habitat would be protected from the proposed development 

through the establishment of a 15 metres buffer. 
 

19.24. During the construction process, the erection of appropriate acoustic 
barriers to reduce noise and visual disturbances to the woodland 
environment and dust suppression measures are proposed, which could 
be captured in a Construction Environmental Management Plan that 
would be secured by condition in the event permission is granted.  

 
19.25. The EcIA also confirms that this priority habitat will be further protected 

from direct access by future residents of the proposed development 
through the planting of thorny scrub along the edge of the woodland 
boundary. 

 
19.26. Protected Species  

 
Bats 
 
Building Surveys   
 

19.27. The EcIA confirms that the buildings at Farm View to be demolished 
assessed in an interior and exterior survey to be of low suitability to 
support roosting bats  
 

19.28. Subsequently, a single bat emergence surveys was conducted in June 
2025 to determine the presence/likely absence of roosting bats. Two 
common pipistrelle bats were recorded emerging from the southwestern 
corner of the building, confirming the presence of a day roost for the 
species. 

 
19.29. Trees on and around the were also assessed and found to be unsuitable 

for bat roosts. 
 

Activity Survey  
 
Walked Transects  

 
19.30. The EcIA confirms that three bat activity surveys were carried out in April, 

July and September 2024, concluding that recorded bat activity was low 
on the site, with only the only survey area to have any activity recorded 
during all three surveys to the south eastern corner of the site which 
borders the adjacent woodland.  
 

19.31. A limited range of common species were recorded during the activity 
surveys, those being common pipistrelle, soprano pipistrelle and noctule. 
There was no evidence of rare or scarce bat species. Common pipistrelle 
was the only species recorded during all three surveys. 

 
Automated Static Bat Detecting 

 

Page 147

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
19.32. A total of seven species and one genera were recorded across the site by 

the static detectors, three of which, Leisler’s bat, serotine and barbastelle 
are vulnerable or near threatened. Myotis bat activity was also recorded, 
but without droppings for DNA analysis or the capture of a live animal, it 
was not possible to identify the species. The higher activity was detected 
along the eastern woodland edge, mainly driven by the common pipistrelle 
passes. Barbastelle and Myotis species passes were highest along the 
central hedgerow, with an average of 78 and 129 passes recorded per 
night for each species respectively.  

 
Assessment 
 

19.33. As the demolition of the residential property at the northern end of the site 
is essential for the development, the avoidance of the destruction of the 
common pipistrelle bat roost cannot be avoided. 
 

19.34. The activity surveys have demonstrated that the habitats contained within 
the development site do support commuting bats, but in relatively low 
numbers. The EcIA concludes that based on the surveys, the site is not 
important to foraging and commuting bats beyond the local level. 

 
Mitigation  

 
19.35. A European Protected Species license must be obtained in order to 

legally destroy the identified bat roost and as part of the licensing process, 
suitable mitigation measures would be detailed.  

 
19.36. The Council must ensure that before permission is granted they are 

satisfied that any mitigation or compensation conditions imposed do not 
conflict with the requirements of a bat mitigation licence and be confident 
that Natural England will issue a licence (Bats: advice for making planning 
decisions Natural England 2025). 
 

19.37. In considering Natural England’s application of the ‘three tests’ to licence 
applications, Officers are satisfied that Natural England would issue a 
licence. The Council’s failure to demonstrate five years housing land 
supply identifies there is sufficient need in the Brough for housing, which 
has both clear social and economic benefits and can be considered an 
overriding public interest. As the demolition of the residential property at 
the northern end of the site is essential for the development, there is no 
satisfactory alternative that would prevent the loss of the roost. Finally, 
suitable mitigation measures, such as soft demolition of roost features and 
rescue of bats to be placed safely in a pre-installed bat box as necessary 
are proposed.  

 
19.38. Other mitigation proposed includes the creation of new grassland and 

scrub habituates for foraging and the provision of no less than 50 
integrated bat boxes designed within the scheme would provide an 
increase in roosting resources for bats.  

 

Page 148

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
19.39. Offices are therefore satisfied that the mitigation proposed would not 

conflict with the requirements of a bat mitigation licence and are confident 
that Natural England would issue a licence in the event permission is 
granted.  

 
Reptiles 

 
       Surveys  
 
19.40. The EcIA sets out that reptile surveys were carried out seven times over 

the period of 10 May-14 June 2024. 
 

Assessment   
 
19.41. The surveys identified the presence of grass snakes on the site, two 

juvenile and two sub-adults.  The EcIA concludes that based on the small 
numbers involved, the small extent of habitat and absence of other reptile 
species, the population contained within the development site is not 
considered important to common reptiles beyond the local level. 

 
Mitigation  

 
19.42. The EcIA sets out that a Mitigation Statement would be produced setting 

out the measures, including habitat manipulation and hand searches, that 
would be adopted to ensure the risk of direct harm to grass snakes is 
minimised. In particular, removal of potential hibernacula within 
construction zones must be undertaken outside the hibernation period 
(November to mid-March). 

 
Dormouse  
 
Surveys 
 

19.43. The walkover survey identified the adjacent Ancient Woodland as being 
suitable habitat for Dormouse.  The Ancient Woodland was noted as 
being fairly isolated with limited connectivity to another suitable habitat. 
 
Assessment 

 
19.44. The EcIA notes that whilst the presence of dormouse within the Ancient 

Woodland cannot be discounted, due to its isolation of limited connectivity 
to any other suitable habitat, it is unlikely that the Ancient Woodland would 
attract dormouse to the site.  
 
Badgers  
 
Surveys 
 

19.45. A walkover survey of the site in 2019 identified the presence of badger 
latrines in the field margin on the eastern boundary of the site. Further 

Page 149

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
walked assessments of the site in 2024 were undertaken to establish if 
further field signs were present, in addition to searches for any potential 
badger setts. 
 
Assessment 

 
19.46. No direct evidence of badger activity was identified during the site surveys  

and the EcIA considers it highly unlikely that any badger setts are situated 
within 30m of the site boundary given that the majority of the site 
comprises of cultivated arable land, of very low suitability for badger sett 
establishment. 
 

19.47. It is noted that the West Surrey Badger Group has caried out a partial sett 
survey of the site in August 2025 and identified evidence of badger activity 
on the north of the site. Furthermore, West Surrey Badger Group also 
advised that they have received several calls from local residents stating 
that they have badgers visiting their gardens, with one resident stating 
that they knew where there is a badger sett, although this has not been 
corroborated by the Group during their sett survey.  
 

19.48. Badgers are not protected for their conservation status. The Protection of 
Badgers Act 1992 aims to protect the species from persecution, rather 
than being a response to an unfavourable conservation status, as the 
species is, in fact, common over most of Britain, with particularly high 
populations in the south west. 
 

19.49. The 1992 Act also makes the intentional or reckless destruction, damage 
or obstruction of Badger setts an offence. In addition, the intentional 
elimination of sufficient foraging area used to support a known social 
group of Badgers may, in certain circumstances, be construed as an 
offence by constituting ‘cruel ill treatment’ of a Badger. 
 

19.50. Officers are satisfied that a condition to carry out Badger monitoring 
surveys prior to development would be an acceptable measure to prevent 
the disturbance of any badgers or their setts, should they be identified, as 
a result of the proposal. 

 
Breeding Birds 
 
Surveys  
 

19.51. A survey of the site carried out over six visits between late March and 
Early July 2024 recorded 29 species present, three species of which are 
‘red’ listed and 7 ‘amber’ listed under the Birds of Conservation Concern.   

 
19.52. Skylark are also listed as ‘red’ under the Birds of Conservation Concern 

and one nesting site was observed during the survey of the site. 
 

Assessment 
 

Page 150

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
19.53. The loss of suitable arable habitat supporting nesting skylarks would be 

unavoidable as a result of the proposed development 
 
Mitigation  

 
19.54. The EcIA sets out that commencement of construction activity must either 

be timed to be outside the nesting bird season to avoid the risk of harm to 
nesting skylark, or follow an appropriate precautionary approach, whereby 
skylark nesting is deterred prior to commencement during the nesting bird 
season and following a check to confirm the absence of active nests. 
 

19.55. Where possible, all boundary habitats would be retained and protected 
from disturbance to ensure these potential nesting resources by other 
common birds remain. Alternative nesting sites can also be incorporated 
into the retained area of the arable field to the south.  
 

19.56. Nesting was identified close to this habitat parcel and this may be made 
more favourable through the incorporation of a‘skylark plot’ within the 
field. This ‘edge’ habitat creation within the field favours nesting skylark, 
who prefer to nest away from field boundaries and utilise tall grasses and 
cereal crops where they create an arched structure. 

 
19.57. The Council’s Ecologist acknowledges that that the loss of part of the site 

to the proposed development would result in the loss of skylark breeding 
territory and whilst the proposed mitigation may improve the remaining 
area, it would not replace the lost area and there will still be an overall 
loss of habitat. 
 

19.58. However, it has since been clarified that the ‘skylark plot’ is a small 
unseeded area within an arable field (wheat, barley, or oats) that creates 
the tussocky features these birds prefer. Furthermore, it should also be 
recognised that the creation of a large area of cultivated, unseeded 
habitat within the field margins that are not sprayed or fertilised will 
undoubtedly have a significant benefit for foraging skylarks also. Officers 
are satisfied that the mitigation provided by way of the Skylark plot would 
sufficiently outweigh the loss of existing breeding habitat from the site.  
 
Hedgehog  
 
Assessment 

 
19.59. The EcIA recognises the Ancient Woodland to the south east of the site, 

as well as scrub and hedgerow on the site, may provide suitable habitat 
for hedgehogs.  

 
Mitigation  

 
19.60. The EcIA sets out that a site-wide Mitigation Statement must detail 

precautions to ensure that care is taken to ensure that habitat removal is 

Page 151

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
undertaken sensitively and using hand-tools only, particularly along the 
boundary between the site and adjacent properties. 
 

19.61. Whilst there would be a short-term possible loss of available habitat 
during the construction process, the landscaping design of the site 
includes several opportunities for hedgehogs. 

 
19.62. Ecology Conclusion  

 
19.63. The Council’s Ecology Officer has reviewed the EcIA and has considered 

it to be appropriate in scope and methodology and recommends, in the 
event permission is granted, a condition to secure the enhancement 
measures set out within. 
 

19.64. Subject to the above mentioned conditions, should outline permission be 
granted; the Local Planning Authority are satisfied that they have carried 
out their duty of care under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities Act to protect the species identified under Schedule 5 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and Schedule 2 of 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 
19.65. Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
19.66. Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 13 

of the NPPF require delivery of biodiversity net gain (BNG), the former 
requiring and minimum of 10% to be achieved by establishing coherent 
ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures 
with the overall intention to deliver a more or better quality natural habitat 
than there was before development. 

 
19.67. The application was accompanied by a Biodiversity Impact Calculation 

prepared by The Ecology Co-op, reference 2851 and dated 02 July 2025.  
 
19.68. The Biodiversity Impact Calculation demonstrates that the proposed 

development would create an onsite BNG increase of 3.91 habitat units 
(33%) and 4.06 hedgerow units (2745%) exceeding the national 
requirements.  

 
19.69. This net gain would be delivered a through a comprehensive landscaping 

scheme. In the event permission is granted, delivery of the BNG and 
monitoring provisions will form part of a Habitat Management and 
Monitoring Plan, which would be secured by a condition in the event 
permission is granted. A Section 106 Agreement would also be required 
to secure the BNG monitoring fee.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 152

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
20. Flooding and Drainage 

 
20.1. Flood Risk and Vulnerability 
 
20.2. Paragraphs 170 and 181 of the NPPF Policy CS6 of the CS and Policy 

DM19 of the DMPD state that Inappropriate development in areas at risk 
of flooding development at medium or high risk from flooding must ensure 
that there is no increase in flood risk, whether on or off site, and 
implementation of flood resilience and mitigation to reduce it to acceptable 
levels. 

 
20.3. The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment and Outline 

Drainage Strategy (FRA), prepared by Aqua Terra Consulting, reference 
P24062_R3 and dated July 2025. 
 

20.4. In terms of fluvial flooding, the site is in an area of low flood risk, outside 
of Flood Zone 2 and 3 as identified on the Environment Agency Flood 
Risk Maps and therefore the proposed development would be wholly 
located in Flood Zone 1. As such the development has low risk of fluvial 
flooding. 
 

20.5. Furthermore, all proposed access to the site would also be within Flood 
Zone 1 and would continue unimpeded to provide safe access to and from 
The proposed development in the event of a flood. 

 
20.6. As the proposed development would lie within Flood Zone 1, neither the 

sequential test nor the exceptions test, as set out in the Government’s 
guidance ‘Flood risk assessment: the sequential test for applicants’ 2017 
needs to be carried out. 
 

20.7. In respect of pluvial flooding, three small areas are within the site lie within 
the Epsom and Ewell designated Critical Drainage Area and at risk of 
surface water flooding. One area affected by the designation lies to the 
northern western section of the site; one along the western boundary and 
the other to the north east as shown below: 

 

Page 153

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 

 
 

20.8. The north west section would overlap the southern section of the 
proposed access to the site. The FRA identifies that this section surface 
water flood risk ranging from Low (<1.0% annual chance) to High (>3.3% 
annual chance) risk of occurring. 

 
20.9. The north east section would form part of the proposed green corridor and 

has a Low to Medium (1.0- 3.3% annual chance) of surface water flood 
risk  

 
20.10. The area on the western boundary would fall within the proposed 

development's green area/water attenuation area and has a Low (<1.0% 
annual chance) risk of surface water flooding.  

 
20.11. Paragraph 175 of the NPPF states that the sequential test should be used 

in areas known to be at risk now or in the future from any form of flooding, 
except in situations where a site-specific flood risk assessment 
demonstrates that no built development within the site boundary, including 
access or escape routes, land raising or other potentially vulnerable 
elements, would be located on an area that would be at risk of flooding 
from any source, now and in the future (having regard to potential 
changes in flood risk). 

 
20.12. National flood risk standing advice for local planning authorities (August 

2024) provides further clarification stating that a sequential test may not 
be needed if development can be laid out so that only elements such as 

Page 154

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
public open space, biodiversity and amenity areas are located in areas at 
risk of any source of current or future flooding. 
 

20.13. The supporting FRA notes that whilst there are small areas of the site at a 
low to medium risk of surface water flooding, these are excluded from the 
development areas. However, the FRA fails to recognise paragraph 175 
of the NPPF, which considers accesses to be included in the definition of 
built development.  
 

20.14. Notwithstanding this, Officers recognise that the Critical Drainage Area 
does not overlap the entire proposed access and the section that does 
has Low probability of surface water flooding. In this case, the Council are 
satisfied that the Sequential Test is not required in this instance.  

 
20.15. Sustainable Drainage 
 
20.16. Paragraphs 181 and 182 of the NPPF, Policy CS6 of the CS 2007 and 

Policy DM19 of the DMPD seek the implementation of sustainable urban 
drainage systems (SuDS). 

 
20.17. To mitigate surface water flooding to and from the site, the supporting 

FRA calculates the existing run off rates for the site and considers the 
most appropriate SuDS measures to be infiltration to the ground features 
along the western boundary (such as lined vegetated forebays, swales 
and attenuation basins), a blue-green corridor for the centre of the site 
that would act as a conduit for runoff for the eastern parts of the site 
towards the infiltration features in the west and permeable paving, which 
would also be installed in low use access roads and parking areas. The 
access road catchment would drain to an adjacent filter drain and 
onwards to an infiltration trench in the west. 

 
20.18. As infiltration to the ground has been identified as being suitable for the 

site, the surface water associated with the proposed development would 
not be discharged into the public sewer system.  

 
20.19. The Lead Local Flood Authority have confirmed that the outline drainage 

proposal satisfies the requirements of the NPPF and has recommended 
that, at the detailed design stage, further consideration should be given to 
implementing smaller scale SuDS throughout the development such as 
water butts, rain gardens and green roofs for bin/bike storage. 

 
20.20. Should permission be granted, suitable conditions are required to secure 

the details of the design of the surface water drainage scheme and to 
ensure that it is properly implemented and maintained throughout the 
lifetime of the development. 

 
21. Contamination and Remediation 

 
21.1. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF and Policy DM17 of the DMPD requires 

planning decisions to ensure that a site is suitable for its proposed use 

Page 155

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from land 
instability and contamination. Paragraph 125(c) of the NPPF strongly 
encourages remediation of brownfield sites. 
 

21.2. The application is supported by a Geo-environmental Desk Study, 
prepared by Aqua Terra Consulting, reference P24062_R1_Rev 2 dated 
June 2025 which has concludes that no sources of potential 
contamination were identified on site, although acknowledging that a 
petrol station located to the north west of the site and ponds infilled with 
unknown material represent potential sources of contamination.  

 
21.3. Controlled waters are sensitive in this location, as the site is located upon 

a Principal aquifer. The site also lies within Source Protection Zone 1. The 
Environment Agency are satisfied that the proposal falls outside of their 
remit for groundwater protection from potentially contaminated 
development.   

 
21.4. As Thames Water has a statutory duty to protect water sources for public 

water supply, they have requested that in the event permission is granted, 
it is subject to a condition to secure a Source Protection Strategy prior to 
the commencement of the development on site.  
 

21.5. The Council’s Contamination Officer has raised no objection to the 
proposed development subject to, in the event permission is granted, 
conditions to secure a desk study, site investigation and risk assessment 
to determine the existence, extend and concentrations of contamination 
prior to commencement of the development and to secure remedial works 
and measures in the event unexpected contamination is found on site 
during any construction works.   
 

21.6. These conditions would ensure that risks from land contamination to 
future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together 
with those to controlled waters, property, and ecological systems and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors.  

 
22. Utilities  
 

22.1. Foul Water  
 

22.2. Thames Water have confirmed that they have been unable to determine 
the foul water infrastructure needs associated with the proposal. Whilst 
there is evidence to suggest that Thames Water have confirmed to the 
applicant outside of this planning application that there is capacity in the 
existing surrounding sewer network to accommodate foul water discharge 
associated with the proposed development, Thames Water have 
requested a condition to secure a foul water impact assessment prior to 
development taking place on site, in the event permission is granted.  

 

Page 156

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
22.3. Officers note that as Thames Waters foul water capacity concerns can be 

address by way of a condition, it is likely that the foul water discharge 
associated with the proposed development can be adequately 
accommodated in the future, in the event permission is granted. 

 
22.4. Clean Water  

 
22.5. Thames Water have confirmed an inability to of the existing water network 

infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this development proposal. 
Whilst there is evidence to suggest that Thames Water have confirmed to 
the applicant outside of this planning application that there is capacity for 
up to 100 homes, this is not reserved for the proposed development.  For 
this reason, Thames Water have requested a pre-occupation condition to 
secure confirmation that all water network upgrades required to 
accommodate the additional demand to serve the development have been 
completed; or a development and infrastructure phasing plan has been 
agreed with Thames Water to allow development to be occupied. 

 
22.6. Officers note that as Thames Waters water capacity concerns can be 

address by way of a condition, it is likely that the proposed development 
can be adequately served by clean water in the future, in the event 
permission is granted.  

 
23. Environmental Sustainability  
 

23.1. Policy CS6 of the CS stipulates that development should incorporate 
sustainable development and reduce, or have a neutral impact upon, 
pollution and climate change. This includes incorporation of renewable 
energy, use of sustainable construction methods and sustainable building 
design, flood management, reduction in water use and improvement of 
water quality and minimisation of noise, water, and light pollution. 

 
23.2. Although matters relating to accessibility would be part of a subsequent 

reserved matters application in the event outline planning permission was 
granted, the application is supported by an Energy and Sustainability 
Assessment, prepared by PinnacleEPS, reference P5014 Rev 1 and 
dated July 2025. This report demonstrates that any reserved matters 
application submitted could accommodate a low carbon development that 
achieves the highest of environmental performance standards, both 
through construction and operation.  

 
23.3. Furthermore, the supporting Design and Access Statement, prepared by 

Paul Hewett, Rev C confirms that renewable energy sources and energy 
saving features would be proposed as part of a reserved matters 
application.  

 
 
 
 

Page 157

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
24. Accessibility and Equality 

 
24.1. Policy CS16 of the CS and Policy DM12 of the DMPD requires safe, 

convenient, and attractive access to be incorporated within the design of 
the development.  
 

24.2. Matters relating to accessibility would be part of a subsequent reserved 
matters application in the event outline planning permission was granted. 

 
24.3. The Council is required to have regard to its obligations under the Equality 

Act 2010, including protected characteristics of age, disability, gender, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion, or belief. 

 
24.4. There would be no adverse impacts because of the development. 
 

25. Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
25.1. Paragraphs 56 and 57 of the NPPF requires consideration of whether 

otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through 
the use of conditions or planning obligations, but only where they are 
necessary, related to the development, fair and reasonable.  

 
25.2. Policy CS12 of the CS and the Developer Contributions SPD require that 

development must be able to demonstrate that the service and community 
infrastructure necessary to serve the development is available, either 
through on-site provision or a financial contribution via a planning 
obligation.  

 
25.3. Planning Obligations  
 

Financial Obligations  

a) £200,000 per annum for five years to provide an enhanced bus service 
provision to the site, either through DDRT (Digital Demand Response 
Transport) or securing/improving the existing bus service to Langley Vale 

b) £28.930.97 towards police infrastructure to mitigate for the population 
growth 

c) £6,900 BNG Monitoring Fee 

d) £20,000 Section 106 Administration and Compliance Fees 

e) £5,000 Travel Plan Monitoring Fee   

 
         Non-Financial Obligations  

f) Delivery of Affordable Housing as follows:  

 

Page 158

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
- 39 x rented (anticipated as social rent levels) in a mix ofunit sizes that 

reflects the future housing mix configuration of the site 
- 16 x intermediate (anticipated as shared ownership) rented in a mix 

ofunit sizes that reflects the future housing mix configuration of the site 

g) Provision of two car club spaces and vehicles, alongside EVCPs for the 
use of these vehicles, for a minimum period of three years, with three 
years free membership and £50 worth of driving time credit for occupiers 
of the new development. 

h) Provision of cycle vouchers for occupiers of the new development. 

i) Habitat Creation and Management Plan  

j) Open Space Management and Maintenance Strategy and unrestricted 
public access to be maintained to the Open Space  

k) Play Area Management and Maintenance Strategy and unrestricted 
public access to be maintained to the Play Areas  

l) Landscape Management and Maintenance Strategy 

 
25.4.  CIL Contributions  

 
25.5. The Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 2014 indicates 

that the application is chargeable for CIL payments because it involves a 
net increase in dwellings. It is payable at £125/m2 index linked. 

 
26. Very Special Circumstances  
 

26.1. As set out in Section 9 of this Agenda Report, Officers consider the site to 
constitute Grey Belt land and that the proposed development has met the 
tests of paragraphs 155-157 of the NPPF. Officers therefore consider the 
proposed development to not be inappropriate in the Green Belt and 
therefore very special circumstances are not considered necessary in this 
instance. 

 
26.2. However, should Members consider otherwise, the very special 

circumstances put forward are detailed below. In this case, Officers 
consider the very special circumstances put forward in this case clearly 
outweigh the potential harm to the Green Belt identified through reasons 
of inappropriate, together with the limited harm to openness and one 
purpose of including the land within it, such that very special 
circumstances are said to exist. 

 
26.3. The proposed development would make a meaningful contribution 

towards delivering the Council’s housing target and would therefore be 
consistent with the NPPF and Council policy as far as it seeks to 
significantly boost the supply of homes. Given the significant need for 

Page 159

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
housing in the Borough and how long the deficit is likely to persist, this 
consideration is given significant weight. 

 
26.4. The proposed development would deliver 55 affordable units in a tenure 

mix that would reflect the varied needs of the Borough. This is in excess 
of the Council’s requirement as set out in Policy CS9 of the CS but 
accords with the Golden Rules. Given the significant shortfall of affordable 
housing delivery in the Borough and how long the deficit is likely to 
persist, this consideration is given significant weight.  

 
26.5. The proposal would provide new public realm, children’s play areas and 

landscaping that exceeds policy requirements and would be accessible to 
both future residents of the development and the general public in an 
urban area. This would create community cohesion as well as promoting 
health and well-being. Although the provision of open space and play 
space is a policy requirement for new development, this consideration is 
given moderate weight as a result of the significant excess.   

 
26.6. The proposed development would enhance the nature conservation of the 

Langley Bottom Farm Site of Nature Conservation Importance by 
providing dedicated and appropriately managed cultivated field margins 
for important arable plants.  This consideration is given moderate weight.   
 

26.7. The proposal would generate economic benefits, both short term during 
the construction phase, and during the lifetime of the schemes. There 
would also be further economic benefit arising due to future residents 
spending in local shops and facilities. Whilst there is no evidence to 
suggest that the local economy would be disadvantaged without the 
expenditure generated from the proposed development, due the scale of 
the proposed development, this consideration is given moderate weight.   

 
27. Other Material Considerations and Any Other Harm  
 

27.1. The proposed development would increase the biodiversity value of the  
site, retaining existing ecological features and creating new biodiversity  
rich habitats, resulting in a biodiversity net gain of 33% for habitat units 
and 2745% for hedgerow habitats, which represents an excess gain 
above the mandatory requirement of 10%. Given the excess provision 
above the national minimum requirement, this benefit is given limited 
weight in the planning balance. 
 

27.2. The proposed development would affect a meaningful change to the 
setting of The Warren boundary wall, a designated heritage asset, 
which would cause less than substantial harm to its significance.  Whilst 
Officers have given considerable importance and weight to the desirability 
of preserving the setting and the features this designated heritage asset, 
the less than substantial harm would be outweighed by the public 
benefits.  This adverse impact is given no weight in the planning balance.  
 

Page 160

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
27.3. Turning to the harms identified in the report above, the proposed 

development would result in the loss of 5.2ha best and most versatile 
subgrade 3a agricultural land as a result of the proposed development.  
However, as a result of limited impact this loss would have on the 
economic and food production benefits of this land and in taking into 
consideration that the loss of this agricultural land would not site would not 
significantly erode the amount of BMV agricultural land available for 
agricultural purposes, this adverse impact is attributed limited weight in 
the planning balance.  
 

27.4. The proposal would result in moderate adverse harm to the quality of the 
landscape character of the AGLV and moderate adverse harm to 
identified receptors.  Whilst this harm would be localised, this adverse 
impact is attributed moderate weight in the planning balance. 

 
27.5. In the overall balance, the benefits are viewed as sufficient to represent 

very special circumstances, outweighing he harm as specified in Section 9 
of this Agenda Report 

 

CONCLUSION 

 
27.6. As the Council cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable 

housing sites, paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged as the policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date. 
There are no footnote 7 policies which would provide a clear reason for 
refusing permission and which would prevent the tilted balance from being 
applied.  

 
27.7. The presumption is therefore to grant permission for sustainable 

development unless any adverse effects of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the Framework taken as a whole, or where specific policies in 
the Framework indicate that development should be restricted.  

 
27.8. Section 2 of the NPPF has an underlying presumption in favour of 

sustainable development which is carried through to the Development 
Plan. Policy CS1 of the CS expects development to contribute positively 
to the social, economic, and environmental improvements in achieving 
sustainable development whilst protecting and enhancing the natural and 
built environment. 

 
27.9. The site is located within the Green Belt which is identified as a protected 

area/asset of particular importance. The proposed development 
constitutes appropriate development of grey belt land. The proposed 
development complies with the Golden Rules, carrying significant weight 
in favour of the grant of permission, in accordance with paragraph 158 of 
the NPPF. The development is therefore not inappropriate. 

 

Page 161

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
27.10. However, should Members consider that the development is 

inappropriate, paragraph 153 of the NPPF is relevant and permission 
should not be approved except in very special circumstances. It is 
considered that all of the harms identified, which include the limited harm 
from the loss of the agricultural land, the harm to the openness of the 
Green Belt, the moderate but localised harm to the AGLV and local 
receptors are, in the opinion of Officers, clearly outweighed by the very 
special circumstances that have been evidenced in this Agenda Report. 

 
27.11. These factors/very special circumstances include the limited purposes 

that the site contributes to the function of Green Belt which carries 
significant positive weight, as well as the significant positive weight that 
would be attributable to the amount of market and affordable housing 
proposed within the scheme, along with moderate social, environmental 
and economic benefits.  

 
27.12. Within this overall balance, having regard to the above factors, national 

Green Belt policies do not provide a clear reason for refusing the 
proposed development. The adverse impacts of granting permission in 
this particular instance do not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits. when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole, or where specific policies in the Framework indicate that 
development should be restricted. 

 
27.13. The application is recommended for approval. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
PART A 
 
GRANT conditional planning permission, subject to the prior completion of 
a S106 Legal Agreement to secure the following planning obligations 
 
Financial Obligations  
 
a) £200,000 per annum for five years to provide an enhanced bus service 

provision to the site, either through DDRT (Digital Demand Response 
Transport) or securing/improving the existing bus service to Langley Vale 

b) £28.930.97 towards police infrastructure to mitigate for the population 
growth. 

c) £6,900 BNG Monitoring Fee 
d) £20,000 Section 106 Administration and Compliance Fees 
e) £5,000 Travel Plan Monitoring Fee  

 
Non-Financial Obligations  
 
f) Delivery of Affordable Housing as follows:  

- 39 x rented (anticipated as social rent levels) in a mix of unit sizes that 
reflects the future housing mix configuration of the site 

Page 162

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
- 16 x intermediate (anticipated as shared ownership) rented in a mix ofunit 

sizes that  reflects the future housing mix configuration of the site 
g) Provision of two car club spaces and vehicles, alongside EVCPs for the use 

of these vehicles, for a minimum period of three years, with three years free 
membership and £50 worth of driving time credit for occupiers of the new 
development. 

h) Provision of cycle vouchers for occupiers of the new development. 
i) Habitat Creation and Management Plan  
j) Open Space Management and Maintenance Strategy and unrestricted public 

access to be maintained to the Open Space  
k) Play Area Management and Maintenance Strategy and unrestricted public 

access to be maintained to the Play Areas  
l) Landscape Management and Maintenance Strategy 
 
and the following conditions and informatives 
 
PART B 
 
If the Section 106 Agreement referred to in Part A is not completed by 26 
August 2026, the Head of Place Development is authorised to refuse the 
application for the following reason: 
 
In the absence of a completed legal obligation under Section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, the applicant has failed to comply with Policies 
CS3, CS4, CS9, and CS16 of the Core Strategy 2007 and Policies DM4, DM6 
and DM36 of the Development Management Policies Document 2015. 
 

CONDITIONS   

 
Delivery Conditions 

 
1. Timescale  

 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission, or before expiration of two years 
from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, 
whichever is the later.  
 
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by Section 51(2) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

 
2. Reserved Matters  

 
No part of the development hereby permitted shall be begun until details of the 
layout, scale, appearance of the development and the landscaping of the site 
(hereinafter called “the reserved matters”) have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority for that part of the development. The 
development shall be carried out as approved. 

Page 163

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 
Reason: To allow such details to be reserved for subsequent consideration and 
to comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 
 

3. Approved details  
 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 
2503/PL.01 Rev B Location Plan 
2503/PL.03 Rev C Parameters Plan 
ITB200788-GA0-002 Rev Proposed Site Access Arrangements  

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning as 
required by Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy 2007. 
  
Pre-Commencement Conditions 
 

4. Construction Transport Management Plan 
 
No development shall commence unless and until a Construction Transport 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Details shall include: 
 
a) parking for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors 
b) loading and unloading of plant and materials 
c) storage of plant and materials 
d) programme of works (including measures for traffic management) 
e) provision of boundary hoarding behind any visibility zones 
f) HGV deliveries and hours of operation 
g) vehicle routing 
h) measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway 
i) before and after construction condition surveys of the highway and a 

commitment to fund the repair of any damage caused 
j) on-site turning for construction vehicles 
 
The approved details shall be implemented during the construction of the 
development. 

 
Reason: For the development not to prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with the objectives of the 
NPPF 2024, and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development 
Management Policies 2015 and Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy 2007. 

 
5. Construction Environmental Management Plan  
  

No development shall commence unless and until a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Page 164

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall set out, as a minimum, site specific 
measures to control and monitor impact arising in relation to construction traffic, 
noise and vibration, dust and air pollutants, land contamination, ecology, and 
ground water. It shall also set out arrangements by which the developer shall 
maintain communication with residents and businesses in the vicinity of the site, 
and by which the developer shall monitor and document compliance with the 
measures set out in the CEMP. 
 
The development shall be constructed full accordance with the approved details 
at all times.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties 
in accordance with Policy DM10 of the Development Management Policies 
Document 2015. 

 
6. Surface Water Drainage Scheme  
 

No development shall commence unless and until details of the final design of a 
surface water drainage scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the planning authority.The required drainage details shall include: 
 
a) Hydraulic calculations to demonstrate the proposed final solution will 

effectively manage the 1 in 30 (+35% allowance for climate change) & 1 in 
100 (+40% allowance for climate change) storm events and 10% allowance 
for urban creep. 

b) Detailed design drawings for all sustainable drainage elements including 
cross sections and detailed drainage layout plan. 

c) An exceedance flow routing plan demonstrating no increase in surface water 
flood risk on or off site. The plan must include proposed levels and flow 
directions. 

d) Details of drainage management responsibilities and maintenance regimes 
for all drainage elements. 

e) Details of how surface water will be managed during construction including 
measures to protect on site and downstream systems prior to the final 
drainage system being operational. 

 
The final solution should follow the principles set out in the approved drainage 
strategy. The design must satisfy the SuDS Hierarchy and be compliant with the 
national standards for sustainable drainage systems and the NPPF. 
 
The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved 
details prior to first occupation. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated 
into the development and to reduce the impact of flooding in accordance with 
Policy CS6 of the Epsom and Ewell Core Strategy 2007 and Policy DM19 of the 
Development Management Policies 2015. 
 

7. Source Protection Strategy 
 

Page 165

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
No development shall commence unless and until a Source Protection Strategy 
has been submitted to and approved by, the local planning authority in 
consultation with the water undertaker. Details shall include how the water 
abstraction source would not be detrimentally affected by the proposed 
development, both during and after its construction.  
 
Thames Water consider a suitable Source protection strategy to consist of the 
following (where applicable): CEMP; foundation/piling risk assessment; drainage 
management plan; groundwater monitoring strategy; communication plan and 
emergency procedures documentation. 
 
The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved 
details prior to first occupation. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 
pollution from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development 
site, as required by Policy DM10 of the Development Management Policies 
Document 2015 and Section 15 of the NPPF 2024. 

 
8. Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan 
 

No development shall commence unless and until a Habitat Management and 
Monitoring Plan (HMMP), prepared in accordance with the approved statutory 
biodiversity gain plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the 
Local Planning Authority. Details shall include: 

 
a) A non-technical summary; 
b) The roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering the 

HMMP; 
c) The planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve 

habitat to achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance with the approved 
statutory biodiversity gain plan; 

d) The management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the 
approved Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the completion 
of development; and 

e) The monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or 
enhanced habitat to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
No occupation shall take place until the habitat creation and enhancement work 
set out in the approved HMMP have been completed; and a completion report, 
evidencing the completed habitat enhancements, has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Notice in writing shall be given to the Council when the HMMP works have 
started. The created and/or enhanced habitat specified in the approved HMPP 
shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the approved HMMP. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development results in a biodiversity net gain which 
meets national standards, in accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and 

Page 166

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
Country Planning Act 1990, Section 180 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2024 and Policy DM4 of the Development Management Policies 
Document 2015. 
 

9. Badger Monitoring Survey  
 
No development shall commence until a badger monitoring survey is carried out 
to determine site usage and ensure that no setts have been excavated. Detials 
of the survey shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the local 
planning authority prior to commencement of any works.  
 
Reason: To preserve and enhance biodiversity and habitats in accordance with 
Policy CS3 of the Core Strategy 2007 and Policy DM4 of the Development 
Management Policies 2015. 
 

10. Bat Licence 
 
Demolition of the residential property at the northern end of the site shall not 
commence until a licence for development works affecting bats has been 
obtained from the Statutory Nature Conservation Organisation (Natural England) 
and a copy has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter 
mitigation measures approved in the licence shall be maintained in accordance 
with the approved details.  
 
Should the applicant conclude that a licence for development works affecting 
bats is not required, the applicant is to submit a report to the Local Planning 
Authority detailing the reasons for this assessment and this report is to be 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of 
works. 
 
Reason: The building host a day bat roost which may be affected by the 
proposals. This condition will ensure that bats, a material consideration, are not 
adversely impacted upon by the proposed development, and that the Council 
demonstrates that the Council has fulfilled its duties under the Conservation 
(Natural Habitats &c.) Regulations 2017. 
 

11. Programme of Archaeological Work  
 
No development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents or 
successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work, to be conducted in accordance with a written scheme of 
investigation which has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development thereafter shall be carried out in full 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure archaeological investigation recording in accordance with 
Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2024 and Policy DM8 of 
the Development Management Policies Document 2015 
 

12. Ground Contamination  

Page 167

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 
No development shall commence prior to undertaking the following in 
accordance with current best practice guidance: 
 
a) a desk study, site investigation and risk assessment to determine the 

existence, extent and concentrations of any made ground/fill, ground gas 
(including hydrocarbons) and contaminants (including asbestos) with the 
potential to impact sensitive receptors on and off-site. The results of the 

 investigation and risk assessment shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority: and 

 
b) if ground/groundwater contamination, filled ground and/or ground gas is 

found to present unacceptable risks, a detailed scheme of risk management 
measures shall be designed and submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval. 

 
The approved remediation scheme shall be carried out prior to the 
commencement of the development and in accordance with its terms. Following 
completion, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out must be produced prior to first occupation and is subject 
to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 
pollution from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development 
site, as required by Policy DM10 of the Development Management Policies 
Document 2015 and Section 15 of the NPPF 2024. 
 
Pre-Occupation Conditions 
 

13. New Access  
 
No part of the development shall be first occupied until the proposed vehicular, 
pedestrian and cycle accesses to Langley Vale Road hasbeen constructed and 
provided with visibility zones in general accordance with the approved plans and 
thereafter the visibility zones shall be kept permanently clear of any obstruction 
over 1.05m high. 
 
Reason: For the development not to prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with the objectives of the 
NPPF 2024, and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development 
Management Policies 2015 and Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy 2007. 
 

14. Vehicle Parking, Loading/Unloading and Turning Areas 
 
The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied until space has 
been laid out within the site in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for vehicles / cycles to be 
parked and for the loading and unloading of vehicles and for vehicles to turn so 
that they may enter and leave the site in forward gear. Thereafter the parking / 

Page 168

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
loading and unloading / turning areas shall be retained and maintained for their 
designated purposes. 
 
Reason: For the development not to prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with the objectives of the 
NPPF 2024, and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development 
Management Policies 2015 and Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy 2007. 
 

15. Provision for Sustainable Modes  
 
The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied until the following 
facilities have been provided in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for: 
 
a) The improvement of the bus stops located at Grosvenor Road and Harding 

Road to include provision of shelter, seating, lighting, accessible kerbing and 
Real Time Passenger Information (RTPI). 

b) Information to be provided to residents regarding the availability of and 
whereabouts of local public transport / walking / cycling / car sharing clubs 
/car clubs. 
Provision of pedestrian improvements to allow for access to local bus stops 
and facilities in broad accordance with Drawings ITB200788-GA-101, 
ITB200788-GA-102, ITB200788-GA-103 & ITB200788-GA-104 set out in 
Section 3 of the Enhanced Sustainable Transport Strategy.  

 
Thereafter, the said approved facilities shall be provided, retained and 
maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In recognition of Section 9 of the NPPF 2024 and in meeting its 
objectives as well as and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development 
Management Policies Document 2015. 

 
16. Cycle Parking 

 
The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied until details of 
cycle facilities have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Details shall include: 

 
(i) High quality, secure, lit and covered cycle parking for each dwelling. 
(ii) Charging points with timers for e-bikes within said facilities; 
(iii) Clear hardstanding routes between the cycle stores and the site access 
 
Thereafter, the approved facilities shall be provided, retained and maintained to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In recognition of Section 9 of the NPPF 2024 and in meeting its 
objectives as well as and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development 
Management Policies Document 2015. 
 

17. Electric Vehicle Charging Points  

Page 169

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 
The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until details of EV 
charging points are submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Details shall include each of the proposed dwellings being provided 
with a fully operational fast-charge Electric Vehicle charging point (current 
minimum requirements - 7 kw Mode 3 with Type 2 connector - 230v AC 32 Amp 
single phase dedicated supply). 
 
Thereafter, the approved spaces shall be retained and maintained to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In recognition of Section 9 of the NPPF 2024 and in meeting its 
objectives as well as and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development 
Management Policies Document 2015. 

 
18. Suds Verification Report  

 
Prior to the first occupation of the development, a verification report must be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This must 
demonstrate that the surface water drainage system has been constructed as 
per the agreed scheme (or detail any minor variations), confirming any defects 
have been rectified, provide the details of any management company and 
provide an ‘As-Built’ drainage layout and state the national grid reference of key 
drainage elements. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated 
into the development and to reduce the impact of flooding in accordance with 
Policy CS6 of the Epsom and Ewell Core Strategy 2007 and Policy DM19 of the 
Development Management Policies 2015. 
 

19. Foul Water Drainage  
 
The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied unless and until 
confirmation has been provided that either:  
 
a) foul water capacity exists off site to serve the development; or  
b) a development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with the 

Local Authority in consultation with Thames Water. Where a development 
and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation shall take place 
other than in accordance with the agreed development and infrastructure 
phasing plan; or  

c) all foul water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional 
flows from the development have been completed.  

 
Reason: To ensure adequate utility connections are incorporated into the 
development in accordance with Policy CS6 of the Epsom and Ewell Core 
Strategy 2007 and Policy DM19 of the Development Management Policies 
Document 2015. 

 
20. Water Network Upgrades  

Page 170

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 
The development associated with the residential scheme hereby permitted shall 
not be first occupied unless and until confirmation has been provided that either: 
 
a) all water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional 

demand to serve the development have been completed; or 
b) a development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with 

Thames Water to allow development to be occupied. Where a 
development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation 
shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed development 
and infrastructure phasing plan.  

 
Reason: To ensure adequate utility connections are incorporated into the 
development in accordance with Policy CS6 of the Epsom and Ewell Core 
Strategy 2007 and Policy DM19 of the Development Management Policies 
Document 2015. 
 

21. Travel Plan  
 
The development permitted shall not be first occupied until a Travel Plan is 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
accordance with the submitted and approved Framework Travel Plan 
dated June 2025 (report ITB200788-002a). The Travel Plan shall broadly 
be in line with the sustainable development aims and objectives of the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Surrey County Council’s “Travel 
Plans Good Practice Guide”. The approved Travel Plan shall be 
implemented upon first occupation and for each and every subsequent 
occupation of the development thereafter, maintain and develop the 
Travel Plan to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In recognition of Section 9 of the NPPF 2024 and in meeting its 
objectives as well as and to satisfy policies DM35 and DM36 of the Development 
Management Policies Document 2015. 

 
Compliance Conditions 
 
22. Biodiversity Net Gain Plan 
 

The statutory Biodiversity Net Gain Plan shall be prepared in accordance with 
the details set out in the Biodiversity Impact Calculation  prepared by The 
Ecology Co-Op,, dated July2025.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development results in a biodiversity net gain which 
meets national standards, in accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, Section 180 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2024 and Policy DM4 of the Development Management Policies 
Document 2015. 

 
23. Monitoring of HMMP 
 

Page 171

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
HMMP monitoring reports shall be submitted to Local Planning Authority in 
writing in accordance with the methodology and frequency specified in the 
approved HMMP in Condition 8. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development results in a biodiversity net gain which 
meets national standards, in accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, Section 180 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2024 and Policy DM4 of the Development Management Policies 
Document 2015. 

 
24. Compliance with Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement 

 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with 
the tree protection measures set out in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
and Method Statement (AIA) prepared by Arbortrack Systems Limited, reference 
jwmb/rpt1/langleybottomfarm/AIAAMS and dated 09 July 2025. 
 
Reason: To protect the trees adjacent to the site which are to be retained in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policy CS5 of 
the Core Strategy 2007 and Policies DM5 and DM9 of the Development 
Management Policies 2015 

 
25. Compliance with Ecological Survey 
 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with 
the biodiversity compensation and enhancement measures set out in the 
Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA), prepared by The Ecology Co-op, 
reference P2851 and dated 27 June 2025.  All biodiversity compensation and 
enhancement measures shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the 
development hereby permitted and thereafter maintained.  
 
Reason: To enhance biodiversity and habitats in accordance with Policy CS3 of 
the Core Strategy 2007. 

 
26. Unexpected Contamination  
 

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in 
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. In that event, an 
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is 
deemed necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared which is subject to 
the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of 
measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report 
must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 
pollution from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development 

Page 172

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
site, as required by Policy DM10 of the Development Management Policies 
Document 2015 and Section 15 of the NPPF 2024. 

 

INFORMATIVES  

 
1. Positive and Proactive Discussion 
 

In dealing with the application the Council has implemented the requirement in 
the National Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive 
and proactive way. We have made available detailed advice in the form or our 
statutory policies in the Core Strategy, Supplementary Planning Documents, 
Planning Briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as offering a full pre-
application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant has been given 
every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered 
favourably. 

 
2. Building Control 
 

Your attention is drawn to the need to comply with the relevant provisions of the 
Building Regulations, the Building Acts and other related legislation. These 
cover such works as the demolition of existing buildings, the erection of a new 
building or structure, the extension or alteration to a building, change of use of 
buildings, installation of services, underpinning works, and fire safety/means of 
escape works. Notice of intention to demolish existing buildings must be given to 
the Council’s Building Control Service at least 6 weeks before work starts. A 
completed application form together with detailed plans must be submitted for 
approval before any building work is commenced. 

 
3. Working Hours 
 

When undertaking building work, please be considerate to your neighbours and 
do not undertake work before 8am or after 6pm Monday to Friday, before 8am or 
after 1pm on a Saturday or at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
Furthermore, please ensure that all vehicles associated with the construction of 
the development hereby approved are properly washed and cleaned to prevent 
the passage of mud and dirt onto the adjoining highway.  

 
You are advised that the Council does have formal powers to control noise and 
nuisance under The Control of Pollution Act 1974, the Clean Air Acts and other 
relevant legislation. For further information and advice, please contact - 
Environmental Health Department Pollution Section. 

 
4. Burning of Material 
 

No burning of materials obtained by site clearance shall be carried out on the 
site. 

 
5. Control of Dust 
 

Page 173

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
During demolition or construction phases, adequate control precautions should 
be taken to control the spread of dust on the site, so as to prevent a nuisance to 
residents in the locality. This may involve the use of dust screens and importing 
a water supply to wet areas of the site to inhibit dust. 

 
6. Pre Commencement Conditions 
 

The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions 
which must be complied with prior to the development starting on site. 
Commencement of the development without complying with the pre-
commencement requirements may be outside the terms of this permission and 
liable to enforcement action.  The information required should be formally 
submitted to the Council for consideration with the relevant fee. Once the details 
have been approved in writing the development should be carried out only in 
accordance with those details.  If this is not clear please contact the case officer 
to discuss. 

 
7. Protected Species 
 

The applicant is reminded that it is an offence to disturb protected species under 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Should a protected species be found 
during the works, the applicant should stop work and contact Natural England for 
further advice on 0845 600 3078. 
 
This includes bats and Great Crested Newts, which are a protected species 
under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended).  Should any bats or evidence of bats be found prior to or during the 
development, all works must stop immediately and an ecological consultant 
contacted for further advice before works can proceed.  All contractors working 
on site should be made aware of the advice and provided with the contact 
details of a relevant ecological consultant. 
 

8. Breeding Birds  
 

Under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, it is illegal to intentionally destroy 
or disturb active bird nests, eggs, or young.  Vegetation clearance and 
demolition shall not be carried out during bird breeding season (1 March to 31 
August).  If it is necessary for these works to occur between 1 March - 31 
August, then a qualified ecologist must survey the site for nesting birds.   If a 
nest is found, a buffer zone must be established and works suspended in that 
area until the chicks have fledged.   

 
9. Biodiversity Net Gain 
 

The applicant is reminded of their obligations to deliver mandatory biodiversity 
net gain on-site in accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, including (a) submitting a Biodiversity Gain Plan that accords 
with the National Planning Practice Guidance and the approved BNG 
Assessment and Metric Tool; and (b) not operating prior to a completion report 
being agreed by the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 174

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 

10. Wheel Washing 
 

Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent 
the deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. The developer is 
reminded that it is an offence to allow materials to be carried from the site and 
deposited on or damage the highway from uncleaned wheels or badly loaded 
vehicles. The Highway Authority will seek, wherever possible, to recover any 
expenses incurred in clearing, cleaning, or repairing highway surfaces and 
prosecutes persistent offenders (Sections 131, 148 and 149 of the Highways Act 
1980). 

 
11. Works to the Highway 
 

The permission hereby granted shall not be construed as authority to carry out 
any works (including Stats connections/diversions required by the development 
itself or the associated highway works)on the highway or any works that may 
affect a drainage channel/culvert or water course.  In instances where the 
applicant is not the Highway Authority the applicant is advised that a permit and, 
potentially, a Section 278 agreement must be obtained from the Highway 
Authority before any works are carried out on any footway, footpath, 
carriageway, verge or other land forming part of the highway.  
 
All works (including Stats connections/diversions required by the development 
itself or the associated highway works)on the highway will require a permit and 
an application will need to submitted to the County Council's Street W orks 
Team up to 3 months in advance of the intended start date, depending on the 
scale of the works proposed and the classification of the road. Please see 
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/permits-and-licences/traffic-
management-permit-scheme. The applicant is also advised that Consent may be 
required under Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991.Please see 
www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-and-community/emergency-planning-and- 
community-safety/flooding-advice. 

 
12. Damage to Highway 
 

Section 59 of the Highways Act permits the Highway Authority to charge 
developers for damage caused by excessive weight and movements of vehicles 
to and from a site. The Highway Authority will pass on the cost of any excess 
repairs compared to normal maintenance costs to the applicant/organisation 
responsible for the damage. 

 
13. Design Works to the Highway 
 

The developer is advised that as part of the detailed design of the highway 
works required by the above condition(s), the County Highway Authority may 
require necessary accommodation works to street lights, road signs, road 
markings, highway drainage, surface covers, street trees, highway verges, 
highway surfaces, surface edge restraints and any other street 
furniture/equipment. 

Page 175

Agenda Item 7

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/permits-and-licences/traffic-management-permit-scheme
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/permits-and-licences/traffic-management-permit-scheme
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-and-community/emergency-planning-and-
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-and-community/emergency-planning-and-


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
 
14. Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
 

It is the responsibility of the developer to ensure that the electricity supply is 
sufficient to meet future demands and that any power balancing technology is in 
place if required. Electric Vehicle Charging Points shall be provided in 
accordance with the Surrey County Council Vehicular, Cycle and Electric 
Vehicle Parking Guidance for New Development 2024. Where undercover 
parking areas (multi- storey car parks, basement or undercroft parking) are 
proposed, the developer and LPA should liaise with Building Control Teams and 
the Local Fire Service to understand any additional requirements. If an active 
connection costs on average more than £3600to install, the developer must 
provide cabling (defined as a ‘cabled route’ within the 2022 Building 
Regulations) and two formal quotes from the distribution network operator 
showing this. 

 
15. Electric Bike Charging Points 
 

It is the responsibility of the developer to provide e-bike charging points with 
socket timers to prevent them constantly drawing a current over night or for 
longer than required. Signage should be considered regarding damaged or 
shock impacted batteries, indicating that these should not be used/charged. The 
design of communal bike areas should consider fire spread and there should be 
detection in areas where charging takes place. With regard to an e-bike socket 
in [a domestic dwelling, the residence should have detection, and an official e-
bike charger should be used. Guidance on detection can be found in BS 5839-6 
for fire detection and fire alarm systems in both new and existing domestic 
premises / in non-domestic buildings the premises should have detection, and 
an official e-bike charger should be used. Guidance on detection can be found in 
BS 5839-1 of the code of practice for designing, installing, commissioning, and 
maintaining fire detection and alarm systems in non-domestic buildings. 

 
16. Surface Water Flow Routes 
 

The applicant is advised that any alterations to existing highway infrastructure 
should be designed so there is no adverse effect on surface water flow routes 
and should not increase flood risk on or off site. It is possible to check the long 
term flood risk on the following Government website www.gov.uk/check-long-
term-flood-risk.  

 
17. Ordinary Watercourse 
 

If proposed site works affect an Ordinary Watercourse, Surrey County Council 
as the Lead Local Flood Authority should be contacted to obtain prior written 
Consent. More details are available on the Lead Local Flood Authority website. 

 
18. Source Protection Zone Infiltration  
 

Page 176

Agenda Item 7

http://www.gov.uk/check-long-term-flood-risk
http://www.gov.uk/check-long-term-flood-risk


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
If proposed works result in infiltration of surface water to ground within a Source 
Protection Zone the Environment Agency will require proof of surface water 
treatment to achieve water quality standards. 
 

19. Sub Ground Structures  
 

Sub ground structures should be designed so they do not have an adverse 
effect on groundwater. 

 
20. Thames Water Surface Water Connection  
 

Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval 
from Thames Water Developer Services will be required. Should the applicant 
require further information please refer to our website: 
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/help/home-improvements/how-to-connect-to-a-
sewer/sewer-connection-design.  

 
21. Thames Water Public Sewers  
 

There are public sewers crossing or close to the development. If the applicant is 
planning significant work near our sewers, it's important that they minimize the 
risk of damage. Thames Water need to check that the development doesn’t limit 
repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit the services they provide in any other 
way. The applicant is advised to read Thames Water guide working near or 
diverting our pipes: https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-
developments/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes. 

  
22. Thames Water Underground Assets  

 
The proposed development is located within 15metres of Thames Water 
underground assets and as such, the development could cause the assets to fail 
if appropriate measures are not taken. Please read our guide ‘working near our 
assets’ to ensure workings are in line with the necessary processes you need to 
follow if the applicant is considering working above or near our pipes or other 
structures. https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-
developments/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes.  Should 
further information be required please contact Thames Water. Email: 
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk Phone:0800009 3921(Monday to 
Friday, 8am to 5pm). Write to: Thames Water Developer Services, Clearwater 
Court, Vastern Road, Reading, Berkshire RG1 8DB  

 
23. Thames Water Water Mains  
 

There are water mains crossing or close to your development. Thames Water do 
NOT permit the building over or construction within 3m of water mains. If 
significant works are planned near our mains (within 3m) Thames Water need to 
check that the development doesn’t reduce capacity, limit repair or maintenance 
activities during and after construction, or inhibit the services we provide in any 
other way. 

 

Page 177

Agenda Item 7

https://www.thameswater.co.uk/help/home-improvements/how-to-connect-to-a-sewer/sewer-connection-design
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/help/home-improvements/how-to-connect-to-a-sewer/sewer-connection-design
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes.
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes.
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes.
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes.


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
24. Fire Risk Assessment  
 

Compliance with the compliance with Building Regulations 2010 will normally 
ensure the Fire Safety Order in respect of means of warning and escape in case 
of fire. However, the responsible person is advised to carry out a fire risk 
assessment of the proposals at this stage, to identify any risks that might require 
remedial measures when the premises is occupied, as a result of the nature of 
the occupancy and/or processes carried on there. Any such measures that are 
identified should be incorporated into the current design. Your attention is drawn 
to the series of publications produced by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government (CLG), which provides information for the responsible person 
about the Fire Safety Order. These publications are available from Government 
Services and Information website at: https://www.gov.uk/workplace-fire-safety-
your-responsibilities/fire-safety-advice-documents. Responsibility for ensuring 
that a building is provided with appropriate fire safety arrangements rests with 
the responsible person, once the building is occupied The responsible person 
should, therefore, ensure that the fire safety arrangements in place are adequate 
and comply fully with the requirements of the Fire Safety Order.  

 
25. Fire Safety Information  
 

Fire safety information in accordance with Regulation 38 of the Building 
Regulations 2010 should be provided to the responsible person at the 
completion of the project or when the building or extension is first occupied. This 
information should take the form of a fire safety manual and form part of the 
information package that contributes to the fire risk assessment that will need to 
be carried out under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.  

 
26. Passive Fire Protection Measures  
 

Passive fire protection measures, particularly fire stopping, fire barriers and fire 
resisting compartmentation, restricts the spread of smoke and fire through a 
building through hidden areas such as voids. We recommend that careful 
attention is given to this detail during construction. Certification of this work can 
be beneficial to confirm the suitability of the structure to meet its performance 
requirement lay out in this design application.  

 
27. Automatic Water Suppression Systems (AWSS) and Automatic Fire 

Suppression Systems (AFSS)  
 

Surrey Fire and Rescue Service (SFRS) would strongly recommend that 
consideration is given to the installation of AW SS/AFSS (ie; Sprinklers, Water 
Mist etc) as part of a total fire protection package to:  
 

 protect life;  

 protect property, heritage, the environment and our climate;  

 help promote and sustain business continuity; and  

 permit design freedoms and encourage innovative, inclusive and sustainable 
architecture.  

 

Page 178

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/workplace-fire-safety-your-responsibilities/fire-safety-advice-documents
https://www.gov.uk/workplace-fire-safety-your-responsibilities/fire-safety-advice-documents


Planning Committee Planning Application 
25/00846/OUT 

 
26 February 2026   

 
The use of AW SS/AFSS can add significant benefit to the structural protection 
of buildings in the event of a fire. Other benefits include supporting business 
recovery and continuity if a fire happens. SFRS are fully committed to promoting 
Fire Protection Systems for both business and domestic premises. 
 

28. Changes to the Approved Plans 
 

Should there be any change from the approved drawings during the build of the 
development, this may require a fresh planning application if the changes differ 
materially from the approved details. Non-material changes may be formalised 
by way of an application under s.96A Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  

 
29. Naming and Numbering 
 

The applicant is advised to contact Epsom and Ewell Borough Council at an 
early stage to discuss naming and numbering of the development. Refer to 
01372 732000 or https://www.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/street-naming-and-numbering 
for further information. 

 
30. CIL Liable Development 
 

This form of development is considered liable for the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL). CIL is a non-negotiable charge on new developments which involve 
the creation of 100m2 or more of gross internal floorspace or involve the 
creation of a new dwelling, even when this is below 100m2. The levy is charged 
at £125/m2, index linked and is charged on the net additional floorspace 
generated by a development.  
 
The Liability Notice issued by Epsom and Ewell Borough Council will state the 
current chargeable amount. A revised Liability Notice will be issued if this 
amount changes. Anyone can formally assume liability to pay, but if no one does 
so then liability will rest with the landowner.  
 
A Commencement Notice must be submitted to the local planning authority prior 
to the commencement of development in order to ensure compliance with the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations. 

 
31. Section 106 Agreement  

 
This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under 
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act, the obligations in which 
relate to this development. 

Page 179

Agenda Item 7

https://www.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/street-naming-and-numbering


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 180



 

 

FAO Gemma Paterson (Case Officer)  
Epsom and Ewell Council 
Planning  
The Old Town Hall  
The Parade 
Epsom 
KT18 5BY 

 
12th August 2025  
 

 
Dear Ms Paterson, 
 

Letter of Objection – Planning Application Ref. 25/00846/OUT 
 
I am writing on behalf of the Jockey Club Racecourses, the landowner of Epsom Downs Racecourse 
and Epsom Training Grounds, to formally object to planning application reference. 25/00846/OUT, 
which seeks outline planning permission ‘for up to 110 dwellings including affordable homes (all matters 
reserved except access from Langley Vale Road)’ at the site of Farm View, Langley Vale Road, Epsom, 
Surrey, KT18 6AP. 
Jockey Club Racecourses oppose the proposed development at the site adjacent to Epsom Downs 

Racecourse and Epsom Training Grounds. This letter sets out our operational concerns on the 

submitted planning application.  

Impact on Epsom Downs Racecourse  

The Epsom and Ewell Core Strategy (2007) sets out that Epsom Racecourse is ‘nationally important’. 
The racecourse and the local racehorse training industry are an important part of the economy of the 
Borough, as well as a significant part of its heritage. This is echoed by the Emerging Local Plan which 
sets out the national significance of the racecourse and training grounds. A recent Economic Impact 
Report commissioned by the Jockey Club found that horse racing delivers £63,225,000 in value to the 
surrounding are per annum. The racecourse and training grounds also provide significant community 
and social benefits that also arise from the facilities. It is clear how important the racecourse and training 
grounds are to the surrounding area.  
 
The proposed development at Farm View will have a significant adverse impact upon the operations of 
the horse racing industry within the vicinity of Epsom & Walton Downs. The application site is situated 
directly adjacent to horse racing training areas and access routes.  
 

Figure 1: Application site 

Page 181

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

The Training Grounds have experienced a significant reduction in the number of trainers using their 

facilities over a number of years. This is due to a prolonged decline in the number of operational yards 

in the surrounding area and the number of horses being trained. The number of horses using the Epsom 

Gallops has reduced 16% to 143 across the last 14 years, with 10 trainers. When viewed across a wider 

timescale, in 1970 there were 520 horses in training and 19 trainers. 

This presents a significant challenge to the operation of the Training Grounds. This application poses 

a great risk to the operations of the horse racing industry by jeopardising the safety of horses and riders. 

This will further disincentivise the use of the Training Grounds by trainers which will cause additional 

viability concerns for the long-term sustainability of the Training Grounds and the consequent 

management of the Downs. Given the site is of national importance (as per the Development Plan), 

provides significant economic benefits and is vital to the heritage of the area, it is imperative that this 

application is refused in its current form due to the irreversible damage it would cause to the health of 

the horse racing industry at Epsom & Walton Downs.    

Equestrian Safety 

According to the Transport Assessment that accompanies the application, a total of 52 vehicular trips 

will occur in the AM and 50 in the PM peak hours. This represents a considerable increase when 

compared with the existing road usage. However, the Transport Assessment only conducted a single 

day survey to ‘assess the level of interaction between equestrians and vehicle users’ which we do not 

consider to be a sufficient analysis given the sensitivity and vulnerability of the local horse training 

operations, and demonstrates a lack of consideration for horses & riders making the journey from local 

training yards to the Training Grounds.  

Also, the assessment has only looked at the number of horse movements within peak hours, which 

again does not reflect consideration of the horse training programme which typically requires horse 

movements on the highway between dawn and 1pm.  

Furthermore, the survey reviews one junction as opposed to a greater geography which should include 

a larger section of Langley Vale Road. This will allow the survey to capture the areas where a significant 

number of equine movements occur.  

It is essential that these areas are considered, particularly during the hours of most frequent horse 

movements. This is because there are significant equestrian safety issues associated with the 

increased number of vehicular movements, exacerbated due to the specific nature of racehorses which 

differ from the more docile, domestic horses ridden for amenity hacking. Traffic impact on young 

racehorses in particular needs greater consideration than shown in the applicants Transport 

Assessment. The increase in vehicles and lack of consideration for movements of racehorses on the 

highway increases the risk of harm to the horses and riders and for these reasons the application should 

be refused.  

Bridleway 127 (Old London Road/Tattenham Corner Sw across Racecourse) 

Bridleway 127 is situated within the ownership of the Jockey Club Racecourses and connects Ebbisham 

Lane and Tattenham Corner Train Station. This effective functioning of this Bridleway is key to the 

operation of the Training Grounds as it provides access for horses entering the land from the north and 

east to the gallops which are a vital part of the facilities at the Training Grounds that attracts trainers.  

The transport assessment that accompanies the application sets out that ‘Route 4’ forms a key 

connection between the application site and Tattenham Corner. This route seeks to utilise Bridleway 

127 as part of the connection. There is no assessment of the impact upon racehorses using the 

Bridleway. We would object to the proposal as it has not considered the impact upon the racehorses.  

Page 182

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

In terms of policy, Policy DM7 of the Development Management Policies Document (2015) states that 

‘new development affecting existing or proposed footpath, cycle and bridleway networks will not be 

permitted if it results in the loss of, or has a harmful impact on, these networks’. It is clear that the 

proposed development will have a harmful impact upon the use of the Bridleway through the increase 

in pedestrians using the route, and while use of bridleways by pedestrians is of course permitted, the 

intensification of pedestrian use will cause increased conflict with the established and essential use by 

race horses, which is vital to the long term sustainability of the Epsom & Walton Downs Training 

Grounds. The intensification of use by pedestrians will lead to safety issues and as such, the proposal 

clearly does not accord with this policy and the proposal is in conflict with the Development Plan.  

Highway Improvements  

Policy DM7 states ‘where new development provides an opportunity to improve existing and proposed 

networks and such improvements are practical and viable we will seek their delivery as part of the 

development’. Jockey Club Racecourses deem there to be a practical improvement that is viable and 

can be made to the existing highways network, the area of which we have highlighted within Figure 2 

below.  

 

At present the only route for horses to access the 5-furlong gallop north of the application site is to walk 

horses along Langley Vale Road. The horses have to leave the bridleway (bridleway 33) on the eastern 

side of the road, cross over the highway onto the left-hand side in order to walk north to the next 

bridleway (north of Langley Vale) before crossing against oncoming traffic back to the eastern side of 

the road and onto the bridleway.  

However, there is an existing footpath along the eastern side of the road which continues all the way 

up to the bridleway junction north of Langley Vale. Should the Council be minded to approve the 

application we consider that the equestrian safety concerns could be partly resolved, by upgrading the 

existing footpath in this location to a bridleway with fencing alongside to further increase equestrian 

safety. In addition, there are currently no highways warning signs either above or below Langley Vale 

to warn motorists of potential horses in the road and these should be provided. These highway works 

are essential for horse and rider safety and without which the application should be refused. 

Figure 2: Highway Improvement Location 

Page 183

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Conclusion  

In conclusion, Jockey Club Racecourses strongly object to the proposed housing development, sought 

through planning application reference 25/00846/OUT. The application will have a significant adverse 

impact upon Epsom & Walton Downs Training Grounds, which are assets of national importance. We 

have significant concerns regarding the inadequate assessment of transport impacts, and the lack of 

consideration given to horses being trained at Epsom & Walton Downs and their travel to the grounds 

from local yards. It is considered the proposal materially and significantly diverges from adopted 

planning policies and therefore, we consider planning permission should not be granted. 

If you have any questions regarding this objection or would like to discuss the Jockey Club’s concerns 

further, please do not hesitate to contact us on the details below.  

Yours sincerely, 

 

JUSTIN THOMAS MRICS 

GROUP PROPERTY DIRECTOR 
Group Property 
 

E: Justin.Thomas@thejockeyclub.co.uk 
 
       
 

Page 184

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



1 

 

Application Description: Outline application (with all matters reserved except access) for up to 110 
dwellings (including affordable homes) at Farm View, Langley Bottom Farm, Langley Vale Road, Epsom. 

Applicant: Fairfax Aspire Ltd (Agent: Boyer Planning) 

Site: c.5.2 hectares of Green Belt agricultural land (“Farm View” field) adjacent to Langley Vale village, 
Epsom Downs. 

1 Introduction 
1.1 We write on behalf of our client, Langley Vale Action Group in association with Woodcote (Epsom) 

Residents’ Society, to object to this proposal in the strongest terms. Our detailed objections, structured by 
planning issues, demonstrate that the scheme conflicts with the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF, Dec 2024) and key policies of the Epsom & Ewell Core Strategy 2007 and Development Management 
Policies 2015. We urge the Council to REFUSE this application for the reasons set out below. 

2 Green Belt Policy and Principle of Development 
2.1 The application site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt, where there is a presumption against 

inappropriate development. Both national and local policies seek to maintain the Green Belt’s openness 
and prevent urban sprawl. Core Strategy Policy CS2 commits to maintaining the existing Green Belt 
boundaries and exercising “strict control… over inappropriate development as defined by Government 
policy”. Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved 
except in ‘Very Special Circumstances’ (NPPF paragraphs 153-160). No such circumstances have been 
demonstrated here.  

2.2 Regardless of whether the site meets the definition of Grey Belt outlined in the NPPF it is considered that 
the proposal would fail to comply with the requirements of Paragraph 155 of the Framework and 
accordingly would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 

2.3  The proposal would fundamentally undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt 
across the area of the plan (Para 155a). The Council’s Green Belt Study and Sustainability Appraisal 
submitted to the Local Plan examination emphasises that this particular site being promoted by the 
landowner for housing development is one where ‘Landscape and visual sensitivity are high and there is a 
high overall sensitivity to development where the impact on openness is considered to be high. The existing 
urban edge is rounded off and clearly delineated. The proposed site boundaries do not follow a 
recognisable feature that is likely to be permanent and is considered to be weak and would extend the 
urban edge in awkward manner. Therefore, the overall integrity of the Green Belt in this location would 
be considered compromised.’ 

2.4 The proposal would also not be within a sustainable location (para 155c). It would essentially be dependent 
upon private car use, given the paucity of public transport services in the area and it would not be 
conveniently located to essential key services such as retail, education and medical facilities. It would 

 
Objection to Planning Application 25/00846/OUT – 
Langley Bottom Farm, Langley Vale Road, Epsom 

 
18 August 2025 

Page 185

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



2 

 

generate the need to travel by private car without a genuine choice of transport modes and would 
consequently add to existing traffic congestion and emissions. The active travel options cited by the 
applicant are unrealistic and unattractive given topography, unsuitability in inclement weather and safety 
considerations in hours of darkness.     

2.5 Furthermore, the Golden Rules (set out in Paragraph 156-157 of the Framework) would not be met, the 
proposed 50% affordable housing is simply not viable and will be reduced at a later stage with developer 
using the viability argument. The applicant is not proposing any off-site infrastructure works 
notwithstanding the well documented problems with water supply, drainage and traffic congestion 
affecting Langley Vale village and the safety concerns raised by the Jockey Club and its requirements for 
upgrading of the footpath to a bridleway along Langley Vale Road and other associated highway 
improvement works. Neither is there any credible improvement to accessible green spaces.  The existing 
site comprises predominantly open green space and this proposal will wipe that out. 

2.6 The proposal represents a fundamental conflict with Green Belt policy. The proposal for 110 new dwellings 
on open farmland represents a major encroachment into Green Belt countryside. This is exactly the type 
of unrestricted sprawl the Green Belt is intended to prevent. The site is outside any settlement boundary 
and is not identified for development in the Local Plan. The Council’s Core Strategy directs new housing to 
within the defined built-up areas and previously developed land, not Green Belt fields (CS1, CS8). By 
building on undeveloped Green Belt land, the scheme breaches Policies CS1 and CS2 and the spatial 
strategy of focusing growth on sustainable urban sites. 

2.7 With regard to matters of openness and the purposes of the Green Belt, the proposed housing would 
permanently reduce the openness of this 5+ hectare site. Replacing an open field with a large housing 
enclave (even at two storeys) and a new access road will cause a severe loss of Green Belt openness both 
visually and spatially. It will also conflict with Green Belt purposes by contributing to the outward 
expansion of Langley Vale village into open countryside. Notably, the site forms part of a swathe of Green 
Belt that separates Langley Vale from Epsom Downs and neighbouring settlements. Introducing 110 homes 
would undermine the Green Belt purpose of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. 

 
2.8 With regard to the Council’s five-year housing supply (5YHLS), we acknowledge that Epsom & Ewell 

Borough is presently unable to demonstrate a five-year housing land supply. However, national policy is 
clear that the “tilted balance” in favour of housing (NPPF paragraph 11d) does not apply where protected 
areas like Green Belts are involved. Green Belt policies provide a “clear reason for refusing” permission (as 
per NPPF footnote 7). In other words, the acute housing shortfall does not override Green Belt protection. 
The applicant’s own planning statement acknowledges that the site is Green Belt but tries to downplay its 
contribution by calling it a “relatively discrete parcel” near a village This argument is, in our view, spurious. 

Page 186

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



3 

 

Green Belt status does not depend on a site’s size or perceived discreteness. Any new housing here is 
inappropriate by definition, particularly in the circumstances of failing to meet the exceptions allowed by 
paragraphs 155 and 156 of the Framework. 

2.9 With reference to Very Special Circumstances (VSC) as defined in paragraph 153 of the NPPF, we believe 
that the applicant has not demonstrated VSC necessary to justify Green Belt development in this instance. 
General housing need, even with some affordable housing, is not considered a very special circumstance 
on its own. If unmet housing need were sufficient, vast swathes of Green Belt would be at risk. The bar for 
VSC is high and the benefits must clearly outweigh the total harm to the Green Belt and any other harm. 
In this case, the harm is substantial (in particular, loss of openness, countryside character, infrastructure 
strain, etc.), as detailed throughout this objection. The purported benefits (110 homes, of which 50% may 
be affordable) do not clearly overcome these harms. The  Langley Bottom Farm appeal (for a scheme of 20 
dwellings) was allowed on a narrow point concerning previously developed land in the farmyard, and its 
discrete positioning in the valley bottom. Those unique circumstances do not apply to this new greenfield 
proposal. The current application encompasses open cultivated fields, which are explicitly excluded from 
the NPPF definition of previously developed land (PDL) and is situated in a prominent elevated position. A 
more recent appeal for a single dwelling house midway along the farm track at the bottom of the valley 
was dismissed because it was found that it would appear as a sporadic development and piecemeal 
urbanisation of a generally open area of land which forms part of the transition between the built environs 
of Langley Vale and the wider countryside setting.’  It is clear that this 110-home scheme is new, 
unrestricted housing development on greenfield Green Belt land, for which no policy support exists. 

2.10 In summary, the proposal comprises inappropriate development in the Green Belt, causing significant harm 
to openness and Green Belt purposes. It contravenes NPPF (2024) Green Belt policy, Core Strategy policies 
CS1 and CS2, and Development Management Policy DM1 (which affirms the Green Belt will be maintained 
in its present extent). The very special circumstances test is not met. The principle of development is 
therefore unacceptable and warrants refusal on Green Belt grounds alone. 

3 Landscape and Visual Impact – Area of Great Landscape Value 
(AGLV) 

3.1 The application site lies within an Area of Great Landscape Value (AGLV), a locally designated landscape of 
high quality that serves as a buffer to the Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The land 
is an open valley field forming part of the scenic Epsom Downs landscape. It is not only Green Belt but also 
AGLV, underscoring its importance. The site’s rural valley setting contributes to panoramic views from 
Epsom Downs and the approach into Langley Vale. Local policy (Core Strategy CS3 and CS5, Development 
Management DM5 and emerging Draft Policy DM10) all seek to protect the Borough’s landscape character 
and scenic assets. The Draft Local Plan Policy DM16 recognises that some of the borough, such as the area 
to the south-west of Langley Vale, is designated an Area of Great Landscape Value (AGLV) by the Town and 
Country Planning Act, because of its particular scenic value. This landscape makes an integral contribution 
to the borough’s unique character and sense of place.  Landscapes such as this are vulnerable to the impact 
of development especially from major housing development. It is therefore important that, rather than 
having an adverse effect, new developments complement and enhance the landscape.   

3.2 Introducing a large housing estate on this currently undeveloped green slope would be severely 
detrimental to the landscape character. The open rural character of Langley Vale would be permanently 
urbanised by roads, cars, and buildings. The applicant describes the scheme as “modest” edge 
development but 110 houses plus infrastructure is considered a major development in this context, and 
would provide roughly a 20-27% increase in the Village’s housing stock. It would extend the built footprint 
of Langley Vale into open countryside, eroding the visual separation between the village and the Epsom 
Downs racecourse area. The site occupies a prominent field visible from surrounding higher ground; as 
campaigners note, housing here “would have an enormously harmful impact on our attractive open 
countryside”. The current pleasant vista of fields and woodland would be interrupted by rooftops, estate 
roads, and domestic paraphernalia. This is contrary to Core Strategy CS1, which requires development 

Page 187

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



4 

 

to “protect and enhance the natural… environments of the Borough” and safeguard quality of life for 
present and future generations. More importantly it is in conflict with paragraph 187 of the NPPF which 
requires that planning decisions ‘should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
protecting and enhancing valued landscapes. 

3.3 The AGLV designation indicates that the site’s landscape is of county-level importance. Indeed, the AGLV 
here directly adjoins the nationally protected Surrey Hills AONB (National Landscape Designation) just 
south of the Borough.  

3.4 Policy DM5 (Trees and Landscape) expects development to respect and enhance landscape quality, 
retaining important landscape features and vistas. In this case, the proposal does the opposite as it would 
urbanise a valued rural valley, diminishing the landscape quality that warranted the AGLV designation. 

3.5 The scheme will have a harmful visual impact upon key receptors. In particular, users of the Epsom Downs, 
including visitors to the famous Derby racecourse, will experience the visual intrusion. The site is described 
by residents as “a key element of Epsom Downs and the setting to our historic racecourse”. The open field 
currently provides a green foreground to the Downs and building on it would mar views particularly “on 
travelling downhill towards the village with its vista of open land”. Walkers, riders, and cyclists on local 
footpaths/bridleways (including routes connecting to Headley and Walton-on-the-Hill) would also see a 
stark change from countryside to housing. The applicant may propose landscaping, but any screening or 
tree planting will take many years to establish and mature and this can only partially mitigate the loss of 
openness. At night, lighting from 110 homes and streetlights will introduce significant light pollution into 
what is currently a dark area, further impacting the natural character and local wildlife (see Ecology 
section). In summary, the scheme fails to “conserve or enhance” landscape beauty as required by NPPF 
and local policy. Instead, it would cause irreversible visual harm to a highly valued landscape. 

3.6 The applicant’s submitted Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has limited credibility because it has 
been undertaken with no certainty about the siting, scale or massing of the proposed development. All of 
these key elements are reserved matters and therefore any conclusions reached should be given very little 
weight. We would argue that it should be abundantly clear that the construction of a housing estate on a 
prominent sloping open area of open land in a rural setting is bound to constitute a significant adverse 
visual impact and not be one of ‘moderate adverse’ reducing to ‘minor adverse’ as planting matures.     

3.7 In summary, the proposed development would significantly damage the character and appearance of an 
AGLV landscape and the setting of Epsom Downs. It conflicts with Para 187 of the NPPF, Core Strategy CS3, 
which states that biodiversity and landscape designations will be given appropriate protection and 
with CS5, which requires protection of areas of special character and their settings It also fails DM5 (Trees 
& Landscape) by neither retaining the essentially open landscape character nor achieving meaningful 
enhancement. Rather it necessitates removal of rural features and adds an incongruous urban element. 
This landscape harm carries great weight against the proposal and cannot be acceptably mitigated. 

4 Heritage and Historic Environment 
4.1 The site lies in proximity to heritage assets and areas of historic importance. In particular, it is part of 

the setting of Epsom Downs Racecourse, an iconic historic sporting venue (home of the Derby since 1780). 
The open downland around the racecourse, including Langley Bottom, contributes to its historic landscape 
context. As local residents emphasise, this valley forms “the setting to our historic racecourse”. Epsom’s 
Core Strategy CS5 and Development Management DM8 seek to protect heritage assets and their settings, 
including historic landscapes, and to resist harmful development. 

4.2 Part of the boundary between the proposed development and The Warren woods is an ancient wall. In 
The Warren are Warrener's cottage and this wall off which much is visible today and still standing. English 
Heritage has the cottage and wall listed as Grade II. The wall is believed to be one of only two surviving in 
England with hare gaps visible. The Hare Warren is marked on Rocque’s map of 1768. The wall will form 
part of the northern boundary of the development, but no reference has been made to the listed status of 
this boundary. 

Page 188

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



5 

 

4.3 While the racecourse itself is not a listed building, it is unquestionably an undesignated heritage asset in 
terms of cultural history, and the surrounding open Green Belt land has material heritage value as part of 
Epsom’s identity. Introducing a large modern housing estate on this adjacent field would visually intrude 
upon the racecourse approaches and dilute the historic rural setting that visitors experience when 
approaching from the south. The area includes WWI-related sites (Langley Vale Centenary Wood with 
memorials) and long-standing horse training gallops nearby. The proposal could thus indirectly affect 
these non-designated heritage assets by altering their context. 

4.4 Furthermore, the site’s location and size (over 0.4ha) triggers the need for archaeological 
assessment under Policy DM8. The North Downs are known to have archaeological potential (e.g. 
prehistoric or wartime remains). An archaeology desk study and basic field evaluation, In line with DM8, a 
prior assessment has established the likely presence of remains for Romano-British, Medieval and Post 
Medieval periods. 

4.5 In summary, by eroding the open setting of Epsom Downs Racecourse and potentially disturbing 
undiscovered archaeology, the scheme fails to conserve the historic environment. It conflicts with policies 
CS5 and DM8, which require new development to “take every opportunity to conserve and 
enhance” heritage assets and their settings. The harm to the distinctive historic character of Epsom Downs 
and Langley Vale, currently a “separate and distinct community… surrounded by Green Belt”, adds to the 
cumulative reasons why this proposal is unacceptable. 

5 Ecology and Biodiversity 
5.1 The Langley Bottom Farm site and its surroundings support a rich array of wildlife and habitats, which 

would be placed at risk by this development. Core Strategy CS3 commits to conserving and enhancing 
biodiversity across the Borough, giving the highest level of protection to designated sites and ensuring 
development elsewhere minimizes harm and provides mitigation. Development Management Policy 
DM4 reinforces that development affecting habitats of importance will only be permitted in exceptional 
circumstances (no alternative, overriding public interest) and that “every opportunity should be taken to 
secure net benefit to the Borough’s biodiversity” through on-site assessments and enhancements. 

5.2 Although the field is farmland, it is by no means “low value” for nature as the applicant suggests. Local 
observers report regular use of the site by deer, badgers, and a variety of bird species. Notably, skylarks (a 
protected ground-nesting bird) have been seen/heard on these fields, indicating the open grassland is an 
important habitat for them. The site is adjacent to ancient woodland at The Warren (northwest) and close 
to Langley Vale Wood (Woodland Trust site to the south-east) – these act as reservoirs for wildlife. The 
proposal itself acknowledges the presence of “important hedgerows and trees” on-site and proposes to 
retain and enhance them. These hedgerows likely serve as foraging and commuting routes for bats and 
birds. In addition, we note that the area is known for rare arable flora and chalk grassland species; the 
developer has not provided adequate surveys to rule out such ecological assets on the arable land itself. 

5.3 The applicant suggests new ecological improvements like wildlife corridors linking to nearby woodland and 
retention of hedgerows as mitigation. While any mitigation is welcome in principle, it does not compensate 
for the fundamental loss of 5+ hectares of open habitat. Fragmented corridors around a housing estate are 
a poor substitute for undisturbed open land. Skylarks, for example, cannot thrive once the field is 
developed and no amount of planting will offset the loss of their breeding ground. As one local campaigner 
aptly put it, “ecology mitigation doesn’t mean anything if it doesn’t change the wrongs and the impact on 
wildlife”. We concur that the net impact is likely to be negative.  

5.4 Development affecting protected species requires careful legal compliance (Wildlife & Countryside Act 
1981, etc.). Policy DM4 stipulates that where protected species are present, appropriate mitigation and 
compensatory measures must be secured to ensure no net loss of biodiversity. A comprehensive species 
survey (for bats, badgers, birds, reptiles, etc.) has not been completed in the correct seasons. Without full 
survey data, the application should not be determined – one cannot condition away the presence of 
protected fauna. If, for example, badger setts or bat roosts are found on or near the site, the layout and 
construction timing would need significant adjustment. An example of this is the fact that the applicant’s 

Page 189

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



6 

 

submitted ecological assessment states that a 2024 survey found no direct evidence of badger activity and 
that ‘no direct impact risks have been identified’. Yet we understand that the Chair of West Surrey Badger 
Group has recently visited the site, found direct evidence of badgers in and around the site and that he will 
be submitting an objection. Approving the outline in absence of this information would be contrary to 
Policy DM4 and NPPF paragraph 187. In the case of badgers this would also be contrary to Natural 
England’s standing advice on avoidance, mitigation and compensation measures to be undertaken in such 
circumstances with the main thrust being that development proposals should avoid effects on badgers. 

5.5 In summary, the proposal poses a high risk of significant harm to biodiversity, contrary to Core Strategy 
Policy CS3 and DM4. It would destroy or drastically alter habitat used by priority and protected species. 
The offered mitigation (retained hedges, wildlife corridors, landscaping) is insufficient to avoid a net 
biodiversity loss. Until the applicant demonstrates, with credible evidence, that biodiversity will 
be enhanced (or at least adequately safeguarded), permission must be refused. The precautionary 
principle applies. In its current form, the scheme fails to comply with national and local biodiversity 
policies and so cannot be supported. 

 

6 Sustainability of Location and Climate Change Considerations 
6.1 We believe that the proposed site represents an unsustainable location for the following reasons. Langley 

Vale village has limited facilities and poor public transport links, making this location unsuitable for major 
growth. The NPPF emphasises that new housing should be located where it enhances or maintains the 
vitality of communities and provides a genuine choice of transport modes. Epsom’s Core Strategy 
CS1 seeks development that positively contributes to sustainable development, and CS6 requires 
proposals to result in a sustainable environment with neutral or reduced impacts on pollution and climate 
change CS16 and DM36 further require that developments facilitate a shift to non-car travel and integrate 
into pedestrian/cyclist networks This proposal fails these tests: 

• Distance from Services: Langley Vale has no doctors’ surgery, no secondary school, no supermarket 
and only one limited local shop at the nearby petrol station.  Most day-to-day needs require travel 
to Epsom or other local centres. The site is over 3 miles from Epsom town centre (and uphill on 
return). There is a small primary school in the village, but an influx of 110 families could overwhelm 
it (see infrastructure section). The lack of sufficient local services means future residents will have 
to travel frequently for work, education, shopping, healthcare, etc., raising questions of 
sustainability. 

• Public Transport: Bus provision is minimal. A single infrequent bus route serves Langley Vale – 
residents report a 2 hourly bus at best. There is no railway station within walking distance. As a 
result, the new homes would therefore be overwhelmingly car dependent. The applicant’s Planning 
Statement claims this is a “sustainable location”, but the reality is the opposite. There is no evidence 
of plans to substantially improve bus frequency or extend rail links to support 110 extra homes here. 

• Walking/Cycling: At present, footpath infrastructure is lacking. The development would have its sole 
vehicular access on Langley Vale Road, separate from the existing village street network 
Campaigners note the lack of adequate footpath connections for integrating the scheme with the 
village. Pedestrians would likely have to walk along Langley Vale Road (a rural road with narrow 
pavement in places) to reach the village amenities or bus stops. This raises safety concerns and 
further discourages walking. Policy DM7 protects footpaths/bridleways and expects new 
development to enhance such networks, not sever or neglect them. If this outline were approved, 
the reserved matters must incorporate safe pedestrian and cycle links into the village and to Epsom 
Downs, yet no such commitment is clearly demonstrated now. Without it, residents will simply get 
in their cars. 

• Car Dependency and Emissions: With limited transport alternatives, the 110 households could 
generate in the order of 200–300 private cars on the site. This undermines both local and national 

Page 190

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



7 

 

climate objectives. Transport is the largest contributor to UK carbon emissions and good planning 
should locate housing where sustainable travel is viable. Approving a car-reliant estate in this 
location would increase traffic (and thus CO₂ and air pollution) on the rural road network and in 
Epsom town. It therefore contradicts the spirit of Policy CS16, which encourages developments 
that “facilitate a shift… to non-car modes” and requires new proposals to “minimise the need for 
travel” (e.g. via travel plans, local facilities). Policies DM35 and DM36 echo these goals, requiring 
Transport Assessments and Travel Plans to demonstrate how sustainable travel will be achieved. We 
are concerned that the submitted Transport Assessment  downplays the likely car trips or assumes 
unrealistically high bus usage given the current service levels. 

• Sustainable Design & Climate Resilience: The outline nature of the application gives little detail on 
building design or sustainability measures. CS6 expects new development to incorporate sustainable 
construction, energy efficiency, and measures like Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) to mitigate 
climate impacts The Planning Statement’s claim of a “sustainable development” is not substantiated 
by firm commitments (e.g., will the homes be zero-carbon ready? Will there be solar panels, heat 
pumps, EV charging, high fabric efficiency?). If not, the development could lock-in high carbon 
emissions for decades. Building 110 homes on a greenfield also forfeits the carbon sequestration 
that the current land (soil, crops, vegetation) provides. 

6.2 In summary we consider that the proposal is locationally unsustainable. It conflicts with the core principle 
of directing growth to sustainable locations with infrastructure and alternatives to driving. It fails Core 
Strategy Policies CS1, CS6, CS16 and DMP Policies DM35, DM36, which collectively demand that new 
development minimises pollution and facilitate sustainable travel. Approving this scheme would run 
counter to Epsom & Ewell’s climate change commitments and Surrey’s climate emergency response. The 
development cannot be made truly sustainable by the imposition of conditions. The fundamental issue is 
that this is the wrong place for major new housing development. 

7 Traffic, Access and Highway Safety 
7.1 In terms of traffic generation and network impact, an estate of up to 110 homes will generate a significant 

number of vehicle movements. This is likely to be in the region of several hundred trips per day we do not 
accept that there would be one two-way trips per minute during peak hours which and there would of 
course be many trips outside peak hours. The transport assessment significantly under reports the likely 
traffic implications. This raises concerns under Policy DM35, which requires that the transport impacts of 
new development be properly assessed and mitigated. We question whether the rural road network 
serving Langley Vale can accommodate this increase without adverse effects. Langley Vale Road is 
relatively narrow and winding in parts. The junctions connecting the village to the wider network (e.g. 
towards the B290 or through Woodcote) may face congestion or safety issues with additional traffic. Local 
residents have already raised concern that the scheme would “add to the existing severe pressure on… 
infrastructure, especially from increased traffic and congestion”. This directly contravenes the notion of 
development “without undue impact on… the wider area” that the applicant claims. In reality, undue 
traffic impact is likely. 

7.2 The applicant proposes a new site access off Langley Vale Road. While visibility splays and technical design 
may meet standards (details reserved), having an extra junction on this road and funnelling potentially 
200+ cars out of it will inevitably affect traffic flow and pose turning risks. There are also equestrian 
activities in the area (racehorse training facilities, private stables) and many horse riders use the 
roads/bridleways. More cars and construction vehicles on Langley Vale Road increase risks for these 
vulnerable road users. The Transport Assessment should have consulted on this and we urge close scrutiny 
by Surrey County Council Highways. 

7.3 Policy DM37 requires development to comply with the Borough’s parking standards to avoid overspill 
problems. At outline stage, details are scant, but up to 3 spaces per dwelling for the largest units would be 
needed given the lack of other transport options. That’s in the order of 250+ parking spaces. If a lack of 
sufficient parking is provided, Langley Vale Road or village lanes could suffer overflow parking, causing 

Page 191

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



8 

 

obstruction. Conversely, large surface parking areas would further erode the rural character. A balanced 
and policy-compliant approach is needed. 

7.4 Although not a direct policy conflict, we note that constructing up to 110 homes here will involve HGVs 
and contractor traffic over a protracted period. With only one main access road into Langley Vale, 
construction traffic management will be critical to avoid highway safety dangers and undue disturbance to 
residents (noise, dust). A robust Construction Transport Management Plan is required but again the 
feasibility is unproven. 

7.5 The proposal’s traffic and access impacts appear incompatible with the objectives of policies DM35 and 
CS16. It has not been demonstrated that safe and suitable access can be achieved for all users, or that the 
residual traffic impact would be acceptable. To the contrary, evidence suggests congestion and safety 
could worsen in this rural community. Without clear highway improvements or sustainable transport 
measures (which are not forthcoming), the development fails to promote safe, convenient access as 
required by CS16 (e.g. provide links to footways/cycleways and ensure cars do not predominate. We 
believe the adverse highway impacts are another strong ground for refusal. 

8 Local Infrastructure and Community Facilities 
8.1 A development of this scale would place substantial new demands on local infrastructure and 

services. Core Strategy Policy CS12 mandates that developers demonstrate adequate service/community 
infrastructure is in place, or else provide new/enhanced facilities to support the development If 
infrastructure is lacking and cannot be reasonably provided, development should not proceed. In this case: 

• Education: Langley Vale has one primary school (Vale Primary School) of limited size. An influx of 
potentially c.200+ children (assuming a mix of family housing) could overwhelm school capacity. 
Surrounding schools in Epsom or Ashtead might also be full. The developer would need to contribute 
to expanding school facilities under CS12. However, expanding a rural school or transporting 
children to distant schools is not trivial. There is no indication the applicant has liaised with Surrey 
County education authority to ensure school places can be provided. Until a solution is identified, 
the development risks exacerbating an existing deficiency in education provision, contrary to Policy 
CS12. 

• Healthcare: There is no GP surgery or health centre in Langley Vale. Residents rely on surgeries in 
Epsom or nearby villages. Many of those practices are under strain (long waits for appointments). 
Adding c.110 families would worsen this position. Policy CS12 again would require a financial 
contribution to healthcare infrastructure. But in practice, delivering a new GP branch or enlarging a 
surgery takes time and NHS agreement. The outline application is silent on this matter. We believe 
new residents would face inadequate local healthcare, and existing residents would see services 
stretched thinner and hence a material consideration against the scheme. 

• Utilities: The capacity of water supply, sewage, and other utilities must be confirmed. This area may 
have constraints on sewer capacity or water pressure. A recent household survey of Langley Vale 
village undertaken by the Save Langley Vale Action Group confirms that low water pressure is a 
regular and widespread problem across the village.  A full utilities assessment is needed. If pumping 
stations or network upgrades are required, that adds cost and complexity. Foul drainage from 110 
homes, if not properly managed, could significantly impact the environment (e.g., sewage outflow 
incidents which are increasingly prevalent in other areas of the south-east as a result of a lack of 
capacity). Surface water drainage is discussed separately. 

• Community Facilities & Open Space: Langley Vale has minimal community infrastructure (a small 
village hall. An extra 110 homes would increase demand for play spaces, sports, and social facilities. 
Under CS12/DM6, the development should provide on-site open space and recreation areas or 
contribute to off-site facilities The Planning Statement mentions “on-site open space” in line with 
policy, but specifics are lacking at this outline stage. Will there be a local equipped play area (LEAP) 
for children? Sports pitches? If not properly planned, the development could lead to a deficit of open 

Page 192

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



9 

 

space, which policies CS4 and DM6 seek to resist. Also, without a community hub, the new residents 
have limited ways to integrate, undermining social sustainability. 

• Developer Contributions & Viability: Meeting all these infrastructure needs (school expansion, 
healthcare, highways, open space, possibly public transport subsidies) will require 
substantial Section 106 contributions or Community Infrastructure Levy. Policy CS12 is clear that 
developers must provide or fund necessary infrastructure proportionately to the scale of the 
development. This is further re-enforced by the requirements of Paragraph 156 of the NPPF. We 
urge the Council to rigorously assess the viability: of the proposals. If 50% of the homes are 
affordable (as claimed) will the developer still commit to all required contributions?, Viability should 
not be a reason to later cut either affordable units or infrastructure funds. If the numbers don’t add 
up, the application is fundamentally unsustainable. 

8.2 In summary, the application has not demonstrated that necessary infrastructure will be in place, as 
required by Policy CS12. It risks aggravating shortages in school places, healthcare, and community 
amenities. Approving it without firm infrastructure plans would burden existing residents and future 
occupants alike with inadequate services – an outcome at odds with the NPPF’s aim to create sustainable, 
well-functioning communities. This is yet another reason the proposal is unacceptable in its current form. 

9 Flood Risk and Drainage 

 
9.1 Although not adjacent to a major watercourse, developing a large greenfield site can significantly alter 

drainage patterns and increase flood risk if not carefully managed. Development Management Policy 
DM19 and NPPF paragraph 170 require development to be directed to areas of lowest flood risk and 
ensure it does not increase flooding elsewhere. A site-specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) is expected for 
a site of this size (>1 hectare), focusing on surface water management. 

9.2 In terms of current drainage characteristics, Langley Bottom is a natural valley. Rain falling on the site 
currently infiltrates into the soil or runs off gradually toward lower ground. The land is likely a mix of chalk 
and clay and whilst parts may drain freely, heavy rainfall could cause surface water pooling or overland 

Page 193

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



10 

 

flow down the valley. Local anecdotal evidence suggests the fields get boggy in winter and that drainage 
ditches along Langley Vale Road are sometimes overwhelmed. Furthermore, climate change is increasing 
the intensity of downpours, exacerbating flash flood risks. 

9.3 Replacing permeable fields with roofs, roads, and driveways will greatly increase impermeable area. 
Without robust mitigation, this would send more runoff into local drainage systems and watercourses at a 
faster rate, raising flood risks for: (a) the new homes themselves, (b) existing homes downhill in Langley 
Vale, and (c) the surrounding area (roads, nearby fields). It is imperative that a sustainable drainage scheme 
(SuDS) be implemented – e.g. attenuation ponds, swales, permeable pavements – to greenfield runoff 
rates. The applicant indicates a willingness to use SuDS, but no detailed drainage strategy is yet provided 
(only an outline has been provided). We must be assured that there is space within the layout for necessary 
attenuation basins and that they can discharge safely (possibly to groundwater or controlled outfall). Given 
the valley topography, careful engineering is needed to avoid simply concentrating water toward one end 
of the site or onto neighbouring land. 

9.4 Foul water from 110 homes will need to go to the mains sewer. It is unclear if the existing sewer network 
in Langley Vale has capacity or if upgrades (e.g. a pumped solution) are required. Surrey’s Flood Risk 
guidance and Policy CS6 also require that water quality be protected surcharging sewers can cause 
pollution incidents. The developer should obtain confirmation from Thames Water that sewer capacity is 
available, or fund upgrades as necessary. Approval should not be given until this is resolved. 

9.5 It is very concerning that there appears to be no mention of the Langley Vale Chalk Aquifer which is part 
of the extensive Chalk aquifer in England's Thames Basin, a major aquifer known for its dual porosity 
(fractures and matrix) system and its importance for drinking water and river flow. This aquifer's 
properties, including high transmissivity in valleys and decreased permeability with depth, influence 
groundwater quality and the fate of pollutants like nitrates. The aquifer is vulnerable to pollution from 
farming practices and drainage from residential developments and conflicts between water abstraction 
and environmental needs, such as maintaining river flows, are ongoing challenges 

9.6 Policy Compliance: CS6 and DM19 effectively require that new development “avoids increasing the risk of 
flooding” and incorporates SuDS to manage runoff on-site. Also, NPPF (2024) expects major developments 
to provide betterment in surface water management where possible. At present, without a full drainage 
design and maintenance plan, we cannot be confident the scheme meets these requirements. Any subtle 
change in site layout at reserved matters could impact drainage functionality, so it’s a critical consideration 
now. 

9.7 In summary, we urge the Council’s drainage engineers to scrutinise the FRA and SuDS proposals once 
submitted. If they are found lacking, the application should be refused or deferred. We cannot support a 
scheme that might inadvertently cause surface water flooding to the village or create long-term drainage 
liabilities. Until proven otherwise, we are concerned that the development may pose an unacceptable 
flood risk, contrary to DM19 and CS6. It should be noted that a poorly drained development would also 
conflict with the broader sustainability aims of CS1 and CS6 (protecting environmental quality for future 
generations. 

9.8 We note the Thames Water have not submitted a consultation response stating that there the applicant’s 
technical reports do not have sufficient detail in order to be able to assess the application and further that 
the applicant has not responded. 

10 Housing Need, Density and Mix 
10.1 We recognize the Borough’s need for additional housing, including affordable housing. However, the ends 

do not justify the means in this case. There are significant issues with the proposed housing delivery on 
this site in terms of density, mix and meeting local needs: 

• Plan-Led Delivery: The proper way to meet housing need and major development proposals is 
through the Local Plan process, identifying sustainable sites with community support. This 
speculative application attempts to bypass that process by targeting protected Green Belt land. 

Page 194

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



11 

 

Approving it would undermine public confidence in the plan-led system and could encourage other 
Green Belt developers, jeopardising the Council’s ability to strategically plan for housing and 
infrastructure. 

• Density and Design: Policy DM11 states that new housing should make efficient use of land within 
the urban area and be of a density that respects the visual character of the area. It suggests a general 
density limit of 40 dwellings/ha unless exceptional circumstances apply (e.g. town centre sites). 
Here, the proposed density is around 21 dph (110 units on c.5.2 ha). Numerically this is not high, 
indeed one might argue it underutilises land. But in context, 21 dph in a rural-edge location can still 
appear cramped or urban if not sensitively designed. The surrounding village has a loose-knit form 
and new estates with smaller plots will look out of place. DM11 also crucially requires that housing 
density should “lead to no net loss of biodiversity”. This scheme fails this test (as discussed in the 
ecology section above). We are concerned that to achieve 110 units, the layout might rely on 
uniform suburban house types that neither reflect local distinctiveness nor provide adequate 
gardens (which DM11/Supporting text recommends for family houses: e.g. 70m² private garden for 
3+ bed). All these design issues would be dealt with at reserved matters, but the outline 
predetermines certain parameters (like total unit count) that could force a compromised design 
later. 

• Affordable Housing: The applicant has indicated up to 50% affordable housing which would be in 
accordance with the NPPF Golden Rule on affordable housing requirement. We welcome any 
genuine effort to deliver more affordable homes, as affordability is a pressing local issue. However, 
we note concerns from younger residents that what is labelled affordable may not truly meet local 
needs. For instance, if the affordable homes are delivered as First Homes or shared ownership, 
priced at c.80% of market value, they will still be out-of-reach for many (with average Epsom house 
prices around £550k, even 80% is c.£440k and hence not “affordable” to ordinary first-time buyers). 
We urge that if the scheme were approved, a suitable tenure mix (including genuinely affordable 
rent) be secured to align with Policy CS9 (which calls for meeting identified local housing needs in 
mix and tenure). That said, even a perfect affordable housing offer cannot outweigh the 
environmental and policy conflicts we have identified. The local community should not be forced to 
sacrifice Green Belt for housing that does not even properly address the type of homes most needed 
(e.g. truly low-cost rent or social housing for young families and older downsizers). 

• Housing Mix: As the scheme has been submitted in outline, details on housing mix are scant, but 
presumably the 110 units would comprise a mix of sizes. To meet local needs, a range of 1, 2, 3, and 
4-bed units should be provided, with an emphasis on genuinely affordable family homes and some 
specialist housing (maybe bungalows for the elderly or accessible units). There is no indication such 
nuance has been considered yet. The risk is a layout dominated by 3-4 bed market houses (for 
profitability) with token apartments to hit numbers and not necessarily the optimal mix the Borough 
needs. This contravenes Policy CS9 which seeks a mix that meets needs and creates sustainable 
communities 

10.2 In summary, whilst it is acknowledged that there is a need for new homes, this proposal is the wrong 
solution in the wrong location. The modest contribution of 110 homes (of which c55 affordable) cannot 
justify the severe adverse impacts identified in sections above. The Council is working on a new Local Plan 
which will weigh options for meeting housing targets, including which Green Belt areas, if any, might be 
released. A premature and piecemeal approval here would pre-empt that comprehensive approach and 
possibly set a damaging precedent.  

10.3 In summary, we believe that the proposal does not accord with Policy CS7 or CS8 in terms of planned 
housing provision (those policies envisioned meeting requirements within the built-up area). It meets 
Policy CS9’s numeric target on affordable housing but risks failing the deeper intent of meeting local need 
with genuinely affordable products. Its density and form are not shown to materially enhance the area’s 
character, thus conflicting with DM11. In planning, the quality and location of housing matter just as much 
as the quantity. This scheme falls short on both counts, reinforcing our view that it should be refused. 

Page 195

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



12 

 

11 Impact on Racehorse Industry 
11.1 The proposal would have a serious adverse impact on the operation of the local racehorse training industry 

because the site is directly adjacent to the access routes and horse racing training areas on the Downs. 

11.2 Much of the impact would be because of the increased road traffic movements and the new road access 
resulting in increased danger to racehorse safety but it would also arise from increased pedestrian activity 
along Bridleway 127 which is identified in the applicant’s submitted Transport Assessment as a key link for 
residents to Tattenham Corner. Bridleway 127 is a key access point for racehorses entering the gallops.   
Further details of this adverse impact are given in the Jockey Club’s objection. 

11.3 The racehorse training industry is a vital part of this Borough’s heritage and economy. Indeed, Epsom has 
an international reputation for horse racing and is an established location for the 10 racehorse training 
yards around the Epsom Downs racecourse. Any development proposal which threatens the future viability 
of an industry in the Borough of national importance, and which contributes an estimated £63m pa to the 
local economy should be resisted. 

11.4 We would contend that the application proposal would be in conflict with the requirement of paragraph 
87 of the NPPF to recognise and address the specific resilience requirements of an industry of local, 
regional and national importance. It would also be in conflict with Policy DM26 in failing to support the 
maintenance of a successful race-horse industry in the Borough. 

11.5 There is also a detailed objection submitted from the Epsom and Walton Training Grounds Management 
Board 

12 Conclusions 
12.1 For the reasons detailed above, Langley Vale Action Group respectfully urges the Council to refuse this 

application. In summary: 

• Green Belt: The development is inappropriate and harmful in principle, contrary to national policy 
and Policy CS2. It would erode Green Belt openness and encourage sprawl, with no very special 
circumstances to justify it. 

• Landscape (AGLV): It would permanently scar a valued landscape (buffer to AONB), violating Policies 
CS3, CS5 and DM5. Housing on this prominent Green Belt field would have an enormously harmful 
impact on the attractive open countryside. 

• Heritage: It harms the setting of the historic Epsom Downs Racecourse and potentially 
archaeological assets, contrary to Policies CS5 and DM8. 

• Ecology: It threatens local biodiversity (badgers, deer, skylarks and more) with inadequate 
mitigation, failing Policies CS3 and DM4 which require biodiversity to be conserved and enhanced. 

• Sustainability and Transport: The site is isolated with poor public transport and footpath links. The 
car-dependent nature of the development conflicts with Policies CS1, CS16, DM35, DM36, and 
would exacerbate traffic and carbon emissions 

• Infrastructure: Local services (schools, healthcare, etc.) are insufficient. Without guaranteed new 
provision, the scheme cannot meet Policy CS12. Development should not proceed where it 
would exacerbate a deficiency in infrastructure. 

• Drainage: In the absence of a detailed and robust drainage plan, the scheme may increase flood risk, 
contrary to Policies CS6 and DM19. SuDS and sewer upgrades must be certain to prevent harm. 

• Housing Objectives: While providing new homes (including affordable) is a benefit, it does not 
outweigh the above harms. The proposal bypasses the plan-led approach and fails to demonstrate 
a sympathetic density or mix per Policies DM11 and CS9. 

Page 196

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



13 

 

• Impact on the Racehorse industry. The proposal would have a serious adverse impact on the 
operation of the local racehorse training industry. 

 

12.2 In conclusion, the adverse impacts of this development significantly and demonstrably outweigh its 
benefits, even under the most housing-favourable planning balance. Moreover, protected Green Belt 
policies provide a clear refusal reason independently. Approving this application would conflict with 
numerous development plan policies and the NPPF and would set an unwelcome precedent for Green Belt 
erosion across the Borough. 

12.3 We therefore object in the strongest terms and request that the Planning Committee REFUSE application 
25/00846/OUT. We trust the Council will uphold its adopted policies and the integrity of Epsom and Ewell’s 
Green Belt and countryside by doing so. 

12.4 Thank you for considering our comments. We ask to be kept informed of the progress of this application 
and be notified in advance of any decision made. 

 

 

Carl Thomas MSc____________________________ 
v.3, 18 August 2025 

 

Page 197

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 198



 

100% recycled paper. The Woodland Trust is a charity registered in England and Wales (No. 294344) and in Scotland (No. SC038885). 
A non-profit making company limited by guarantee. Registered in England No. 1982873. 
The Woodland Trust logo is a registered trademark. 

 

 

 

  

  

The Woodland Trust 

Kempton Way 

Grantham 

Lincolnshire 

NG31 6LL 

Telephone 

01476 581111 

Facsimile 

01476 590808 

Website 

woodlandtrust.org.uk 

 

Page 199

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 3



 

 

 

 

 

Page 200

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 3



 

100% recycled paper. The Woodland Trust is a charity registered in England and Wales (No. 294344) and in Scotland (No. SC038885). 
A non-profit making company limited by guarantee. Registered in England No. 1982873. 
The Woodland Trust logo is a registered trademark. 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 
 

  

Page 201

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 202


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	3 Bourne Hall, Spring Street, Ewell, Surrey, KT17 1UF
	4 Bourne Hall, Spring Street, Ewell, Surrey, KT17 1UF
	5 25/00995/FUL The Looe, Reigate Road, Ewell, Surrey
	6 Upcoming Applications
	7 Farm View, Langley Vale Road, Epsom, Surrey, KT18 6AP
	Farm View, Langley Vale Road, Epsom, Surrey, KT18 6AP Appendix 1
	Farm View, Langley Vale Road, Epsom, Surrey, KT18 6AP Appendix 2
	Farm View, Langley Vale Road, Epsom, Surrey, KT18 6AP Appendix 3


